



on Supportive Services for Individuals with Autism

Report to the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Appropriations (H. Rept. 117-9)

Prepared by the National Autism Coordinator National Institute of Mental Health National Institutes of Health

On Behalf of the Office of the Secretary U.S. Department of Health and Human Services





Cover Design

Medical Arts Branch, Office of Research Services, National Institutes of Health

Copyright Information

All material appearing in this Report is in the public domain and may be reproduced or copied. A suggested citation follows.

Suggested Citation

National Autism Coordinator, National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health (on behalf of the Office of the Secretary), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *2022 Report to Congress on Supportive Services for Individuals with Autism*. November 2023. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee website: https://iacc.hhs.gov/publications/report-to-congress/2022/

2022 Report to Congress

on Supportive Services for Individuals with Autism

Report to the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Appropriations (H. Rept. 117-9)

Prepared by the National Autism Coordinator National Institute of Mental Health National Institutes of Health

On Behalf of the Office of the Secretary U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION
Autism Spectrum Disorder.2Legislative Background3
OVERVIEW OF COVERAGE POLICIES FOR SUPPORTIVE SERVICES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM4
RESEARCH ON SUPPORTIVE SERVICES THAT ARE BENEFICIAL TO IMPROVED OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM
CURRENT FEDERAL SUPPORTED SERVICES, PROGRAMS, AND COVERAGE POLICIES
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
Administration for Children and Families (ACF)
Administration for Community Living (ACL)
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ)
HHS Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE)
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)
Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) 45
Indian Health Service (IHS)
National Institutes of Health (NIH)
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)
U.S. Department of Defense (DoD)
U.S. Army
Military Health System (MHS)/TRICARE 51
U.S. Department of Education (ED)
Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP)
Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA)
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)57
U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)
U.S. Department of Labor (DOL)
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT)
U.S. Social Security Administration (SSA)
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)

2022 REPORT TO CONGRESS ON SUPPORTIVE SERVICES FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH AUTISM

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Pathways to Coverage of Services for People with Autism
Federally Funded Programs and Research on Services for People with Autism
Ongoing Areas of Need
Family Navigation
Consistency of Coverage
Workforce Shortages
Diagnostic Services
Waitlists for Services 78
The Services Cliff
Services for Older Adults
Racial, Ethnic, and Geographic Disparities79
Impacts of COVID-19
Conclusion
REFERENCES
Office of National Autism Coordination Staff



INTRODUCTION



AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a developmental disability (DD) identified in 1 in 44 children¹ and approximately 2 percent of adults.² Autism contributes to differences in areas including social interaction and communication, executive functioning, sensory processing, and motor coordination. These differences can impact social relationships and other aspects of daily living. Each individual on the autism spectrum has a distinct and unique set of strengths and difficulties and may need varying levels of support in different areas. For example, some individuals on the autism spectrum have accompanying language and/ or intellectual disabilities (ID) or other co-occurring physical or mental health conditions that may result in additional challenges and require specialized supports across the lifespan. Data from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s Autism and **Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network** indicate that 35 percent to 52 percent of children on the autism spectrum have co-occurring ID.1,3

Autism is a lifelong disability and an individual can be affected in varying ways throughout the life course resulting in different needs at different stages of life. The combination and degree of ASD-related challenges and co-occurring physical and mental health conditions can also differ greatly from one individual to another, creating support needs for autistic individuals that can range from modest to very intensive. A wide variety of services and supports are available to help maximize health and well-being among children and adults on the autism spectrum, many of which are provided under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) through age 21 (depending on state law), or the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, & Treatment (EPSDT) benefit for children under age 21 enrolled in Medicaid, or funded by Medicaid's Home and Community-Based Services (HCBS) state plan and waiver programs. Some individuals with intensive needs receive long-term services and supports (LTSS) through Intermediate Care Facilities for Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities (ICF/IID), though where possible, individuals with intensive needs can receive LTSS through the HCBS program and live in home and community-based settings. Additionally, some disability services are available through managed-care or at no cost through federal, state, and local programs. However, the availability, scope, and duration of supports varies by state, and some types of supportive services may not be reimbursable. Families and individuals often require assistance in connecting to additional specialists and resources and may pay for certain supportive services out of pocket, adding additional financial strain. In many cases, individuals and families cannot afford to pay, and go without needed services. This exacerbates already significant health equity issues and disparities in the provision of quality services. The result is a "patchwork" system where families and individuals must identify available services and navigate multiple sources and sets of requirements to access services, making it challenging to access and maintain connection to the specific services and supports that they need.

Autism continues to be a top national health priority, and enhanced and expanded service options, healthcare coverage, equitable access, and systems navigation support are important areas of need and opportunity in the effort to provide a robust system of supportive services for autistic individuals and their families. Federal agencies, private research and services organizations, advocacy groups, academia, state and local agencies, and other entities engage in collaborative efforts to improve relevant services and support systems and advance the evidence base on the benefits of interventions and services. This report describes the supportive services that are beneficial to improved outcomes for people with autism and reviews existing coverage policies for these services.

Please note: The terms "individuals with autism," "individuals with ASD," "autistic individuals," and "individuals on the autism spectrum" are used interchangeably throughout this document. Some members of the autism community prefer one term, while others prefer another. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) respects the different opinions within the community on the use of this language and does not intend to endorse any particular preference. In addition, the terms "autism" and "autism spectrum disorder (ASD)" are used interchangeably throughout this document unless otherwise noted. In cases where the specific DSM-5-TR defined diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is discussed, that term is used.

LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND

This 2022 Report to Congress on Supportive Services for Individuals with Autism describes supportive services and resources for individuals on the autism spectrum and their families. A summary of the research evidence base on the benefits of these services is also provided, and existing coverage policies are reviewed.

In its **report** on the fiscal year (FY) 2022 appropriations for HHS, the House Committee on Appropriations stated the following:

"The Committee is aware that treatment regimens and care plans for autism will continue throughout the life of the patient and that clinicians often spend additional time on patient care by providing supportive services or helping caregivers connect with additional specialists and resources. These additional services are not typically reimbursable. The Committee directs the Secretary to identify the supportive services that are most beneficial to improved outcomes for autism patients, review existing coverage policies for these services, and provide a report on its interim findings no later than 180 days after the date of enactment of this Act." (House Report 117-96, Page 233) As the scope of supportive services for people with autism and related conditions and disabilities is very broad, federal activities related to supportive services are conducted by multiple federal departments and agencies. This report was coordinated by the National Autism Coordinator (NAC), National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), National Institutes of Health (NIH), on behalf of the Office of the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), with input from the Federal Interagency Workgroup on Autism (FIWA), the support of the NIMH Office of Autism Research Coordination (OARC) and the Office of National Autism Coordination (ONAC), and in collaboration with federal agencies and offices within HHS, as well as the U.S. Departments of Defense, Education, Housing and Urban Development, Justice, Labor, Transportation, and Veterans Affairs, and the Social Security Administration. All departments, agencies, divisions, and offices contributing to this report conduct activities related to individuals with ASD and/or target intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD) more broadly while including ASD as a significant focus. Information for FY 2022 may not be complete, as this report was in preparation during FY 2022.



OVERVIEW OF COVERAGE POLICIES FOR SUPPORTIVE SERVICES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM



There are a range of supportive services in different areas that can enhance quality of life for individuals on the autism spectrum. Across the lifespan, many services are funded by Medicaid's HCBS benefit. However, individuals may require additional supports in various areas, and alternate sources of support are needed for those who do not qualify or receive HCBS. It is estimated that the lifetime cost for an individual with autism without ID in the United States is \$1.4 million, rising to \$2.4 million for an individual with co-occurring ID.⁷ Approximately 79 percent of these costs are incurred by needed services, including non-medical services. As only some of these costs may be covered by federal benefits, private health insurance, and/or free government or communitybased programs, there remains an obvious unmet need for ways to provide or support adequate, accessible, and cost-effective services to alleviate some of the financial and navigation strain on autistic individuals and their families.

While autism is a spectrum with various functional needs across individuals, all individuals who meet diagnostic criteria for ASD must have "clinically significant impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of current functioning."4 Although the need for supportive services is clear, these supports may vary from situational to comprehensive, and there is not always a clear pathway to ensuring that all of an individual's support needs are met. This is in part due to the fact that autism can impact many different domains of functioning to different degrees, resulting in wide variation in the health and service needs from one individual on the autism spectrum to another. Some individuals may need few services and supports at different stages of their lives, while others may need many intensive services and supports throughout their lives. Thus, there is no single approach to service delivery that will satisfy the needs of all individuals on the spectrum. Supportive services may be obtained through a variety of sources: government-funded health insurance; private health insurance; out of pocket; federal, state, and local services programs; or grants and foundations. In some cases, services are offered based on functional needs, rather than clinical diagnosis. The types of evidence that are required for coverage may vary from

one payor or service provider to the next. Individuals with autism and their caregivers often put a great deal of time and effort into piecing together a "patchwork" of supportive services through many different payors and providers in order to obtain adequate services and supports to address different areas of need. Even with this effort, needed services and supports can be lacking or missed due to unaffordability, unavailability, lack of knowledge about the services available, or the complexity of access. They often require assistance in connecting to additional specialists and resources and may pay for certain supportive services out of pocket, causing financial strain, or forgo needed services due to unaffordability or inaccessibility, exacerbating already significant health equity issues.

Adding to the complexity of supportive service needs is the fact that an autistic individual's service needs are likely to vary and evolve at different points across the lifespan. Service providers, health professionals, educators, and direct support staff continually change across the lifetimes of people on the autism spectrum.⁵ Some services are targeted to young children, some to adolescents, some to adults, and some are relevant to all age groups. In addition, there are consequential changes in the expectations and legal responsibilities from childhood to adulthood that impact the types and focus of supports at different life stages.

In the United States, children with disabilities such as autism receive support from and are dependent on caregivers and systems of care that support their learning, such as the educational system. The IDEA, amended in 2004 as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act, requires the provision of a free appropriate public education to all eligible children with disabilities ages 3-21 (depending on state law); the provision of early intervention services to eligible infants and toddlers with disabilities from birth to age 3 (or older depending on state law); and, in part, enables access to healthcare, nutritional, safety, and educational services, providing a core source of support across all communities. The role of supportive services for autism and other DD in childhood focuses on identifying and addressing challenges and building skills across key developmental domains, such as communication and learning. Early intervention services such as speech/language therapy and behavioral interventions can help infants and toddlers with disabilities learn motor, social, communication, and daily living skills. Research has shown that these types of services can greatly benefit a child's development.⁶⁻¹⁴ These services are critical, as earlier intervention has been associated with better outcomes later in life.^{15,16}

Under **IDEA** Part C, young children do not need a diagnosis of autism to begin receiving federally mandated services for related developmental issues such as speech delay and other communication and behavioral difficulties. Children with disabilities who meet the eligibility criteria qualify for special education and related services provided through the IDEA, which includes individualized services for ASD. Medicaid is required to provide ASD-related coverage for certain services and are available to the public if they meet eligibility criteria.^{17,18}

Some states offer Medicaid waiver programs, enabling states to waive the standard rules that apply to the Medicaid program to expand coverage or improve care for a target population. However, states differ in eligibility criteria for the waivers, how many people can enroll, and what services the waivers cover.¹⁹ Some states' Medicaid HCBS waivers provide services to eligible children with ASD or DD regardless of family income and in home and community-based settings rather than in institutional or other isolated settings.^{20,21,22} Research indicates that having choices in the selection of services and service providers, as well as control over the day-to-day provision of services, strengthens the impact of the waiver services for both children and their families.²³

As ASD affects individuals across the lifespan, many individuals on the autism spectrum receive supportive services as children and continue to need services through adolescence and adulthood.²⁴ As autistic individuals age into adulthood, a frequently noted disparity is the lower availability and access to supports and services compared to those for younger children and adolescents with autism.²⁵ Approximately 50,000 youth with ASD leave high school each year in the United States.²⁶ Needs for services such as speech/language therapy, one-toone support, occupational therapy, medication management, and social skills training often go unmet following an exit from the educational system, as IDEA no longer applies after high school graduation or when an individual reaches the age of 22. The drop-off in services is typically referred to as the "services cliff." Studies suggest that this dropoff in services may in fact begin to be experienced even before exiting high school, particularly for autistic individuals without co-occurring ID.²⁷ Research has found that individuals who were active users of services under IDEA receive far fewer services in adulthood, suggesting that many who may continue to need services in adulthood are not receiving them.^{28,29,30} Furthermore, studies indicate that Individualized Education Program (IEPs) for students with ASD in their final year of school may not be consistently meeting the standards outlined by law or best practice recommendations necessary for successful transition from high school to adulthood.²¹⁻²³

Transition to adulthood has a number of implications for individuals with disabilities who may have continuing needs for support in adulthood. After exiting the school system, individuals may receive government-funded health and financial support and assistance through Medicaid and/or Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI), but there may be a considerable lag in access to services resulting from re-evaluation of eligibility for Medicaid at age 18 or loss of health insurance coverage under a parent's health insurance policy at age 26.³¹ In addition, in the United States, 18 years of age is the age of majority, or legal adulthood, where a significant change in rights and responsibilities goes into effect, unless a person is deemed incapable of making sound self-care decisions through a legal process. This transition is a significant change where individuals are expected to become self-supporting and to be increasingly responsible for their own housing, safety, self-care, vocational, and other adult needs. Accordingly, the focus shifts from building skills and learning to the logistics of having a safe place to live and, ideally, an advanced education and vocational path along with

opportunities for an engaged, healthy adult life. Individuals and families experience a divergence in what the future paths and support needs may be, and there is no longer a core source or highly-coordinated governmental system of supports such as was provided to individuals from birth through age 21. In addition, families have to transition from full-time care of a child to a new phase, which can involve facilitating growth towards adult activities and independence, and in some cases, this also means planning for lifelong supports, care, and succession planning. These dynamics add to the increasingly complicated efforts needed to navigate whatever services may be available from federal, state, and local sources. Many adult services are embedded into systems geared towards individuals with significant ID or are based on disability as defined by employment criteria. Many adults with autism, particularly those without ID, do not meet eligibility for the supports they may need to engage in employment or to support independence and daily living skills.

The adult service system is premised upon eligibility for services, usually due to significant functional or vocational limitations. Adults with autism and other DD become part of a larger "disability" community that also includes people with acquired disability due to injury, health conditions, or aging. The larger "disability" umbrella includes up to 26 percent of adults. Thus, adults with autism face service systems that are under increased demands and may have difficulty finding providers with experience in working with autistic individuals. Adults with autism who qualify for SSI may continue to receive Medicaid coverage. Medicaid also covers LTSS, including institutional care in nursing facilities and, in some cases, non-specialized placements for people with disabilities. In the past, Medicaid coverage was generally limited to those who needed institutional care in nursing facilities, but Medicaid HCBS allows beneficiaries to receive the care they need in their homes and communities. Beyond healthcare, many adults with ASD face challenges and barriers to accessing additional services, in areas such as employment and housing. Medicaid HCBS can help

adults with ASD access these services by providing certain non-medical services, such as supported employment services and case management services that can help make connections to other supportive services (e.g., housing and food supports).

Depending on state policies, autistic adults who need services and supports may not be able to access them. While HCBS through the home health benefit are mandatory, additional Medicaid HCBS often depend on optional HCBS authorities such as 1915(c) waivers that require people to meet an institutional level of care. HCBS waivers allow states to limit how many people receive services, and limited waiver slots in states can also be a barrier to access. While not a true measure of unmet need as not all states screen for Medicaid eligibility prior to adding people to waiting lists, in 2021, 656,000 people across the United States were waiting for an available waiver slot. Different eligibility criteria and administrative procedures make accessing these services and supports challenging. Recent legislation has been passed in some states to decrease waiting times, but autistic adults and their caregivers continue to report unmet needs around functional skills training, employment or vocational services, housing supports, and mental and behavioral health services while waiting for HCBS.³²

The 2016-2017 Interagency Autism Coordination Committee (IACC) Strategic Plan for Autism Spectrum

Disorder includes services and supports as a top priority: "Develop and implement high-quality, evidence-based, and widely accessible services and supports that maximize quality of life and health across the lifespan for all people on the autism spectrum and their families." The scope and range of needed services is broad, and this report details the key types of ASD supportive services that may or may not be included in current coverage policies or through a variety of federal, state, and local programs. Through improved coverage, availability, and access, the opportunity to obtain high-quality services and supports will help to improve the health and well-being of individuals on the autism spectrum across the lifespan.



RESEARCH ON SUPPORTIVE SERVICES THAT ARE BENEFICIAL TO IMPROVED OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM



The combination and degree of characteristics can differ greatly from one autistic individual to another, resulting in a diverse array of service needs within the autism community. The following is a list of examples of the many kinds of services and supports that are accessed by individuals with autism and their families. Some services are related to health while others are related to other aspects of well-being. References are provided regarding the current evidence base in support of beneficial outcomes for each service type. Some of these services have a strong evidence base supporting their use. In contrast, other service types are newly emerging and may have little supportive evidence currently available. Some of these services are covered under health insurance programs or other federal or state benefits; some are provided at low or no cost by federal, state, and local programs; and some are not covered by health insurance or federal or state benefits and can only be accessed by paying out of pocket. Services are listed by type, but it is important to note that there are many variations in approach, intensity, duration, and setting for each type of service.³³

- Diagnostic services
- Applied behavior analysis (ABA) and other behavioral interventions
- Speech/language therapy and augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) supports
- Assistive technology, specialized medical equipment, and associated services and training
- Technology-based, robot-assisted, and artificial intelligence interventions
- Physical therapy
- Occupational therapy and sensory integration therapy
- Academic services and supports
- Mental and behavioral health services and supports
- Self- and family-directed services and supports
- Family/systems navigation
- Caregiver-, family-, and peer-mediated interventions
- Family and caregiver supports

- Support, social, and community groups
- Peer-to-peer mentoring and autistic-led support groups
- Caregiver supports and respite care
- In-home caregivers, aides, and nursing care
- Dietary and nutritional support
- Therapies for sleep disorders
- Environmental assessment and modifications
- Transportation vehicle modifications
- Empowerment, education, and advocacy training and services
- Healthcare transition (HCT) services
- Employment services, vocational rehabilitation services, job coaching
- Housing support services
- Remote services
- Recreational therapies
- Complementary and alternative interventions (e.g., music, animal-assisted, emotion regulation, and mindfulness therapies)

Diagnostic services

Timely delivery of **diagnostic services** is essential for linking individuals on the autism spectrum with needed interventions, services, and supports that improve outcomes in social and communication domains.³⁴⁻³⁷ Individuals who may be on the autism spectrum are typically referred for a diagnostic assessment, which is typically conducted through a structured parent interview using instruments such as the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) and a clinician assessment of the individuals using the activity-based Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule-Second Edition (ADOS-2).³⁸ However, long waitlists for diagnostic services have contributed to a two-year difference between the earliest signs of ASD and the average age of diagnosis,³⁹ with minoritized populations waiting even longer to be evaluated due to inequities in availability of health services.⁴⁰ CDC surveillance data shows improvements in earlier diagnosis of young children in recent years, though

ASD identification still varies based on race and ethnicity, geographical location, and the presence of co-occurring ID.^{41,42} The recent development of telehealth tools such as the TELE-ASD-PEDS has enabled remote diagnostic evaluation of children with signs of autism.⁴³ Such tools have been shown to be acceptable for both parents and practitioners,⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ and may lead to further improvements in early and timely diagnosis for children with ASD.

For adults, the ADOS-2 is the standard instrument used for diagnosis of ASD. However, limited knowledge is available on the manifestations of autism in adults, and misdiagnosis is common due to a lack of standardized diagnostic criteria for adults with suspected ASD and lack of access to early medical records and developmental history that inform ASD diagnosis.^{47,48} Additionally, there is a lack of providers who are trained in diagnosing ASD in adults, resulting in even longer delays.⁴⁸ Additional research is needed to improve our understanding of how compensatory strategies, masking, and/or camouflaging of autistic traits may affect clinical presentation and diagnosis.49,50 Improvements to diagnostic tools and services for both children and adults will help to ensure that all individuals on the autism spectrum can access services and supports that improve health and well-being.

Applied Behavior Analysis and Other Behavioral Interventions

Applied behavior analysis (ABA) and other behavioral interventions can be helpful in addressing emotional and behavioral issues in autism. ABA and therapies based on its principles are the most commonly researched and practiced behavioral intervention for autism.⁵¹ Current ABA practices include the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM), Discrete Trial Training (DTT), Pivotal Response Treatment (PRT), and Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention (EIBI). The basic premise of these methods is positive reinforcement of desired behaviors to develop necessary skills and reduce undesirable or harmful behaviors, such as self-injurious behaviors. A meta-analysis of ABA studies showed that ABA resulted in significant improvements in socialization, communication, and expressive language.52-55 Naturalistic Developmental Behavioral Interventions (NDBIs) are based on ABA

principles but use a strengths-based model to teach skills in a naturalistic environment, such as during play or other daily activities, with natural rewards.⁵⁶ Research indicates that NDBIs can help to support social communication, language, and play skills development.⁵⁷ Relationship Development Intervention (RDI) is a behavioral intervention that focuses on building social and emotional skills, with primary caregivers trained as the primary therapist. Further research on RDI is needed, but one study indicates beneficial outcomes.58 Another relationshipbased behavioral intervention is Floortime, in which therapists and parents engage children through the activities each child enjoys. Research has shown benefits of Floortime for emotional development in children with autism.59,60 These interventions are sometimes covered by insurance.

Speech/Language Therapy and Augmentative and Alternative Communication Supports

Spoken language can be a significant barrier to communication for individuals on the autism spectrum.61-63 Speech-language therapy can help people with ASD improve their abilities to communicate and interact with others.⁶⁴ This type of therapy focuses on verbal skills, such as correctly naming people and things, and better explaining feelings and emotions. Speech-language therapy can also teach nonverbal communication skills, such as using sign language or picture symbols to communicate (Picture Exchange Communication Systems, or PECS). A randomized controlled trial from 2012 found that speech and language therapy in a sample of school-aged children with and without autism had the greatest benefit for learning pragmatic skills, such as conversational ability, classroom learning, and social communication.65 For older children and adolescents with developmental language disorders (which may include those with autism), research indicates that one-on-one intervention with a speech language pathologist can help to improve language skills.⁶⁶ Several states have begun enacting laws that require health insurers to provide coverage for autism-related healthcare services, which includes speech therapy and Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) devices.

AAC supports serve as communication alternatives to speech. Some AAC supports are in the form of communication software applications that can be run on personal devices such as tablets or laptops that help individuals with autism communicate and maintain communication autonomy.⁶⁷ Research studies have demonstrated multiple benefits of using AAC for people with autism, including basic access to communication using nonspeech methods, requesting functions, and increased social communication.⁶⁸⁻⁷¹ Under IDEA, school districts are responsible for providing assistive technology, such as AAC, as described in a child's IEP. Learning to use AAC usually requires some kind of support or training from a professional at first. Medicaid, HCBS waivers, or private health insurance may cover the cost of AAC software, devices, and services for eligible adults with autism. The state Assistive Technology Act program provides information on these programs in each state and other mechanisms for acquiring devices, including cash loans, rent-to-own, or ways to obtain previously owned devices.

Assistive Technology, Specialized Medical Equipment, and Associated Services and Training

Individuals with autism may require **assistive technologies** and/or **specialized medical equipment**. They and their caregivers must receive education, training, and services to learn how to use and operate these devices. Examples of the types of equipment may include: AAC devices (see section on speechlanguage therapy above), epilepsy/seizure monitoring devices, other wearable sensors, Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP) machines to address sleep conditions,^{72,73} technologies that focus on executive function and/or socialization skills, as well as swings and other sensory/motor equipment.

Technology-based, Robot-assisted, and Artificial Intelligence Interventions

Scientific evidence for the effectiveness of technology**based** or technology-enhanced interventions for the autistic population has increased. Telehealth, which has become widespread since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, uses technology such as videoconferencing to allow specialists and care providers to deliver interventions remotely (see also Remote services below).⁷⁴ Extended reality (XR) technology encompasses both virtual and augmented reality, giving users an immersive and interactive environment. Rapid advancements in XR technology over the past few years have led to its application in interventions for individuals on the autism spectrum to improve social communication skills, emotion regulation and control, and daily living skills, with positive results.75-77 Virtual reality and covert audio coaching systems have also helped autistic adults develop and hone work and vocational skills and expand access to employment services.78-81 Robot-assisted technology and artificial intelligence (AI) have also been used in recent years to assist individuals on the autism spectrum with developing learning and social skills.82-87

Physical Therapy

Physical therapy (PT) is often used by people with autism who have pervasive gross motor impairments such as poor visuomotor and bilateral motor coordination, as well as postural impairments in static and dynamic balance.88-91 Impaired motor skills and atypical functional connectivity of the sensorimotor system have also been identified in older adults with autism.⁹² PT includes activities and exercises that build motor skills and improve strength, posture, and balance. Different types of PT that have been shown to be effective for children with autism include dance movement therapy⁹³ and aquatic programs.⁹⁴ Research has also shown that PT can help address gross motor delays in young children with autism.95 Motor, physical activity, and exercise interventions have shown positive outcomes in alleviating social, behavioral, cognitive, and motor impairments in children and adults with autism.96-98

Occupational Therapy and Sensory Integration Therapy

Occupational therapy (OT) and sensory integration **therapy** can help to address the range of challenges experienced by people with ASD, including participation in and performance of activities of daily living, education, work, leisure, and social activities.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁰ For children with autism, OT programs often focus on play skills and learning strategies. OT services for autistic adolescents and adults often involve relevant sensory integration, relationshipbuilding, executive functioning, self-care, and social skills interventions.¹⁰¹ OT services are the secondmost used services by autistic people in the United States, behind speech and language therapy.¹⁰² Sensory integration therapy, a form of OT that helps to improve a person's sensitivities to sensory stimuli that may be overwhelming or cause discomfort, has been shown to be effective in autism and has demonstrated positive outcomes for improving individually generated goals of functioning and participation.^{103,104} OT has also been shown to positively influence dental health visits.¹⁰⁵ Autism-specific training for occupational therapists could help to improve confidence among providers and incorporation of current evidence-based practices (EBPs).¹⁰⁰

Academic Services and Supports

Autistic students have a wide array of **academic services and support** needs at varying levels of schooling, from early childhood programs all the way through post-secondary education. Interim services and supports can start early, when a child is suspected of having a delay or disability and the family is waiting for the local agency responsible for implementing IDEA to determine eligibility. Once a disability is diagnosed, children can continue to receive **individualized services and supports** to meet their needs and fully participate in the full range of activities and services. School-age children can receive services such as speech-language, psychological, physical, and occupational therapies; academic tutoring and peer-mentoring; as well as assistive technologies, in the school setting. **School-based support** can also be provided through schoolwide approaches and frameworks such as **Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports** (**PBIS**) and anti-bullying programs.

Research indicates that the most common special education service received by students with ASD is speech-language therapy.¹⁰⁶ Focus on these skills is vital, as recent studies have found that social communication skills and behaviors as early as kindergarten can predict future school outcomes for ASD students.^{107,108} A recent review on the effectiveness of school-implemented interventions for autistic students from preschool to high school found that EBPs help students gain necessary academic and social communication skills. A combination of focused interventions, such as reinforcement of desired behaviors, discrete trial teaching, and visual supports, were found to be promising.¹⁰⁹ Recent studies, however, find that not all schools fully implement EBPs.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹²

Particularly for older elementary and high school students, executive functioning and self-management are important skills to learn, and research shows the built education environment can play a universal design role in optimizing outcomes for these skills in students.^{113,114} Project-Based Learning (PBL) is an approach that can help prepare students for the workforce by building teamwork and interpersonal skills and allow them to explore their learning and communication styles.¹¹⁵ Autistic students may continue to need academic support as they transition into and navigate through postsecondary education.116-122 A recent analysis found 74 postsecondary institutions that offer autism-specific support across 29 states.¹²³ Expansion of these programs to meet the needs of autistic students at two-year institutions¹²⁴ will help to foster additional opportunities for academic success.

Mental and Behavioral Health Services and Supports

Mental and behavioral health services and supports can help improve the health and well-being of people with ASD. Mental health conditions are common among individuals with ASD.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸ Research has suggested that autistic children experience a greater number of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) in their family and community environments that may later impact their mental and physical health.¹²⁹⁻¹³¹ ACEs include issues such as family divorces, deaths, abuse, neglect, family illness, incarceration, substance use, discrimination, and poverty. Mental and behavioral health supports early in life, traumainformed care, as well as social and family supports and supports provided through social workers, can play a critical role in helping to address ACEs and prevent mental health issues later in life. Such supports are important across the lifespan as well, to address mental and behavioral health challenges that persist or arise during adolescence or adulthood, such as alcohol or substance misuse.

Co-occurring mental health conditions such as anxiety, depression, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are common issues that autistic individuals report as greatly impacting guality of life and thus have been the subject of growing emphasis in the field.132 Access to high quality mental and behavioral health supports to address these needs among autistic individuals is essential. Mental health care for people with ASD can take many forms, including psychotropic medication, psychotherapy, or behavioral management.133-135 Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) is a common approach, which has been shown to be efficacious in autistic people.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ Dialectical behavioral therapy (DBT), which targets emotion dysregulation, is being used to treat eating disorders, suicidality, and self-injurious behavior in autism.140-142

Recent studies have also focused on "masking" or "camouflaging" behaviors in ASD, which include strategies individuals may implement to hide their autistic characteristics. Studies suggest that these behaviors are associated with mental health challenges such as depression, stress, and anxiety.143-148 Studies have also suggested that autistic people are at higher risk of suicide than the general population. Progress is being made in understanding risks for suicide and developing tailored approaches to suicide prevention in autistic individuals.149-152 Work is also being done on ways to foster elements of positive psychology (e.g., resilience, self-compassion, optimism, etc.) among autistic individuals.^{153,154} Additional research efforts are working to bridge the gap between behavioral and mental health through the validation of new tools and instruments. One such validated instrument, called the Assessment for Concerning Behavior (ACB), can help to facilitate symptom recognition by both autistic people and professionals.¹⁵⁵ The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) has published a toolkit to support children with IDD who have experienced trauma.

Research has also focused on the efficacious delivery of mental and behavioral health supports. Autistic people who are not receiving care through the medical home model,^{156,157} and those who have co-occurring ID, are more likely to experience unmet mental health care needs.^{158,159} Project ECHO Autism, an online learning and guided practice model, has shown the potential for community-centered mental health models to increase access to needed services.^{160,161}

Self- and Family-directed Services and Supports

Self- and family-directed services and supports

prioritize participant choice, control, and flexibility. Under this type of model, the individual and/or family is involved in all service planning and decision-making activities, which gives the individual and family greater control over their care.¹⁶² As the availability of services and Medicaid waivers increase, autistic individuals and families are able to coordinate care and be more involved in decision making. For families of adults with DD, research finds that participation in a participant-directed program is associated with fewer unmet service needs, increased satisfaction with services, and improved community functioning.¹⁶³ For families of children with ASD, research demonstrates that families feel empowered and satisfied when allowed to choose their own providers.¹⁶⁴ This is associated with lower parental stress and improved family functioning.¹⁶⁵ Recent evaluation of families of children with ASD receiving Medicaid waiver services found greater involvement in service planning and coordination and delivery of behavioral interventions for their child.¹⁶² Self-directed and person-centered planning is additionally important for adolescents and adults with autism in prioritizing personalized supports and services for transition planning, employment, and community living.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸

Family/Systems Navigation

Families of children with autism and autistic adults often experience challenges in navigating support and service systems. Family/systems navigation is a case management approach that helps families and individuals identify appropriate services and overcome obstacles (e.g., transportation, language, fear, and stigma) to access necessary diagnostic and treatment services and supports.¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷² Disparities are experienced by low-income and racial/ethnic minority individuals and families in access to autism diagnostic and treatment services.173-175 Research has found that children, particularly those from underserved communities, are more likely to receive diagnostic services when their primary care clinic utilized family navigation management.176,177 More broadly, research findings indicate that family and systems navigation services are associated with improved child and family outcomes.178,179

Caregiver-, Family-, and Peer-mediated Interventions

Studies show that **caregiver-, family-, and peermediated interventions** can facilitate social, cognitive, and language development in children on the autism spectrum.¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸³ These interventions can also be cost-effective and reinforce family and peer support. A parent-mediated intervention targeted to joint attention outcomes in toddlers with ASD has shown positive benefits.¹⁸⁴ Mind the Gap (MTG) is an intervention focused on parent engagement that provides education about ASD, service navigation, and other topics relevant to families whose children have a new ASD diagnosis. A recent pilot feasibility study showed promising results for MTG, and a randomized controlled trial is currently underway.¹⁸⁵

Peer-mediated interventions are used to increase social skills in children with autism and have also shown beneficial outcomes.^{186,187} Peer-mediated interventions engage typically developing peers as social models to improve social initiations, responses, and interactions. For example, there is increasing research on effective strategies to teach peers to be communication partners for individuals with DD using AAC.¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰ Future research can further explore how training involving peers and the whole family (including siblings) can be helpful for facilitating the development of skills for children on the autism spectrum.^{191,192}

Family and Caregiver Supports

Family and caregiver supports provide support for the parents and other family caregivers of autistic people or those with high support needs. In focusing on the needs of a family member with high support needs while also balancing other responsibilities, family caregivers can experience stress, burnout, and reduced mental and physical well-being. Family and peer mentoring supports are intended to enhance social support and improve caregiver well-being, but additional research is needed to demonstrate the efficacy of such programs. A review of randomized and cluster randomized controlled trials of peer mentor programs for parents and caregivers suggests that mentorship programs provide neither benefit nor harm. However, those who participate in such programs have indicated that they are valuable.¹⁹³ Peer mentor training programs, such as the Military Spouse Online Autism Relocation Readiness (MilSOARR) mentor training program, have shown promising benefits for caregivers.194,195

Support, Social, and Community Groups

Support, social, and community groups, as well as group therapy can be of great benefit to people with autism and their families. Autistic people experience high rates of loneliness.³¹ Community support groups for autistic people can increase social participation and assist in skill-building in a variety of areas, including leisure, recreation, and activities of daily living. A systematic review of the evidence on social participation for autistic adults found that quality of life is facilitated primarily by social skills groups and other types of support groups.¹⁹⁶ For children with autism, social skills groups have been shown to improve overall social competence and friendship quality.¹⁹⁷

Peer-to-peer Mentoring and Autistic-led Support Groups

Peer-to-peer mentoring and autistic-led peer supports

have also become an increasingly common tool to provide social support, especially in college settings, and emerging research suggests beneficial outcomes.^{198,199} Social support services are also frequently used by caregivers of individuals with autism,²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² where they receive both emotional and informational support.²⁰³ Sibling groups are less common but can be helpful in providing support and teaching skills for engaging with their autistic siblings.²⁰⁴ Research suggests that social networking sites and online groups can provide important social support for individuals with autism and their families, allowing them to communicate and engage with others in a comfortable way, obtain information, and share their experiences with the community.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷

Caregiver Supports and Respite Care

Caregiver supports and respite care provide short term care for a child or adult that grants relief for primary caregivers. Research indicates that caregivers of children with autism may experience impaired mental health, including anxiety and depression,^{208,209} a poorer quality of life and well-being, and higher levels of stress as compared to caregivers of typically developing children.²¹⁰ Respite care services can be beneficial to caregivers of individuals with autism in providing support, a break from parenting demands, and allowing time for the caregiver to care for themselves.

Studies have found that the number of hours of respite care families receive is positively related to improved marital quality, as parents reported reduced stress.^{211,212} In a study of single mothers of children with autism, respite care was also found to be beneficial for maternal outcomes.²¹³ Some parents have reported using acute hospital services to as an entry point to accessing respite care. Barriers to respite care are often at a systems level, as many parents are not knowledgeable about the services available to them. Parents wishing to receive respite care may also face financial barriers and long waiting lists.²¹⁴

In-home Caregivers, Aides, and Nursing Care

There is very little research on autism services provided by **in-home caregivers, health aides,** or **nursing care**. Though many family caregivers provide primary or supplementary care for autistic individuals, a recent study found that most healthcare providers do not meaningfully involve family caregivers as integral components to delivering person-centered care to autistic individuals.²¹⁵ As described above, the use of health aides, nursing staff, etc., to provide respite care can be beneficial to both individuals with autism and their primary caregivers.

Dietary and Nutritional Support

Studies have shown that there is a high prevalence of co-occurring gastrointestinal (GI) issues including chronic abdominal pain, constipation, acid reflux, diarrhea, food allergy, and feeding issues in autism.²¹⁶⁻²²⁰ Feeding disorders, including highly restrictive behaviors known as Avoidant Restrictive Food Intake Disorder (ARFID) or sensory based textural restrictions, are commonly seen and can contribute

2022 REPORT TO CONGRESS ON SUPPORTIVE SERVICES FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH AUTISM

to nutritional deficiencies.²²¹ Children with autism are five times more likely to have mealtime challenges such as extremely narrow food selections, ritualistic eating behaviors (e.g., no foods can touch) and meal-related tantrums.²²²

These conditions may require **dietary and nutritional support**, interventions, and/or dietary supplements (such as vitamins) to help ensure that individuals are getting adequate nutrition.³³⁵ Referral by primary care providers to GI or nutrition specialists may be helpful.²²³ Dietary interventions focused on elimination diets, such as gluten and/or casein-free diets are becoming increasingly popular^{224,225} and have shown modest clinical effect in treating children with ADHD,²²⁶ which shares some features with autism.²²⁷ Further research is needed to evaluate the beneficial effects of dietary interventions for people with autism.

Therapies for Sleep Disorders

Studies show that individuals with autism often report sleep problems, with as many as 80 percent of children²²⁸ and over 50 percent of adults²²⁹ reporting sleep-related issues. These can include symptoms of insomnia and/or circadian sleep-wake rhythm disorders, including difficulty falling asleep, increased sleep onset latency, reduced total sleep time, increased wake after sleep onset, and poor sleep efficiency.²³⁰ Subjective methods such as parent report questionnaires and objective methods such as sleep studies performed at specialized sleep clinics, which use physiological measures, are often required to diagnose sleep problems in individuals with autism.²³¹

Therapies for sleep disorders can range from widely researched behavioral and pharmacological treatments²³²⁻²³⁴ to less researched non-pharmacological interventions (e.g., lifestyle modifications, complementary and alternative medicine), over-thecounter drugs (e.g., antihistamines, melatonin, tryptophan, carnosine, iron, vitamins, and herbal remedies), and nutritional supplements.²³⁵ Identifying the specific sleep problem/disorder first and its underlying cause(s) is critical for treatment planning.²³⁶ Future research around the neurobiological mechanisms that may underlie poor sleep in individuals with autism can help determine the efficacy and long-term effects of various therapies, as well as help improve the guidelines and clinical use of pharmaceutical and non-pharmaceutical approaches for sleep disorders.

Environmental Assessment and Modifications

Perception of sensory stimuli and processing of information coming from the environment can be a problematic issue in autism. This is highlighted by updates to the DSM-5²³⁷ and testimonies of individuals with autism that describe difficulties faced by individuals due to sensory overstimulation or understimulation, and how this can present challenges or limit daily activities.²³⁸⁻²⁴⁰ Environmental assessment and modifications can help to reduce distress and improve quality of life for autistic people. A systemic review on the relationship between autism and the built environment found that three main factors are important to building an autism-friendly space: sensory quality, intelligibility, and predictability/ orientation.²⁴¹ Modifications to the home environment, such as through interior design and installing safety measures, can improve the well-being of children with ASD and reduce stress in their parents.²⁴² Adaptations to the sensory environment in clinical settings have also shown benefits, including soft lighting, displaying movies, and noise reduction during dental procedures.²⁴³

Transportation vehicle Modifications

Currently, research on positive outcomes associated with **transportation vehicle modification** is scarce. It is clear, however, that transitioning from one place to another is often unsafe for autistic people without proper supports. For example, some people with developmental delays may exhibit dangerous behaviors inside a moving vehicle that place others at risk for serious injury, such as escaping child restraints, opening the door in a moving car, or other distractions to the driver.^{244,245} One case study involving parents in Los Angeles County Public Schools revealed that school districts sometimes privatize bus transportation responsibility, but the contracting agencies are not always trained in transporting autistic students or other students with disabilities.²⁴⁶ A Swedish study of over a thousand parents found that students were not being transported according to general safety guidelines, including traveling with unfamiliar drivers and unknown passengers, which could lead to elopement.²⁴⁷ U.S.-based research is needed to determine how many school districts in the country are in compliance with disability transport regulations.

Autistic people often do not receive travel training services, and services to help autistic adults develop driving skills and attain driver's licenses are often unavailable.²⁴⁸ Difficulty with community mobility and driving skills are linked to decreased participation in education, decreased rates of employment, and loneliness and isolation.^{249, 250} Further research that includes the lived experiences of autistic individuals and their caregivers is needed to ensure disability transport competency, develop driver trainings and community mobility skills, and add environmental changes to make transportation for autistic people safer, more inclusive, and more accessible.

Empowerment, Education, and Advocacy Training and Services

The autistic self-advocacy and neurodiversity movement has encouraged and increased conversation around ethical practices for services, policies, and research. **Empowerment, education, and advocacy training and services** can offer enriching community opportunities, leadership training, and volunteerism. Empowerment and advocacy training can help families learn more about autism and share that knowledge with their community.²⁵¹ Programs specifically targeted for parents of autistic individuals have been shown to increase parents' feeling of empowerment, advocacy skills, treatment enrollment for their child and positively benefit child outcomes.²⁵²⁻²⁵⁴ These programs, and the incorporation of culturally grounded approaches, are particularly important and beneficial to minority families, as they may experience increased barriers in access to care and services.²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁷ Advocates maintain that those developing services must engage with the neurodiversity movement and align priorities in order to achieve the best possible outcomes for autistic people.²⁵⁸ Additionally, empowerment of families and individuals with autism is essential for promoting rights-based services.²⁵⁹

Healthcare Transition Services

Healthcare transition (HCT) services can help adolescents and young adults stay connected and engaged in their care as they transfer from pediatric to adult healthcare services. These services promote health insurance retention and encourage independent management of healthcare needs. This is especially important for youth with autism, who may have special healthcare needs^{260,261} and co-occurring psychiatric and medical conditions, such as anxiety/depression, seizures, GI problems, and sleep disturbances.^{262,263} Unfortunately, transition supports are not yet a basic standard of care for all youth,²⁶⁴ and studies indicate that only a small fraction of transition-aged autistic individuals receive HCT services.^{265,266} Research has shown that for youth with ASD, access to HCT services is associated with positive social-emotional functioning, which is critical for other positive life outcomes.²⁶⁷

Employment Services, vocational Rehabilitation Services, Job Coaching

Employment services, vocational rehabilitation services, and job coaching can increase opportunities for employment and improve employment outcomes. National data has shown that many autistic adults are unemployed or underemployed, even when compared to people with other disabilities and in spite of having needed skills and abilities for the workplace.^{268,269} Barriers to higher rates of employment for autistic adults include employer attitudes, access to services, and social communication in the workplace.^{270,271} Some individuals with autism receive employment services through government-supported vocational rehabilitation and/or Medicaid waiver programs that assist people with disabilities to prepare for, find, and keep employment.²⁷² Adults with autism are also eligible for services through **American Job Centers**. Services can also be obtained through private job coaches and placement services.

Best practices in helping autistic adults maintain customized employment involve matching worker skills to the job setting, the job description,²⁷³ and adjustment of continued job coaching as the individual progresses.²⁷⁴ Another promising approach is through **apprenticeships**, which are paid positions that include on-the-job training and mentorship integrated with classroom instruction and usually conclude with the individual earning a nationally recognized credential. Internship programs, such as Project SEARCH, have also been shown to be successful in transitioning people with autism to competitive employment.²⁷⁵ These services are vitally important to teach autistic youth the social and vocational skills necessary to have successful outcomes after leaving the education system.

Housing Support Services

There is currently little research about the effects of different housing options on outcomes and quality of life for people with autism.²⁷⁶ It is clear, however, that there is great need among the autism community for housing support services. The number of young adults living with their aging parents, who may not be able to continue caring for their children in their home, continues to increase.²⁷⁷ A recent survey of parents of autistic adults revealed that support services, including housing, were not accessible, difficult to obtain, and inadequate.²⁷⁸ Autistic people may experience several challenges in independent living, including psychophysical stability and daily living, financial management, and integrated community living and housing.²⁷⁹ More broadly, recent research indicates that individuals with mental, intellectual, or developmental disabilities experience various

barriers in the rental housing market, such as receiving negative responses to requests for reasonable accommodations.

Homelessness among the autistic population is a growing cause for concern. Qualitative research indicates that ACEs, identity masking, and ableism in school settings, are among the factors that contribute to homelessness in the autistic population.²⁸⁰ Barriers to accessing services while homeless include experiences of nervousness with large groups,²⁸¹ a lack of routine and certainty,²⁸² and financial exploitation.283 International studies further identify risk factors of homelessness among the autistic population to include lack of support for co-occurring conditions, lower levels of support for those with less extensive support needs, and loss of employment.²⁸⁴⁻²⁸⁵ Research conducted in other countries further suggest disproportionately high prevalence of those with autistic traits among people experiencing homelessness.²⁸⁶ U.S.-based research is needed to inform our understanding of the incidence of people on the autism spectrum experiencing homelessness and ways to better support these individuals.

Remote Services

Remote services are extremely helpful to those who cannot access in-person services, whether this is due to living in rural areas, restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic, or limitations related to disability. A small but growing evidence base demonstrates the feasibility and value of autism behavioral intervention services delivered via telemedicine.²⁸⁷⁻²⁹¹ ASD diagnosis via telemedicine is also showing preliminary accuracy and clinical utility,²⁹² as is occupational therapy.²⁹³ A systematic review of pre-pandemic remote service utilization found that telehealth has the potential to increase treatment availability, decrease diagnosis waiting times, and aid in neurodevelopmental disability monitoring.²⁹⁴ During the pandemic, caregivers of individuals with DD reported that telemedicine and tele-education were helpful when available and endorsed a need for an augmentation of these remote delivery services.295

Recreational Therapies

Recreational therapies cover the range of therapies that seek to improve the health and well-being of individuals on the autism spectrum through community-based sports and recreation. Research shows that participation in group sports such as soccer, basketball, or tennis can reduce social anxiety and improve social, motor, and communication skills, as well as sleep quality and developmental outcomes.²⁹⁶⁻³⁰² Results for a golf training program show similar gains in social, communication, motor, and regulatory skills.³⁰³ One study also showed that exergaming, or playing video games that require physical activity, is highly enjoyable for individuals on the autism spectrum, and social interaction while gaming may lead to additional increases in the intensity and duration of physical activity.³⁰⁴ Studies are currently underway to test the efficacy of other game-based exercise training programs in promoting the physical and mental well-being of autistic individuals,³⁰⁵ and training programs have been developed to help community coaches engage individuals on the autism spectrum to increase socialization.³⁰⁶ While additional research and larger studies are needed to determine the efficacy of different types of recreational therapies and to improve implementation, community-based sports and recreational activities can be an effective method for improving the overall health and well-being of autistic individuals.

Complementary and Alternative Interventions

There are numerous studies of complementary and alternative interventions for autism, which include animal-assisted, arts (music, art, drama, dance), mindfulness, and yoga therapies. Complementary and alternative approaches have become popular therapies among children and adults on the autism spectrum.^{307,308} Animals as companions, service animals, and animals in therapy (dogs, cats, and equine therapy) can benefit behavioral skills and social communication, reduce separation anxiety, and support access to employment and community living.³⁰⁹⁻³¹³ Music and drama therapy may help children with autism improve their skills in several areas, including speech production, verbal communication, theory of mind, and social interaction.³¹⁴⁻³¹⁶ Recent studies and meta-analyses suggest that mindfulness and yoga are promising interventions for improving the mental health and well-being of people with ASD and their families, but further evidence is needed to determine efficacy.³¹⁷⁻³¹⁹ Acupuncture, a form of Traditional Chinese Medicine,³²⁰ is being explored as an alternative intervention for people with autism^{321,322} but further research is needed to establish beneficial outcomes. Massage therapy is also being used to treat hypersensitivity and reduce anxiety in autism,³²³ as well as sensory-based treatment approaches using weighted blankets and vests.324

Cannabis/medical marijuana is also being increasingly used by people with autism to alleviate conditions such as insomnia, hyperactivity, epilepsy, anxiety, and chronic pain.³²⁵ There are only a few studies to date on this topic, and randomized, blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials are necessary to clarify findings on the effects of cannabis and cannabinoids in individuals with ASD is needed to increase understanding of risks and benefits and the efficacy of cannabis for symptom reduction in autism.³²⁶



CURRENT FEDERALLY SUPPORTED SERVICES, PROGRAMS, AND COVERAGE POLICIES



This report includes information submitted by the U.S. Departments of Health and Human Services, Defense, Education, Housing and Urban Development, Justice, Labor, Transportation, and Veterans Affairs, as well as the Social Security Administration on current federally supported ASD services, programs, and coverage polices. The information submitted by each agency is provided below.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)

ADMINISTRATION FOR CHILDREN AND FAMILIES (ACF)

The **Administration for Children and Families (ACF)** promotes the economic and social well-being of families, children, individuals, and communities. ACF programs aim to:

- Empower families and individuals to increase their economic independence and productivity;
- Encourage strong, healthy, supportive communities to have a positive impact on quality of life and the development of children;
- Improve access to services through planning, reform, and integration;
- Create partnerships with front-line service providers, states, localities, and tribal communities to identify and implement solutions that transcend traditional program boundaries; and
- Address the needs, strengths, and abilities of vulnerable populations including people with DD, refugees, and migrants.

ACF does not currently have programs that are specifically focused on autism; however, ACF funds several offices and projects that support services and inclusion of young children with disabilities, including those with ASD.

The ACF Office of Head Start (OHS) promotes the school readiness of children ages birth to 5 from low-income families by enhancing their cognitive, social, and emotional development. According to the 2021 Head Start (HS) Program Information Report (PIR), 0.67 percent of total HS enrollment were children diagnosed with ASD. These children and their families received HS's comprehensive services in inclusive settings. The OHS Training and Technical Assistance Centers carry out significant work and activities that promote inclusion of children with disabilities, including those with ASD who are served in Early Head Start (EHS) and HS settings. OHS maintains the Head Start Center for Inclusion website, which offers a variety of resources that support early childhood educators to ensure that children with disabilities can participate as full members of their learning communities. OHS also maintains the disabilities services section of the Early Childhood Learning and Knowledge Center website which includes evidence-based resources that promote early identification, referrals, family support services, cross-agency collaboration, and resources related to access and full participation of young children with disabilities in inclusive learning environments.

The ACF Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation (OPRE) studies ACF programs and the populations they serve through rigorous research and evaluation projects. These include evaluations of existing programs, evaluations of innovative approaches to helping low-income children and families, research syntheses, and descriptive and exploratory studies. OPRE is currently conducting the Study of Disability **Services Coordinators and Inclusion in Head Start** (2019 – 2024) that will provide a descriptive national picture of the Disability Services Coordinators workforce for EHS and HS, including American Indian/ Alaska Native (AI/AN; Region XI) and Migrant and Seasonal Head Start (Region XII) grantees. It will also explore practices and policies for working with staff, families, children, and the community. This effort will explore how EHS/HS serves children with disabilities and their families and will seek to understand how EHS/HS collaborates with services in the community, including health providers, Local Education Agencies, and Part C.

OPRE is also conducting the Head Start Family and Child Experiences (FACES; 1997-2022) study to provide descriptive, nationally representative information on preschool-aged children in HS in Regions I-X, and the American Indian and Alaska Native Head Start Family and Child Experiences Survey (AI/AN FACES; 2015-2022), which provides representative information for HS in Region XI, including the characteristics, experiences, and development of children and their families and the characteristics of the HS programs and staff who serve them. This study collects information on whether children have a disability, what type of disability (autism is grouped into the cognitive disability category), whether the children have multiple disabilities, and how many children with a disability have an IEP or Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP). Likewise, the Early Head Start Family and Child Experiences Study (Baby FACES) reports on the percentage of children in EHS programs in Regions I-X that have any special needs, the type of special needs (e.g., developmental disability or delay), and the percentage of children with an IFSP.

The ACF Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) helps eligible new populations immigrating to the United States to maximize their potential, providing people in need with critical resources to assist them in becoming integrated members of American society. Resources disseminated by ORR include ASD-related materials developed by ACF and the CDC (i.e., *Learn the Signs. Act Early.*) to assist families with recognizing and addressing autism-related needs.

ADMINISTRATION FOR COMMUNITY LIVING (ACL)

The Administration for Community Living (ACL) works to increase access to community support systems for older Americans and people with disabilities. ACL was created around the fundamental principle that older adults and people of all ages with disabilities should be able to live where they choose, with the people they choose, and with the ability to participate fully in their communities. ACL funds programs in all states and territories that support individuals with disabilities, including individuals with autism, living in the community.

ACL Programs That Directly Provide or Support Provision of Supportive Services

Developmental Disabilities Council

- State Councils on Developmental Disabilities (SCDDs) are driven by people with ID/DD, families, and other key stakeholders. SCDDs in each state and territory focus on DD that are lifelong, significant and require ongoing support, such as autism. SCDDs create partnerships, collaborations, innovative programs, and equal opportunities to improve the daily lives of people with ID/DD; spark community change by bringing together people and partners to create equity in education, health, employment, and life; empower self-advocates and family leaders, influence law and policy, and educate and protect people with ID/DD; and educate decision-makers using research and lived experiences to improve the lives of people with ID/DD.
- SCDDs are catalysts for positive change. Their work removes barriers and increases opportunities for people with ID/DD so they can:
 - Participate fully and live in the community;
 - Become leaders and self-advocates, creating their own paths and helping others;
 - Access healthcare to live longer, healthier lives;
 - Complete secondary (grades 6-12) and postsecondary (after grade 12) education;
 - Find and succeed in jobs that fit their individual interests and goals;
 - Stay connected and safe during emergencies and disasters; and
 - Enjoy recreational and social activities.

UCEDD

• University Centers for Excellence in Developmental Disabilities Education, Research, and Service (UCEDDs) are a nationwide network of independent but interlinked centers, representing an expansive national resource for addressing issues, finding solutions, and advancing research related to the needs of individuals with DD and their families.

- Four core functions frame the UCEDD program: Interdisciplinary pre-service preparation and continuing education; research, including basic or applied research, evaluation, and public policy analysis; information dissemination; and community services, including direct services, training, technical assistance, and model demonstrations.
- UCEDDs support activities that address a range of issues, from early intervention to supported employment. Additional grants may be awarded to UCEDDs to conduct national training and other initiatives. Current national training initiatives are funded to address supporting people with IDD with co-occurring mental or behavioral health disabilities and community-based transitions.

Protection and Advocacy Systems

 Protection and Advocacy Systems (P&As) empower individuals with disabilities and advocate on their behalf. There are 57 P&As in the United States and its territories, and each is independent of service-providing agencies in their states. P&As are designated by the governor and provide legal advocacy to ensure the personal and civil rights of individuals with disabilities. P&As provide legal support to traditionally unserved or underserved populations to help them navigate the legal system to achieve resolution and encourage systems change. P&As engage in legal advocacy in a wide range of areas, from assisting people in accessing needed healthcare or HCBS, representing students with disabilities and their families in getting needed educational supports, and addressing disability discrimination. P&As ensure that individuals with disabilities are able to exercise their rights to make choices, contribute to society, and live independently. While their focus is most often legal, P&As also engage in a range of other efforts to promote the rights of individuals with disabilities. They often provide information and referrals, as well as training and technical assistance to service providers, state legislators, and other policymakers. They also conduct

self-advocacy training and raise public awareness of legal and social issues affecting individuals with DD and their families.

Independent Living Services

- ACL manages the Centers for Independent Living (CILs) and Independent Living Services (ILS) programs under the Rehabilitation Act, as amended. The CIL program funds 352 awards to communitybased organizations that provide independent living services to individuals with disabilities. The ILS program funds 56 states and territories to sustain, expand, and improve independent living services in each state. Together these programs promote the independent living of individuals with disabilities to maximize the leadership, empowerment, independence, and productivity of individuals with disabilities, and the integration and full inclusion of individuals with disabilities into American society by enhancing consumer control; increasing use of peer support, self-help, and self-determination; ensuring equal access; and supporting individual and system advocacy.
- CILs are designed and operated by individuals with disabilities and provide independent living services for people with disabilities. CILs work to support community living and independence for people with disabilities across the nation based on the belief that all people can live with dignity, make their own choices, and participate fully in society. These programs provide tools, resources, and supports for integrating people with disabilities fully into their communities to promote equal opportunities, self-determination, and respect.
- At a minimum, centers funded by the program are required to provide the following independent living core services: information and referral; independent living skills training; peer counseling; individual and systems advocacy; and services that facilitate transition from nursing homes and other institutions to the community, provide assistance to those at risk of entering institutions, and facilitate transition of youth to postsecondary life.
- Centers also may provide, among other services: psychological counseling, assistance in securing housing or shelter, personal assistance services,

transportation referral and assistance, physical therapy, mobility training, rehabilitation technology, recreation, and other services necessary to improve the ability of individuals with significant disabilities to function independently in the family or community and/or to continue in employment.

Caregiver Services

 ACL has programs to support caregivers, including the National Family Caregiver Support Program and the Lifespan Respite Care Program. ACL also manages the RAISE (Recognize, Assist, Include, Support, and Engage) Family Caregiving Advisory Council (FCAC), which was created under the RAISE Family Caregivers Act of 2018 to advise the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) on effective models of both family caregiving and support to family caregivers. The Act directs the HHS Secretary to convene the FCAC, deliver a report to Congress, and develop a national family caregiving strategy. The FCAC released their first Report to Congress in 2021. The report describes the current landscape of family caregiving and provides 26 recommendations for how the federal government, states, tribes, territories, and communities can partner with the private sector to better support family caregivers. The 2022 National Strategy to Support Family Caregivers was released in September 2022. It identifies more than 500 actions that communities, providers, government, and others can take to better recognize and support family caregivers. The Strategy also addresses four key principles that must be reflected in all efforts to improve the recognition, assistance, and inclusion of family caregivers and those they support.

Empowering Youth with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities to Manage Their Healthcare Transitions

 This five-year grant, started in FY 2021 established a national, person-centered, culturally competent resource center to empower youth with ID/DD in directing their own healthcare transitions from pediatric to adult models of care. The center is working to increase self-determination, independence, and quality of life for youth with ID/DD as they transition into adult models of care. Project activities include a national community of practice, co-led by members of the resource center's Youth Steering Committee, and a mobile app designed for youth with ID/DD to use during healthcare transitions. Anticipated outcomes of this initiative include that youth with ID/DD will lead their medical appointments and interactions with medical professionals; lead their at-home healthcare routines such as medication management; make decisions about their healthcare and wellness next steps, in consultation with providers, family members, and adult guardians; and learn how to proactively manage potential co-occurring health conditions.

Self-Advocacy Resource and Technical Assistance Center (SAR-TAC)

 This five-year grant, started in FY 2021, established a national, person-centered, culturally competent resource that empowers and supports the national self-advocacy movement for people with ID/DD. This center serves as a national resource that further strengthens statewide and local selfadvocacy organizations; creates and disseminates self-advocacy resources; provides leadership development opportunities for people with ID/DD; and strengthens the network of civil rights organizations working on behalf of people with ID/ DD. SAR-TAC is guided by principles of independent living, self-determination, and intersectionality. An advisory committee comprised entirely of people with ID/DD guide the work of SAR-TAC.

Center for Youth voice, Youth Choice (CYvYC)

 CYVYC is a five-year initiative, started in FY 2020, that created a resource center on alternatives to guardianship for youth with ID/DD. CYVYC developed a national coalition of stakeholders that endorse and share information about alternatives to guardianship and conduct research on the policies and practices related to guardianship and its alternatives. The Youth Ambassador program provides support, mentorship, and leadership development to youth with ID/DD who will serve on advisory boards and as resource contacts in their states. An expected outcome of the initiative is that fewer youth are subject to guardianship.

Disability Employment Technical Assistance (TA) Center

 This five-year project was started in FY 2020. The Disability Employment TA Center provides tools and resources to ACL disability-focused grantees so that they may more effectively help individuals with disabilities (including autism) achieve meaningful employment with competitive wages in integrated settings. The Employment TA Center maximizes knowledge transfer across programs by identifying and providing training on innovative, promising, and emerging practices. Expected outcomes include improvements in competitive integrated employment and economic status for individuals with an array of abilities.

National Center to Strengthen the Direct Care Workforce

• This five-year grant will establish a national center to expand and strengthen the direct care workforce across the country. When fully operational, the Center will serve as a hub, providing tools, resources and training to assist state systems and service providers and to support the development and coordination of policies and programs that contribute to a stable, robust direct care workforce. The center's website will share resources from the federal government, highlight state and local model policies and best practices that can be replicated or adapted, and share training and technical assistance materials. In addition, the center will facilitate peer-to-peer sharing of lessons learned and promising practices through learning collaboratives and support collaboration between state systems, including Medicaid, aging, disability, and workforce agencies; service providers; and aging, disability, and labor stakeholders.

National Resource Center for Persons with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities and Co-Occurring Mental Health and Related Conditions

• The grant, awarded in FY 2022 will create a national, person-centered, culturally competent resource center to increases access to supports for individuals with ID/DD and mental and behavioral health conditions, enhance system capacity, and educate

crucial system partners about the strengths and needs of individuals with ID/DD and mental health support needs. The objectives of this project are to create a Center that will provide an opportunity to elevate best practices in policy, clinical, and workforce capacity while improving the engagement of individuals with disabilities and their families in identifying effective treatment and support services. Additional project partners include the Nisonger Center at Ohio State University; the Autistic Self Advocacy Network; Green Mountain Self Advocates; the Sonoran Center; Center for Systemic Therapeutic Assessment, Resources and Treatment (START) Services; and Communication First. Project activities include Hosted Shared Learning Groups through guarterly virtual gatherings focused on individuals with co-occurring ID/DD and mental health disabilities, families, state system leaders, and professionals. Expected outcomes include the development of effective, equitable, understandable, and respectful quality care and services that are responsive to diverse cultural beliefs and practices, preferred languages, and communication strategies (including the use of AAC), health literacy, and other needs, designed to increase self-determination, empowerment, and quality of life for people with co-occurring ID/DD and mental health conditions.

In FY 2022, ACL launched several initiatives to address disability equity issues:

Community Living Equity Center: HHS-2022-ACL-NIDILRR-RTCP-0026

 The Community Living Equity Center is a Rehabilitation Research Training Center (RRTC) to conduct research toward new knowledge and reduction of disparities in community living outcomes among people with disabilities, particularly those in underserved areas/populations, as defined by the Executive Order On Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government. The RRTC will explore and provide detailed information about community living outcome disparities within the population of people with disabilities, across subpopulations defined by race, ethnicity, LGBTQ+ status, or poverty status. New knowledge generated by this Center will ultimately be used toward development and implementation of evidence-based policies, practices, or interventions for achieving more equitable community living outcomes among the heterogeneous population of people with disabilities. The RRTC will serve as a national resource center in this area, and as a resource for the conduct of culturally competent disability and rehabilitation research in the community living and participation domain.

RRTC on Advancing Employment Equity for Multiply Marginalized People with Disabilities: HHS-2022-ACL-NIDILRR-RTEM-0028

 The Rehabilitation Research and Training Center on Advancing Employment Equity for Multiply Marginalized People with Disabilities is an RRTC to conduct research toward new knowledge and reduction of disparities in employment outcomes among people with disabilities, particularly those in underserved areas/populations, as defined by the Executive Order on Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government. The RRTC will explore and provide detailed information about employment outcome disparities within the population of people with disabilities, across subpopulations defined by race, ethnicity, LGBTQ+ status, or poverty status. New knowledge generated by this Center will ultimately be used toward development and implementation of evidence-based policies, practices, or interventions for achieving more equitable employment outcomes among the heterogeneous population of people with disabilities. The RRTC will serve as a national resource center in this area and as a resource for the conduct of culturally competent disability and rehabilitation research in the employment domain.

RRTC on Equity in Health and Functioning for Adults with Physical, Cognitive, Sensory, and Developmental Disabilities from Marginalized Communities: HHS-2022-ACL-NIDILRR-RTHF-0029

• This Equity Center is for an RRTC to conduct research toward new knowledge and reduction of disparities in health and function outcomes among people with disabilities, particularly those in underserved areas/populations, as defined by the Executive Order on Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government. The RRTC will explore and provide detailed information about health and function outcome disparities within the population of people with disabilities, across subpopulations defined by race, ethnicity, LGBTQ+ status, or poverty status. New knowledge generated by this Center will ultimately be used toward development and implementation of evidence-based policies, practices, or interventions for achieving more equitable health and function outcomes among the heterogeneous population of people with disabilities. The RRTC will serve as a national resource center in this area and as a resource for the conduct of culturally competent disability and rehabilitation research in the health and function domain.

National Center on Disability, Equity, and Intersectionality: HHS-2022-ACL-AOD-NCDE-0083

 This five-year grant will create and maintain a national resource center on disability, equity, and intersectionality to build the capacity of our communities across the nation to be more inclusive and culturally competent towards individuals with disabilities. The Center will increase knowledge and awareness of systemic ableism, racism, and other forms of discrimination experienced by individuals with disabilities, including those with marginalized identities. The Center's primary focus will be addressing systemic ableism, racism, and other forms of discrimination with a concentrated effort around health equity and other topics identified by the grantee. The Center will focus on resources to increase equitable access for people with marginalized identities by: supporting forums

for cross-cultural and cross-disability exchanges that will advance a culturally competent disability framework; translating research into action and disseminating information using multiple methods; developing tools, such as an organizational self-assessment tool, and supporting communities of practices for transforming systems and organizations; and building the next generation and future leaders of this work through engagement with youth with disabilities. The audience for the Center will include individuals with disabilities, their families, others in their support system, the DD network, independent living programs, youth with disabilities, providers, and systems of services and supports.

State Support Services, Programs, and Coverage Policies

ACL partners with all states and territories to support programs for individuals with disabilities, including individuals with autism. For this report, ACL gathered information on supportive services from their grantees. Below are examples from several states of the types of services and program activities funded by ACL that provide supportive services of benefit to individuals with autism.

MARYLAND

- Autism Stakeholder Group on Autism Related Needs: Maryland passed a law in 2021 that established a high-level position within state government the State Coordinator for Autism Strategy. The position reports directly to the Governor's Office of Community Initiatives and leads the Stakeholder Group on Autism Related Needs. The Maryland Developmental Disabilities Council is a named member of the Group. The legislation requires the development of a strategic plan that specifies performance measures, including any national benchmarks, for monitoring and evaluating success in addressing autism-related needs in the State including, at a minimum, the following:
 - reducing the unemployment and underemployment rates of people with autism;

- improving postsecondary transition services and graduation rates;
- increasing degree-granting college admission and participation and postsecondary vocational internships and apprenticeships leading to licensure;
- increasing the availability of safe, affordable, and accessible housing;
- identifying and reducing the negative physical and mental health outcomes of people with autism, including: (i) identifying and improving caregiver and family support and respite services; (ii) evaluating need and implementation strategies for the adult autism waiver; (iii) reducing wait times for the Autism Waiver Registry; (iv) promoting social inclusion and understanding for people with autism; and (v) ensuring equitable access to diagnostic and therapeutic support services in rural areas and for underserved populations; and
- evaluating the need for and making recommendations regarding training programs for law enforcement, criminal justice professionals, or other first responders that address the effective recognition of and response to the needs of individuals with autism and their caregivers.

vIRGINIA

• The virginia Commonwealth University Autism Center for Excellence provides a plethora of resources, information, training, research and technical assistance. It is an invaluable resource for both professionals and parents. Having such a resource can help bridge a number of gaps in assessments and services.

NEW YORK

New York is providing assistance to individuals and families through several means:

- The University of Rochester, Strong Center for Developmental Disabilities, UCEDD/Leadership Education and in Neurodevelopmental and Other Related Disabilities (LEND) program is supporting several projects and programs, including:
 - Project Title: Clinical ECHO Autism

- Need: Primary care providers report that they need more education and support to assess and manage children and youth with ASD and related disabilities in the medical home setting. Families trust their primary care providers and would like improved access to care that is disorder-specific in their home communities.
- The ECHO model uses tele-mentoring to promote identification and management of youth with ASD and related conditions in the primary care setting. The use of case-based learning and brief didactics builds a learning community led by a special Hub team at the University of Rochester (Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, psychology, family member, social worker, nutrition, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner) with participating Spoke teams (doctors, nurse practitioners, integrated behavioral health providers) in primary care practice. By enhancing the quality of care in the medical home, children and youth with ASD and families will benefit from improved medical and behavioral health services and access to care in their communities. The ECHO model is widely used to enhance care in rural and other areas with limited specialty access.
- Unique Features: This ECHO will recruit practices from all of upstate and western New York and will encourage participation of care teams that include doctors, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and integrated mental health providers.
- Expected Benefits: Increased knowledge, feelings of competence and quality of screening, referral and medical/behavioral care of individuals with ASD and related conditions.

FLORIDA

- The following project is supported as part of the University of South Florida, Florida Center for Inclusive Communities, UCEDD:
 - Project Title: Achieving Competitive Customized Employment through Specialized Services (ACCESS)

- Need: Only 6-10 percent of adults with ASD obtain competitive employment. To have a meaningful impact on competitive employment rates for adults with ASD, vocational services must improve both employment matching and employment customization.
- Intervention: The customized employment process provides the framework for the Achieving Competitive Customized Employment through Specialized Services (ACCESS) intervention that is to be tested.
- Promising Practice: This process has demonstrated potential to improve employment matching in adults with ASD; however, the model has not been experimentally tested. Additionally, the employment customization component of the process has yet to be applied to adults with ASD and must be adapted to address specific challenges that this population face. An ACCESS intervention promises to improve functional outcomes by improving both employment matching and customization for job seekers with ASD.
- The overall goal is to refine and test an intervention that can be utilized by community-based Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) service practitioners to improve competitive employment outcomes for adults (age 22+) diagnosed with ASD.
- Primary goals are to: 1) Refine training, treatment, and study protocols to test the ACCESS intervention; 2) examine the feasibility and acceptability of ACCESS in an iterative open trial; and 3) examine the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary effects of ACCESS relative to usual care in a randomized controlled pilot trial of 30 adults with ASD.
- Expected Benefits: This research study has the potential to dramatically shift current practice paradigms by informing research and policy decisions and by customizing employment placement strategies to address the specific support needs of adult job seekers with ASD using the platform of an intervention already reimbursed by VR. Given early evidence regarding the promise of customized interventions, ACCESS has the potential to yield far-reaching benefits

for this population and the stakeholders, ultimately maintaining competitive employment outcomes.

NEW MEXICO

- The following project is supported as part of the University of New Mexico, Center for Development & Disability, UCEDD:
 - Project Title: Improving the Health of New Mexicans Enrolled in Medicaid Through Evidence-Based Interventions
 - Need: Expanding services not covered under existing Medicaid-related contracts.
 - Intervention: Under an agreement with the New Mexico Human Services Department and the Department of Health, the Center receives Medicaid match funds in order to expand services that cannot be covered under existing Medicaid-related contracts. Non-federal funds are matched to expand current training, technical assistance, and services. These services improve the healthcare of Medicaid-enrolled individuals statewide through: 1) training and technical assistance for Medicaid providers in identifying children with DD, including ASD, and in how to use evidence-based and/or best practice interventions; 2) case management or care coordination for specific populations; and 3) outreach and referral.

LOUISIANA

- The following project is supported as part of the University of Louisiana, Human Development Center, UCEDD:
 - Project Title: Louisiana Autism Spectrum and Related Disabilities Project (LASARD)
 - Need: In Louisiana, as in most states, there is a disparity between identified evidence-based practices for students with ASD and related disabilities and implementation in classrooms. This problem is exacerbated by the growing number of students identified with ASD and related disabilities. Educational outcomes for these students are generally less than optimal.

 Intervention: The overall goals of the LASARD Project include improving educational practices and outcomes for students with ASD and related disabilities and to develop statewide capacity to provide high quality programs for these students. The LASARD Project partners with local education agencies throughout the state to provide training and long-term job-embedded coaching in classrooms. Professional development is also provided through face-to-face workshops and webinars. The project builds the capacity of educators and school- and district-based teams to implement evidencebased practices and supports for students with ASD and related disabilities

INDIANA

- The following project is supported as part of the University of Indiana, Institute on Disability and Community, UCEDD:
 - Project Title: Camp Yes And: An Improv Summer Camp
 - Need: Strengthening communication and social skills is critical to increasing economic opportunity for youth with autism. In the United States, more than 50 percent of youth with autism do not participate in post-secondary employment or education. Stronger communication and social skills lead to increased graduation rates and improved post-secondary outcomes among teens on the autism spectrum.^{327,328} However, direct service to youth represents a one-sided approach to solving the problem. Most youth with autism lack cognitive impairments that might prevent them from succeeding in general classroom environments, but fewer than half are included in those classrooms. Many educators do not feel confident in their abilities to teach students on the autism spectrum in general education settings.³²⁹ Moreover, a single educator works with many more teens than can be served directly by a summer camp; each educator that we train has the potential to impact hundreds of teens. This camp enables educators to practice new skills and receive feedback while working hands-on with youth on the autism spectrum.

Research demonstrates that this deep professional learning leads to stronger implementation of new strategies in the classroom.³³⁰

- Intervention: Camp Yes And combines communication and social skills instruction for teens with autism and deep professional learning for general and special educators, speech-language pathologists, school psychologists, counselors, and social workers. The camp utilizes innovative instructional methods derived from improvisational theater ("improv"), a form of drama in which plot, character, and setting are created during the moment of performance. Improv has shown to be effective in strengthening these skills among youth with autism.^{331,332}
- Promising Practice: Camp evaluations have found measurable improvements in teens' social communication skills and significant decreases in their social anxiety. Evaluations also found substantial increases in educators' confidence and skill around supporting students with autism, along with a higher degree of implementation in the classroom and sharing of strategies with colleagues.

GEORGIA

- University of Georgia Community-Based Transition Planning Project (NOTE: This project has now transitioned to an implementation phase.)
 - Background: Nationally and in Georgia, individuals without a disability are twice as likely to have a bachelor's degree or higher and are two to three times more likely to be employed compared to those with a disability. Although an increasing number of students with autism are attending college, many struggle to matriculate, access services, and successfully compete for jobs following graduation.
 - Goal: The University of Georgia's College Transition Partnership Planning Project seeks to increase the proportion of college graduates with ASD who are either employed in careers related to their college majors with wages comparable to other college graduates in their field or are enrolled in a graduate school in their field of choice.

- To accomplish this goal, a partnership will be convened utilizing the Collective Impact framework to develop a comprehensive plan for an innovative, actionable pilot that focuses on providing supports to college students on the autism spectrum, which will result in successful transitions from college to employment or graduate school.
- The transition model for the pilot will be guided by a comprehensive review and analysis of relevant transition services in Georgia using a realist synthesis approach and by the input of students with autism.
- The partnership will reach consensus on the practicality and realistic likelihood that the pilot will be successful and that it will address gaps identified in the Comprehensive Review and Analysis (CRA). The quality of the partnership's design and implementation will be assessed throughout the project using developmental evaluation processes, which will inform the partnership's sustainability plan.
- Objectives:
 - 1. Convene Partnership
 - 2. Conduct Comprehensive Review and Analysis (CRA)
 - 3. Develop Plan for Pilot Implementation
 - 4. Develop Dissemination Plan
 - 5. Project Impact
 - 6. Develop Sustainability Plan
- Outcome: An innovative, practical plan for a pilot project that address problems, remedies, and solutions; identifies future partners; and can be immediately acted upon.
- University of Georgia Community-Based Transition Implementation Project
 - Goal: The goal of the Partnership is to implement the model developed during the Planning year for a sustainable, culturally competent, innovative pilot project focused on providing supports for young autistic adults that result in their successfully transitioning from college to employment or graduate school.

- The objectives include:
 - 1. Continue to utilize the Collective Impact framework to convene and facilitate the Partnership.
 - 2. Guided by the Partnership, implement the plan for a pilot project at Emory University focused on culturally competent services and supports for a diverse group of young autistic adults who are transitioning from college to employment or graduate school.
 - **3.** Conduct a process evaluation of the pilot implementation, identify challenges/barriers encountered, and problem-solve to overcome those challenges/barriers.
 - **4.** Refine/improve the pilot implementation based on evaluative feedback.
 - 5. Evaluate the Partnership and utilize evaluation findings to improve the Partnership.
 - 6. Reach consensus on how the findings from the implementation of the pilot at Emory can be replicated at Georgia State University and the University of Georgia; begin implementation.
 - Conduct a summative evaluation of the pilot implementation to determine success in meeting the project outcomes.
 - 8. Disseminate project findings and products.
 - 9. Develop a plan to sustain the pilot project and the Partnership.
- Expected Benefits: Autistic college graduates secure jobs in their field of choice or are accepted into graduate school. Products include a replication blueprint and short videos.

Cross Departmental Partnership

The **Housing and Services Resource Center** is a partnership led by ACL between HHS and HUD. The Center was created for people who work in the organizations and systems that provide housing resources and homelessness services, behavioral and mental health services, independent living services and other supportive services, and others who are working to help people live successfully and stably in the community (see page 59 for more detail).

AGENCY FOR HEALTHCARE RESEARCH AND QUALITY (AHRQ)

The mission of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) is to produce evidence to make healthcare safer, higher quality, more accessible, equitable, and affordable and to work within HHS and with other partners to make sure that the evidence is understood and used. AHRQ does not receive funds from the Autism Collaboration, Accountability, Research, Education, and Support (CARES) Act of 2019 but does support research to determine the effectiveness and outcomes of interventions for individuals with ASD. This is achieved through funding extramural, investigator-initiated research, promoting the development of practice improvement tools that apply and use the latest scientific evidence into advancing care delivery, and use of data and analytics to evaluate health and healthcare, in line with their mission. Some of these are described below, and further details can be found on the AHRQ website.

- AHRQ's Digital Healthcare Research Program: AHRQ's Digital Healthcare Research Program's mission is to produce and disseminate evidence about how the evolving digital healthcare ecosystem can best advance the quality, safety, and effectiveness of healthcare for patients and their families. The Digital Healthcare Research Program at AHRQ provides foundational research to ensure that digital healthcare systems are designed and implemented in ways that improve quality and safety, while not resulting in excessive burden on physicians and other members of the care team. Current research areas include usability, consumerfocused digital healthcare, clinical decision support, safety, patient-reported outcomes, and
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF): Since 1998, AHRQ has been authorized by the U.S. Congress to convene the Task Force and to provide ongoing scientific, administrative, and dissemination support to the Task Force. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force is an independent, volunteer panel of national experts in prevention and evidence-based medicine. The Task Force

care transitions.
works to improve the health of people nationwide by making evidence-based recommendations about clinical preventive services such as screenings, counseling services, and preventive medications. All recommendations are published on the Task Force's website and/or in a peer-reviewed journal. Task Force members come from the fields of preventive medicine and primary care, including internal medicine, family medicine, pediatrics, behavioral health, obstetrics and gynecology, and nursing. Their recommendations are based on a rigorous review of existing peer-reviewed evidence and are intended to help primary care clinicians and patients decide together whether a preventive service is right for a patient's needs. Each year, the Task Force makes a **report to Congress** that identifies critical evidence gaps in research related to clinical preventive services and recommends priority areas that deserve further examination. More information on these reports is available on the Task Force website.

• The Effective Health Care Program: The Effective Health Care (EHC) Program funds individual researchers, research centers, and academic organizations to work with AHRQ to produce patient-centered outcomes research (PCOR) for clinicians, consumers, and policymakers. PCOR is designed to inform healthcare decisions by providing evidence on the effectiveness, benefits, and harms of different treatment options. The EHC Program reviews and synthesizes published and unpublished scientific evidence, generates new scientific evidence and analytic tools, and translates research findings into useful formats for various audiences. Stakeholders are involved throughout the research process to improve research results and ensure findings are relevant to users' distinct concerns.

Recent research projects that seek to improve the health and well-being of individuals with ASD are described below for the period of FY 2018-2022.

PA-20-072 Stakeholder-Partnered Implementation **Research and Innovation Translation (SPIRIT) Program: vulnerable Populations Cared for by Learning** Health Systems During the COvID-19 Pandemic Grant number: 3K12HS026407-03S1 Institution: University Of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) Summary: As a collaboration among UCLA, Kaiser Permanente Southern California, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, and the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services, the AHRQ-PCORI K12 program, Stakeholder-Partnered Implementation Research and Innovation Translation (SPIRIT), is designed to prepare outstanding postdoctoral scholars for academic research careers focused on rapid and sustainable uptake of new scientific discoveries and innovations that improve the design, delivery, and outcomes of care for chronic diseases at the individual, population, and healthcare system levels. This supplement to the SPIRIT K12 Program leverages existing K12 Scholar projects and expands the specific aims of their ongoing research to develop high-impact new knowledge concerning COVID-19 and the ongoing pandemic.Three current K12 scholars are proposing supplemental work that address health issues that have arisen due to COVID-19. These projects address how different vulnerable populations with healthcare needs, including adults with diabetes, children with ASD, and Veterans with severe mental illness, are managing during the stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluate their experiences with one solution for healthcare provision, telehealth, during stay-at-home orders. PUBLIC HEALTH RELEVANCE: Through mentored research career development of the next generation of interdisciplinary team members, leaders, and innovators in dissemination and implementation science and learning health systems, the SPIRIT K12 Program will advance our knowledge of delivery and implementation strategies for proven interventions in real-world practice and community settings. This supplement to the SPIRIT K12 Program leverages existing K12 Scholar projects and expands the specific aims of their ongoing research to develop high-impact new knowledge concerning COVID-19 and the ongoing pandemic.

Ambulatory Pediatric Safety Learning Lab

Grant number: 5R18 HS026644-04 **Institution:** Boston Children's Hospital Summary: After almost two decades of research and quality improvement, hospitalized children in the United States are safer from healthcare-related harm. The vast-majority of healthcare, however, is provided in the clinic and at home, and few studies in this context have demonstrated how to improve safety. Children are especially vulnerable to preventable harm caused by healthcare for many reasons, including weight-based medication dosing, handoffs between caregivers, and their limited ability to communicate evolving symptoms. At home, two in five children with chronic disease have a medication error. Of these, 3.6 percent are injured due to these errors—the same rate as hospitalized children. Among the 165,000 children with type 1 diabetes (T1D) nationally, 20 percent have poor glycemic control. The leading cause of death before age 30 among individuals with T1D is acute complications (e.g., severe hypoglycemia, diabetic ketoacidosis). One in 68 children have ASD. Of these children, 40 percent take antipsychotic medications, and most are not screened for complications. Management of chronic conditions with families is complex and offers a myriad of opportunities for system failures to occur that can lead to patient harm. We have identified three key opportunities to reduce the two most egregious harms in this setting-medication errors and treatment delays—in two different conditions. The Ambulatory Pediatric Patient Safety Learning Lab aims to: 1. Redesign processes for adjustment of medication dosing based on clinical information gathered by the patient/family to prevent medication errors. (This will be studied in type 1 diabetes) 2. Create processes for patient/family medication monitoring and communication with clinic to prevent adverse drug events. (This will be studied in children with ASD on antipsychotics) 3. Design a workflow to plan for, detect, and prompt management of serious illness among children with chronic conditions at home. (This will be studied in both populations) This learning lab integrates design and systems engineeringin collaboration with Mad*Pow, and University of Wisconsin Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety—with Cincinnati Children's expertise in

patient-centered research and implementation. The overarching goal is to redesign systems of care and coordination between the clinic and home to eliminate harm due to healthcare in these settings. Problem analysis will include ethnography in the home and clinic, interviews, FMEAs, and digital diaries. We will implement all interventions together in the simulated environment and evaluate using a randomized factorial trial. Finally, we will implement in our clinical system with qualitative and quantitative evaluation. The intent is to develop a scalable model which leverages health systems and patient/family strengths to ensure safe healthcare among all children. Upon completion of this proposal, our team is perfectly poised to scale this nationally through the Solutions for Patient Safety (SPS) Network and improve pediatric ambulatory safety across the United States. PUBLIC HEALTH **RELEVANCE:** Management of chronic conditions with families is complex and offers a myriad of opportunities for system failures to occur that can lead to patient harm; such failures can have lethal results. We have identified key opportunities to reduce the two most egregious harms in this setting-medication errors and treatment delays-in children with two model conditions, type 1 diabetes and ASD. In collaboration with Mad*Pow, an award-winning design firm, and University of Wisconsin Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety, we will redesign processes for management of medications and serious illnesses between the clinic and home, and prepare to disseminate nationally through our networks.

Enabling large-scale research on autism spectrum disorders through automated processing of EHR using natural language understanding

Grant number: R21HS024988-01A1 **Institution:** University of Arizona **Summary:** With increasing use of electronic medical records for a variety of patients, a large investment is being made in a resource still vastly underused. Especially in mental health, where problems are highly individualized, requiring personalized intervention, and often accompanied by rich data not easily captured in structured templates, the need for extracting information from free text in existing records for use as large-scale stand-alone datasets or in combination with other data is real. Without scalable and effective

computational approaches to capture this data, much time, effort, and money is used to create limited-use records that instead could be leveraged into precious data sources to inform existing research and lead to new insights, progress, and treatments. Our broad, long-term goal is processing free text in electronic health records (EHR) in mental health. We focus on ASD, a particularly interesting example of both shortcomings and opportunities. ASD's prevalence has increased over the years, and estimates range from 1 in 150 in 2000 to 1 in 68 in 2010. These numbers are based on surveillance using EHR. The increasing prevalence is not well understood, and hypotheses range from changing diagnostic criteria to environmental factors. The lines of inquiry used to find cures are similarly broad and range from brain scans and genetics, resulting in large structured datasets, to highly individualized therapies, resulting in rich but unstructured data. Currently the text information in the electronic records is not being leveraged on a large scale. The proposed project continues our preliminary work and uses a data-driven approach to create human-interpretable models that allow automated extraction of relevant structured data from free text. The DSM is the starting point for identifying features. A database of thousands of records is leveraged to design and test the algorithms. The two specific aims are: 1) design and test natural language processing (NLP) algorithms to detect DSM criteria for ASD in free text in EHR, and 2) demonstrate feasibility and usefulness of the models for large-scale analysis of ASD cases, which is inconceivable today with current approaches. Our methods include analysis of free text in electronic records and end-user annotations to create a large gold standard of instances of DSM criteria for ASD, application of machine learning and rule-based approaches to create human-interpretable models for automated annotation of diagnostic patterns in textual records, and demonstrate usefulness with new research (e.g., Automatically detect ASD vs. no-ASD status for challenging cases; evaluate prevalence of symptoms over time). Through NLP algorithms, this project has the potential to significantly shift away from the current paradigm of attempting to understand ASD by relying on small-scale data from individual interventions and

lack of integration between different data sources, to leveraging information from existing large-scale data sources to propose novel analyses and hypotheses.

Screening for Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children

The USPSTF posted the draft research plan (RP) for public comments in Feb. of 2021. The final research plan was posted June of 2021. The review will look at the following key questions:

- Does screening for ASD in children ages 12 to 36 months improve:
 - a. Access and timing of ASD evaluation, diagnosis, and intervention?
 - **b.** Developmental, functional, and quality of life outcomes?
- 2. What is the accuracy of screening instruments to detect ASD in children ages 12 to 36 months?
- **3.** What are the harms of screening for ASD in children ages 12 to 36 months and their families?
- **4.** Do interventions targeting young children with ASD improve developmental, functional, and quality of life outcomes?
 - a. To what extent is the timing of intervention initiation (by age and in relation to the establishment of an ASD diagnosis) associated with ASD-related outcomes?
- 5. What are the harms of interventions for ASD in young children?

A full explanation of the RP can be found on the **USPSTF website**. The EPC is currently working on the evidence review. Unfortunately, we are not able to share information on when the evidence review will be completed or when we anticipate the draft recommendation statement will be ready for public comment.

Comparative Effectiveness of Therapies for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (PCORTF 13.8) Contract number: 290-15-00003I-5 Summary: Two reports were produced; Interventions Targeting Sensory Challenges in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder - An Update; and Medical Therapies for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder - An Update.

- Interventions Targeting Sensory Challenges in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder -An Update: This report included studies comparing interventions incorporating sensory-focused modalities with alternative treatments or no treatment. Studies had to include at least 10 children with ASD ages 2-12 years. Two investigators independently screened studies and rated risk of bias. We extracted and summarized data qualitatively because of the significant heterogeneity. We also assessed strength of the evidence (SOE). This report identified 24 unique comparative studies (17 newly published studies and 7 studies addressed in our 2011 review of therapies for children with ASD). Studies included 20 randomized controlled trials, 1 nonrandomized trial, and 3 retrospective cohort studies (3 low, 10 moderate, and 11 high risk of bias [ROB]). Populations, intervention approaches, and outcomes assessed varied across studies. Relative to usual care or other interventions, sensory integration-based approaches improved measures related to sensory and motor skills in the short term (3 RCTs with high, moderate, and low ROB and 1 high ROB retrospective cohort study). Environmental enrichment improved nonverbal cognitive skills in treated children compared with standard care in two small randomized controlled trials (low and moderate ROB). Four small randomized controlled trials (2 moderate and 2 high ROB) of auditory integration-based approaches reported mixed results. Studies of music therapy (4 randomized controlled trials—1 low, 2 moderate, and 1 high ROB—and 1 high ROB nonrandomized trial) used different protocols and addressed different outcomes, precluding synthesis. Massage improved ASD symptom severity and sensory challenges versus a waitlist control condition (7 studies, 5 with likely overlapping participants, 3 moderate and 4 high ROB). Additional randomized controlled trials (moderate and high ROB) of interventions with sensory-related components (tactile stimulation exercises, weighted blankets) reported few significant differences between treatment groups.
- Medical Therapies for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder — An Update: To evaluate the comparative effectiveness and safety of medical interventions (defined broadly as interventions involving the administration of external substances to the body or use of external nonbehavioral procedures to treat symptoms of ASD for children with ASD. The report included comparative studies of medical interventions that included at least 10 children with ASD. Two investigators independently screened studies and rated risk of bias. We extracted and summarized data gualitatively given significant heterogeneity. We also assessed strength of the evidence (SOE) and considered cumulative data from eligible studies included in our 2011 review of medical therapies and newly published studies.

HHS OFFICE OF THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR PLANNING AND EVALUATION (ASPE)

The Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) is the principal advisor to the HHS Secretary on policy development and is responsible for major activities in policy coordination, legislation development, strategic planning, policy research, evaluation, and economic analysis. The Office of Behavioral Health, Disability, and Aging Policy (BHDAP) within ASPE focuses on policies and programs that support the independence, productivity, health and well-being, and long-term care needs of people with disabilities, older adults, and people with mental and substance use disorders. The Division of Disability and Aging Policy is responsible for policy and data development, coordination, research, and evaluation of policies and programs focused on the functioning and well-being of persons with disabilities and older adults. The Division is the focal point for crosscutting disability and aging collaboration within HHS and across the federal government. Alzheimer's disease and related dementias and IDD, including ASD, are notable areas of engagement and expertise. Descriptions are provided for some current projects related to autism.

- ASPE initiated development of the Dataset

 on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities,
 a linked dataset which will enable researchers
 to analyze relationships between various
 sociodemographic information, need for home
 and community-based services, service utilization,
 service expenditures, and person-centered out comes prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic
 for individuals with ID/DD.
- ASPE published a brief on **Child and Adolescent Mental Health During COvID-19**, which identifies children with disabilities among the most disproportionately affected by a mental health condition during COVID-19 and describes policy considerations for schools and early childhood service providers.
- ASPE published the report Health Insurance Coverage Among Working Age Adults with Disabilities, which tracked changes in health insurance coverage for this population from 2010-2018. From 2010-11 to 2017-18, the proportion of U.S. adults with disabilities who lacked health insurance coverage for a full year was nearly halved, falling by about 46 percent from 17 percent to 9 percent. There was also an increase of about 14 percent in the proportion of adults with disabilities who had continuous coverage, from about 71 percent to 81 percent. These improvements were concentrated immediately after 2014, when the largest Affordable Care Act (ACA)-driven insurance expansions first took effect. Coverage gains were particularly large for Medicaid, coinciding with the ACA's Medicaid expansion program that took effect in most states starting in 2014. Having coverage for only part of the year, however, remained more than 50 percent more common for adults with disabilities (10 percent in 2017-18) than those without disabilities (6 percent in 2017-18) throughout the study period. The American Rescue Plan of 2021 (ARP) expanded subsidies for Marketplace plans (since extended through 2025 under the Inflation Reduction Act), which has the potential to increase coverage further for adults with disabilities. An estimated 532,000 uninsured adults with disabilities (about 67 percent) now have access to a zero-premium plan after premium tax credits on Healthcare.gov, an increase of 16.8 percentage points from pre-ARP estimates.

CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION (CDC)

CDC Efforts Focused on Autism Spectrum Disorder

CDC data published in 2021 found that about 1 in 44 children aged 8 years in the CDC's **Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network** have ASD.³³³ These data also found, for the first time, no overall difference in the number of Black and Hispanic children identified with ASD compared to White children. In terms of early identification, more children aged 4 years are being evaluated and diagnosed with ASD than in the past.³³⁴ This highlights the importance of CDC's ADDM Network in tracking changes in ASD diagnoses to inform policy and clinical practice. CDC analyses of ADDM Network data also provide updated information on the variability in the community prevalence of ID; recent analyses indicate that 39 percent of children with ID also have ASD.³³⁵

CDC's investments in modernizing ASD surveillance activities are leading to more timely and actionable data to help children and their families.^{336,337} Beginning in surveillance year 2018, the ADDM Network updated its methods for monitoring ASD, which expanded tracking progress in early identification, decreased costs, led to faster reporting, and allowed sites to incorporate additional data sources. ADDM Network sites recently piloted a statewide expansion of ASD monitoring that requires fewer resources and provides the first-ever local data on ASD or other DD to some communities.

CDC continues to maintain and update its **Autism Data visualization platform** that lets users explore available data on the prevalence, demographics, and other characteristics of children with ASD from four major data sources (ADDM Network, Special Education, Medicaid, and National Survey of Children's Health). The website was launched in April 2019 and has garnered over 110,000 page views as of October 2022. This platform provides an easy way to access national, state, and community-specific **data** that can inform programs, policies, and practices to address health disparities and improve the health and well-being of children with ASD. CDC regularly updates a public-facing **list** of all published ASD prevalence studies that provide structured information on the population characteristics, study design, measurement of ASD, and prevalence estimates.

As children with ASD age into adolescence and adulthood, there are gaps in understanding their challenges and needs. In 2020, CDC completed the first-ever follow-up among children with ASD at age 16 years who were previously identified by the ADDM Network at age 8 years to better understand health needs and diagnostic practices in this transition period (publication under review). These results will be shared with healthcare and service providers, educators, researchers, and policymakers to inform equitable allocation of services and support for adolescents with ASD.

CDC's Study to Explore Early Development (SEED)

is a case-control study of children aged 2–5 years with ASD compared to children with other DD, and to children from the general population. It is the largest U.S. study of young children with ASD. SEED helps us learn more about risk factors for ASD and describes the behavioral phenotypes, co-occurring health conditions, and healthcare services and needs of children with ASD or with other developmental disabilities.³³⁸ With the release of **data** from the final phase, data are now available for over 6,000 children, including over 1,800 children with ASD.

SEED data have shown that many children (~60 percent) with ASD who use psychotropic medications have not received behavior therapy, despite recommendations from the American Academy of Pediatrics that behavior therapy should be used as a first-line treatment.³³⁹ SEED data also have been used to examine use of community-based services for preschool-aged children and the importance of having insurance.³⁴⁰ Findings show nearly 40 percent of children are not receiving supportive services; children on public insurance alone (versus public and private) are the least likely to receive community-based behavioral therapy and most likely to receive psychotropic medication. SEED data can inform care and treatment decisions related to use of psychotropic medications,³⁴¹ GI symptoms,³⁴² and behaviors,³⁴³ such as wandering,³⁴⁴ pica,³⁴⁵ and resistance to toilet training.³⁴⁶

In 2020, CDC leveraged SEED infrastructure to collect information on the impact of COVID-19 on services, behaviors, and health during 2020 to help inform public health strategies for young children with and without ASD (aged 5–9 years) and their families during public health emergencies. These data have been used to compare children with ASD to children with other DD and to children from the general population regarding their experiences with disruptions to regular healthcare, developmental services, and IEP/504 plans and IDEA accommodations. Analyses are ongoing for the following topics: changes in daily living skills and behavior problems from before to after the onset of the pandemic; use of telehealth services and parent training for delivering therapies; factors associated with childhood resiliency; response to mitigation strategies and infection; and the impact of COVID on parental mental health.

In FY 2021, CDC completed SEED Teen, a follow-up study of original SEED participants at ages 12-16 years, and reported preliminary data indicating adolescents with autism were 90 percent more likely to have additional mental health or other conditions and three times more likely to have unmet healthcare service needs compared with children in the general population. CDC used lessons learned from SEED Teen to inform the SEED Follow-Up study that was launched in July 2021. Data collected in the SEED Follow-Up study will facilitate analyses on early adult outcomes of individuals with ASD (e.g., health, functioning, and service use and needs) and factors associated with developmental trajectories. Additional components of the SEED Follow-Up study are in-person examination of cognitive abilities of individuals with and without ASD and analysis of existing data and biospecimens from preschool-aged participants and their families.

CDC's *Learn the Signs. Act Early.* (LTSAE) program encourages early, ongoing, and family-engaged developmental monitoring of all children and early identification of developmental delays so that children and their families can receive the services and support they need. CDC's LTSAE program routinely engages early care educators, healthcare providers, and other professionals to support parents in regular developmental monitoring and action on concerns about their child. CDC supports Act Early Ambassadors, now in 47 states, the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Federated States of Micronesia, to promote and integrate early and ongoing developmental monitoring into early childhood systems and programs at the state and local levels, such as childcare, home visiting, and WIC (Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) programs. Over the past year, technical assistance and collaborative learning opportunities were provided to WIC staff from 22 states and one territory; 19 states are promoting CDC's free Milestone Tracker app; and WIC staff from 44 states have participated in training on early development. CDC's LTSAE program also collaborates with the American Academy of Pediatrics to target messaging to pediatric healthcare providers about the importance of developmental monitoring, screening, referral, and follow-up. The LTSAE program develops and promotes training and materials to support healthcare and other providers' roles in assuring these services.

With the addition of Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funds, CDC bolstered the LTSAE program to address challenges to early identification and access to supports for children with autism and other developmental disabilities due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In Fall 2020, CDC, in collaboration with the Association of University Centers on Disabilities, completed a rapid needs assessment across 43 Act Early response state teams to inform strategies to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on early identification of developmental delays within early childhood systems. Most (over 90 percent) of 349 respondents indicated that COVID-19 had highly impacted early identification, 48 percent reported decreases in the number of children served, and up to 66 percent had transitioned to virtual/ remote hybrid delivery service. The 43 Act Early response teams developed and implemented state work plans to increase parent-engaged developmental

monitoring and early action on concerns about children, bolstering early childhood systems and delivery of essential health services. Act Early Ambassadors also promoted and distributed materials and tools to improve resiliency of very young children (birth to age 5) and their families during the COVID-19 pandemic, aligning with CDC's response efforts. With ongoing CARES Act funds in 2022, CDC-funded COVID Act Early Response teams continued to address the gaps and challenges identified in the needs assessment, expanding and evaluating the impact of their efforts to improve early identification and connect children with services and supports during COVID-19.

In FY 2023, CDC will continue to support surveillance, research, and LTSAE activities that help us better understand ASD and how we can best support children and families, including addressing health inequities and supporting children and families in public health emergencies. CDC will also continue contributing to the enhanced understanding of children with ASD as they reach adolescence to inform critical periods in development and transition to adulthood.

Disability and Health

Up to 26 percent of American adults, or up to one in four, have at least one developmental or other disability.³⁴⁷ Disabilities can range from those present from childhood and lasting a lifetime to those that are later onset, possibly temporary, and associated with other health conditions. Disabilities may include difficulty with movement, hearing, seeing, communicating, concentrating, remembering, caring for oneself, or making decisions. The annual healthcare costs associated with disabilities are nearly \$868 billion—over 36 percent of all healthcare expenditures for adults residing in the United States.³⁴⁸ As a group, people with disabilities are much more likely to be physically inactive, to smoke cigarettes, be overweight, have heart disease or diabetes, and are less likely to receive preventive healthcare services.^{349,350} CDC aims to foster access to preventive services so that people with disabilities can live healthy lives.

In alignment with CDC CORE Health Equity goals, CDC aims to increase inclusion of people with disabilities, including ASD, in public health data to better evaluate health disparities, better target health prevention and promotion activities, and to evaluate health and other outcomes. These efforts include increased collaborations to include the HHS Disability Data Standard in public health data collection systems and to enhance the use of administrative and survey data in identifying people with disabilities. CDC is working to ensure people with disabilities are included in ongoing surveillance efforts by developing, testing, and disseminating syndromic surveillance definitions to identify people with disabilities and monitor emerging public health threats. People with disabilities are often disproportionately negatively impacted by disasters, yet disability is frequently underrepresented in data used to guide decisionmaking and resource allocation during public health emergencies.³⁵¹ Absent available demographic information on disability, diagnostic code-based definitions could be used to identify people with disabilities; however, there is no uniform standard for measuring disability using this method. CDC, in collaboration with the Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO) and the CDC's National Syndromic Surveillance Program, is creating diagnostic code-based definitions to identify emergency department visits by people with disabilities. The goal of this project is to build public health capacity to monitor the health and well-being of people with disabilities before, during, and after public health emergencies. This work will have a sustainable impact on national, state, and local response capacity to detect and monitor the health and well-being of people with disabilities during current and future public health emergencies.

National Programs on Health Promotion for People with Disabilities

CDC funds two **National Programs on Health Promotion for People with Disabilities**—the National Center on Health, Physical Activity, and Disability (NCHPAD) and Special Olympics—to work with people with mobility limitations (ML) and ID, respectively. These national organizations support the development, implementation, evaluation, and dissemination of non-research activities aimed at raising knowledge and awareness of the health needs of people with ML and/or ID; developing and disseminating health promotion models, strategies, tools, and health promotion materials; providing training and education to healthcare professionals; and promoting the adoption of healthy behaviors aimed at reducing health disparities for people with ML and ID.

Improving the Health of People with Mobility Limitations

CDC's partnership with NCHPAD primarily focuses on reducing health disparities and improving the health of people with ML by delivering health promotion programs to people with ML and expanding the capacity of healthcare and community-based providers to serve the health needs of people with ML.

NCHPAD developed a comprehensive, evidencebased set of wellness modules that help tailor health promotion programs to the unique needs of people with a range of disability and mobility issues. NCHPAD identified existing evidence-based programs that fit under seven chronic condition focus areas: High Blood Pressure, Type 2 Diabetes, Chronic Heart Disease, Mental Health, Obesity, Asthma & Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, and Physical Inactivity. Seventeen programs that NCHPAD previously adapted have been mapped to these seven chronic condition focus areas. CDC also partners with NCHPAD to promote MENTOR (Mindfulness, Exercise and Nutrition To Optimize Resilience), an initiative created to bridge the gap between healthcare and post-healthcare public health practice for individuals who have recently accessed the healthcare system for treatment related to a new or existing disability, new secondary health condition, or a condition likely to result in a disability. NCHPAD's healthcare-to-wellness national network and the creation of seven specialty (chronic disease) programs partnerships will assist in screening patients with mobility limitations and registering them in NCHPAD's national registry for participation in the online MENTOR program and/or one of the seven specialty programs.

Improving the Health of People with Intellectual Disabilities

Special Olympics provides year-round sports training and athletic competition in a variety of Olympic-type sports for children and adults with ID. CDC funds the Special Olympics Healthy Athletes® and Healthy Communities Programs to provide Special Olympics athletes with increased access to free health screenings, education, services, supports, and referrals for follow-up healthcare as well as year-round health promotion and disease prevention programs.

CDC's partnership with Special Olympics focuses on reducing barriers to inclusive health services and programs, challenging misperceptions, eliminating stigma, and improving the health of people with ID by the following:

- Training healthcare professionals to conduct and support Healthy Athletes[®] screening events throughout the United States.
- Increasing the availability of data during and after screening events using digital health technology to evaluate effectiveness and provide critical health information on this population.
- Providing disability awareness training to healthcare professionals, community wellness partners, schools, and other collaborators who have limited or no experience working with people with ID.

CDC and Special Olympics support people with ID in the following ways:

- Conducting Healthy Athlete screenings to assess risk for chronic disease and mental health conditions.
- Expanding screening information to include healthcare utilization patterns.
- Evaluating virtual/online options for hearing assessments.
- Expanding programming for young children.

- Developing and piloting a new model for healthcare referral/coordination.
- Collaborating with university-based partners on health indicator data collection.
- Delivering a multidisciplinary training curriculum in academic institutions.

Disability and Health Data System

CDC's **Disability and Health Data System (DHDS)** is an online interactive source of state, regional, and national data on the health and demographics of adults with disabilities. States rely on this information to understand the health status and needs of their population with disabilities and to tailor health protection programs for this population. Through DHDS, states can easily identify prevalence of disability status by approximately 30 measures of health (e.g., smoking, physical activity, obesity, hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes) and can leverage this information to inform policies and practices that address health disparities and support people with disabilities.

CDC is using the existing dataset to drive programmatic decisions and inform strategies for a Medicaid analysis project to examine the impact of COVID-19 on people with IDD, specifically to identify the following:

- Changes in patterns of healthcare access and service use over time, including uptake of telemedicine and tele-mental health.
- Changes in new conditions acquired during the COVID-19 pandemic.

In 2022, CDC updated DHDS to include the latest 2020 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System data on U.S. adults with disabilities, including cognitive, mobility, vision, self-care, independent living, and hearing. CDC also regularly updates and makes publicly-available **state fact sheets** that provide an overview of disability in each state.

State Disability and Health Programs

CDC currently invests in 10 State Disability and Health Programs to improve health outcomes among people with ML and ID. Through 2021, these programs reached 3.2 million people nationwide through the implementation of 39 evidence-based strategies and interventions focusing on physical activity, nutrition, diabetes, and other health topics significant for this population. The state programs strengthen partnerships and design, create, and implement programs to improve the health of people with disabilities in their states. In 2021, CDC began a new five-year cycle with an increased focus on engagement with high-quality routine preventive healthcare, adoption of healthy lifestyle behaviors, and early identification, management, and control of chronic disease and mental health conditions among people with IDD and people with ML.

Additionally, CDC has partnered with ASTHO and the National Association of County and City Health Officials (NACCHO) to embed 28 disability specialists in state, territorial, and local health departments' public health emergency preparedness and response programs to ensure issues impacting people with disabilities are considered in planning and response efforts. CDC supports the NACCHO Disability Specialists Program by funding salaries of 10 public health workers specialized in emergency preparedness and disability inclusion to enhance local health departments' capacity inclusion of people with disabilities in public health preparedness, response, data collection, and programs.

Finally, CDC supported a technical assistance and training center to disseminate COVID-19 emergency preparedness and response resources, along with the development of a central, online repository of practice-based materials on emergency preparedness tailored for people with disabilities, caregivers, and the emergency and healthcare providers who serve them. Through these efforts, an online toolkit called **Public Health is for Everyone** now contains over 100 COVID-19 resources relevant to people with disabilities.

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES (CMS)

The **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)** is committed to strengthening and modernizing the nation's healthcare system to enhance quality, accessibility, and improved outcomes in the most cost-effective manner possible. CMS administers several programs that are available to individuals with disabilities, including those with ASD.

Medicaid

- States establish and administer their own Medicaid programs and determine the type, amount, duration, and scope of services within broad federal guidelines. Federal law requires states to provide certain mandatory benefits and allows states the choice of covering other optional benefits.Therefore, there is variation across states in terms of the scope of coverage offered in each Medicaid program.
- Examples of mandatory benefits include services like inpatient and outpatient hospital services, physician services, laboratory and x-ray services, and home health services, among others. Optional benefits include services like prescription drugs, case management, physical therapy, occupational therapy, and HCBS.
- Individuals with ASD could receive some of these mandatory and optional services based on their individual assessed needs.
- Services and supports for individuals with ASD can be covered under Medicaid through a variety of authorities including section 1905(a) of the Social Security Act.
 - CMS does not endorse or require any particular treatment modality for ASD. State Medicaid agencies are responsible for determining what services are included within a menu of both mandatory and optional services for eligible individuals. Medicaid may cover a variety of services and supports, such as case management, rehabilitative services, and physical, occupational, and speech therapies.

Some ASD treatment modalities, or components of such treatment modalities, are within the scope of the federal Medicaid program under the following benefit categories: section 1905(a) (6) services of Other Licensed Practitioners (OLP), section 1905(a)(13) Preventive Services, and section 1905(a)(11) Therapies. States may provide services to address ASD under each of these benefit categories.

- ASD services could also be provided by states under optional programs found at section 1915(i) state plan HCBS, section 1915(c) HCBS waiver programs, 1915(k) Community First Choice state plan programs, and section 1115 demonstration programs. HCBS are types of person-centered care delivered in the home and community. A variety of health and human services can be provided. HCBS programs address the needs of people with functional limitations who need assistance with everyday activities, like getting dressed or bathing. HCBS are often designed to enable people to stay in their homes, rather than moving to a facility for care.
 - Examples of health care that can be provided under HCBS include:
 - » Home health care such as:
 - Skilled nursing care
 - Therapies: Occupational, speech, and physical
 - Dietary management by registered dietician
 - Pharmacy
 - » Durable medical equipment
 - » Case management
 - » Personal care
 - » Caregiver and client training
 - » Health promotion and disease prevention
 - Examples of services to support daily living that are supported under HCBS include:
 - » Assistance with acquisition, retention, or improvement in self-help, socialization, and adaptive skills
 - » Day habilitation services

- » Home-delivered meal programs
- » Congregate meal sites
- » Personal care (dressing, bathing, toileting, eating, transferring to or from a bed or chair, etc.)
- » Transportation and access
- » Home repairs and modifications
- » Home safety assessments
- » Homemaker and chore services
- » Information and referral services
- » Telephone reassurance
- » Supported employment services
- » Adult daycares
- » Senior centers
- Some of the benefits of HCBS include:
 - » Cost effectiveness: usually less than half the cost of institutional care.
 - » Culturally responsive: spiritual and cultural activities and support available.
 - » Familiarity: patient enjoys the comfort of their own home or small residential facility in the community.
 - » Some waivers permit family members to be paid caregivers.
- In August 2022, CMS released guidance on a new optional Medicaid health home benefit for children with medically complex conditions available starting October 1st that helps state Medicaid programs provide Medicaid-eligible children who have medically complex conditions, including severe autism, with person-centered care management, care coordination, and patient and family support. CMS anticipates that the new benefit will help these children receive the care they need, including across state lines. The services provided under the new benefit include providing access to the full range of pediatric specialty and subspecialty medical services, including services from out-ofstate providers, as medically necessary. States with approved Medicaid state plan amendments (SPAs) to cover the new health home benefit will receive a

15 percentage point increase in federal matching for their expenditures on health home services during the first two FY quarters that the SPA is in effect. CMS also has committed to offer ongoing technical assistance to states about implementation of the new optional benefit.

- Also in August 2022, CMS announced key actions to strengthen and expand access to high-quality, comprehensive healthcare for children, including children with autism, across the country. CMS issued new guidance reminding states of their mandate to cover behavioral health services for children in Medicaid and urging states to leverage every resource to strengthen mental health care for children, including expansion of school-based healthcare. HHS also issued a proposed rule that, for the first time ever, would require states to report certain quality measures to strengthen Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) to ensure that the millions of children and families enrolled in these programs have access to the highest quality of care. These actions are part of **HHS' ongoing efforts** to support the Biden-Harris Administration's call to address the nation's mental health crisis, including its impact on children.
- In July 2022, CMS released the first-ever HCBS quality measure set to promote both consistent quality measurement within and across state Medicaid HCBS programs and health equity among the millions of older adults and people with disabilities who need long-term services and supports, including individuals with autism.
- Through section 9817 of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, states are investing over \$25 billion in activities to enhance, expand, and strengthen Medicaid HCBS, including to expand access to services and improve quality of care for individuals with autism. Of this funding, states are investing over \$8 billion in a broad range of activities to enhance, expand, and strengthen Medicaid HCBS for people with ID/DD, including individuals with autism. For example, states are reducing waiting lists for services and expanding access to

employment supports for people with ID/DD, and providing specialized training to direct support professionals to improve the care provided to people with autism.

- On July 7, 2014, CMS released an **Informational Bulletin** providing information on the options available under the federal Medicaid program for furnishing services to eligible individuals with ASD. The Informational Bulletin outlines the Medicaid coverage categories that are available to cover services to treat ASD. The Bulletin also discusses requirements related to services for individuals under the age of 21 eligible for EPSDT coverage, and how states currently furnishing more limited coverage of services to treat ASD under a section 1915(c) waiver or section 1915(i) Medicaid state plan amendment may have to transition those individuals to EPSDT coverage.
- It is important to note that EPSDT is a mandatory benefit extended to all Medicaid-eligible individuals under the age of 21. The program makes children eligible for benefits through section 1905(r) of the Social Security Act, which requires the provision of any medically necessary healthcare services listed in section 1905(a) of the Act. This mandate includes services to address ASD. The EPSDT mandate expires at an individual's 21st birthday, and the benefits a state makes available for adults would then take over, which could result in a smaller scope of services offered to an adult with ASD.
- For states with managed care plans, those plans are expected to offer the services they are contracted with the state to provide, including those specific to ASD, without adding unnecessary barriers to service access.
- Federal law requires that state Medicaid programs, including Medicaid managed care plans, ensure adequate access to timely care, including by keeping an adequate network of providers.
- Individuals eligible for Medicaid via the adult group receive a benefit package that includes the Essential Health Benefits required in the Marketplace, as described below.

Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)

- CHIP provides comprehensive benefits to children. States have flexibility to design their own program within federal guidelines. States may choose between a Medicaid expansion program, a separate CHIP, or a combination of both types of programs.
- Medicaid Expansion CHIP programs provide the same Medicaid benefit package as provided for children under each state's Medicaid program. Please see the *Medicaid* section for discussion of ASD coverage in this context.
- Similar to Medicaid, states that establish and administer their own separate CHIP programs determine the type, amount, duration, and scope of services within broad federal guidelines. Federal law requires states to provide certain mandatory benefits and allows states the choice of covering other optional benefits. Therefore, there is variation across states in terms of the scope of coverage offered in each separate CHIP program. For example, some states specifically include coverage of ABA as part of their CHIP benefits available for the screening, diagnosis, and treatment of individuals with ASD.
 - All separate CHIPs must provide well-baby and well-child care, dental coverage, behavioral health care, and vaccines. Section 2103(c)(5) of the Social Security Act requires coverage of mental health services (including behavioral health treatment) necessary to prevent, diagnose, and treat a broad range of mental health symptoms and disorders, including substance use disorders. Additional information is available in State Health Official letter # 20-001.

The Affordable Care Act/Marketplace

The Affordable Care Act contains important provisions for individuals with autism and related conditions and their families:

 Most health insurance plans are no longer allowed to deny, limit, exclude, or charge more for coverage to anyone based on a pre-existing condition, including autism and related conditions.

- All Marketplace health plans and most other private insurance plans must cover preventive services for children without charging a copayment or coinsurance. This includes **autism screening** for children at 18 and 24 months.
- Health plans cannot put a lifetime dollar limit on most benefits an individual receives. The law also does away with annual dollar limits a health plan can place on most benefits for most health plans, and no Marketplace health plans can have annual or lifetime dollar limits. Prior to the Affordable Care Act, many plans set a dollar limit on what they would spend for covered benefits during the time individuals were enrolled in the plan, leaving individuals on the autism spectrum and their families to pay the cost of all care exceeding that limit.
- Young adults can remain covered under their parents' insurance up to at least the age of 26. For a young adult with autism or related conditions and their family, that means more flexibility, more options, and greater peace of mind.
- Individuals on the autism spectrum and families of children on the autism spectrum now have expanded access to affordable **insurance options** through the Health Insurance Marketplace and expansion in Medicaid.
- Most health plans sold in the individual and small group markets, including the Marketplace, must cover "essential health benefits," including hospitalizations, preventive services, and prescription drugs, to help ensure that individuals have the coverage needed to stay healthy. Health insurers will also have annual out-of-pocket limits to protect families' incomes against the high cost of healthcare services.
- All non-grandfathered individual and small group plans, including all Marketplace health plans, must provide habilitative and rehabilitative services as essential health benefits. Services in these categories generally include occupational therapy, physical therapy, and speech therapy. Plans must also cover mental and behavioral health services, though the exact services covered may vary by state and issuer.

- ABA therapy is specifically included in many Marketplace health plans.
- Marketplace health plans cannot impose limits on coverage of habilitative services and devices that are less favorable than any such limits imposed on coverage of rehabilitative services and devices. They also cannot place combined visit limitations on habilitative and rehabilitative services and devices.
- Benefits vary by state and issuer, but coverage for other benefits, such as peer supports, assistive technology, housing support, etc., are frequently not covered.

Additional Resources

- HHS.gov: The Affordable Care Act and Autism and Related Conditions
- The National Council of States Legislatures webpage (August 2021): Autism and Insurance Coverage State Laws
- Autistic Self-Advocacy Network (ASAN): Health Insurance and Medicaid Coverage for Autism Services: A Guide for Individuals and Families (July 2015)
- On September 24, 2014, CMS released a set of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) to respond to questions raised by states and stakeholders regarding autism services. Additional questions may be directed to the autism services mailbox at AutismServicesQuestions@cms.hhs.gov.
- In January 2014, CMS released a report entitled Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) State of the States of Services and Supports for People with ASD, which provides a nationwide summary of state services for people with ASD and policies related to people with ASD. The report provides information on existing programs and policies in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. The report stemmed from the IACC's 2010 and 2011 Strategic Plans. (Note: Due to the size of this report, smaller files of state profiles organized by geographical region and the background information are also available upon request from the Contracting Officer's Representative listed on the report cover.)

 In 2010, CMS released an environmental scan of the scientific evidence regarding the efficacy, effectiveness, safety, and availability of ASD-related psychosocial services and supports for children, transitioning youth, and adults with ASD. This report, entitled Autism Spectrum Disorders Services: Final Report on Environmental Scan, describes findings from the literature review, including data on the evidence base for interventions for individuals with autism across the age span as well as data on the significant costs associated with caring for individuals with autism.

HEALTH RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION (HRSA)

HRSA Programs That Directly Provide or Support Provision of Supportive Services

- HRSA/Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB) provides funding to grantees for family caregiver and systems navigation services. The Innovations in Care Coordination for Children and Youth with Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities Program provides funding to entities to provide family navigation services in medically underserved areas and with medically underserved populations. The goal of the family navigation services is to reduce barriers to early diagnosis and treatment of autism/DD and to increase self-efficacy of families receiving family navigation services in navigating the system of care and services for autism/DD. The family navigators provide time-limited services to families of children with autism and other DD or who have increased likelihood of developing autism/DD to address a variety of needs including:
 - Strengthening the family-professional partnership between the families and the clinicians providing care to their children;
 - Improving families' awareness of resources and services for their children;
 - Reducing delays in accessing specialty and sub-specialty services (e.g., developmental behavioral pediatricians, child neurologists, child psychologists, occupational therapists, speech language therapists, etc.);

- Helping to minimize barriers to accessing community-based services (e.g., transportation, financial, etc.);
- Coordinating care between multiple providers;
- Promoting care that is culturally and linguistically competent; and
- Helping to facilitate transition across settings and providers, and from pediatric to adult systems of care.
- HRSA/MCHB's Leadership Education in Neurodevelopmental and Related Disabilities (LEND) and Developmental Behavioral Pediatrics (DBP) Training Programs provide training to healthcare and related professionals to screen, refer, and provide services for children with autism/ DD. In the context of training, these programs support a range of services and interventions and coordination of care to improve the health and well-being of individuals with autism/DD.
- More information about HRSA/MCHB-funded Autism CARES Act Programs can be found at: mchb.hrsa. gov/programs-impact/autism.
- The HRSA-funded State Public Health Autism Resource Center provides technical assistance to CARES grantees and state maternal and child health (MCH) programs who may offer gap filling supportive services to individuals on the autism spectrum and their families. In addition, state MCH programs may support gap filling services as needed. Particularly, those technical assistance and supportive services are related to:
 - Caregiver training for family-mediated interventions
 - Transition healthcare
 - Family and peer mentoring supports
 - Caregiver respite services
 - Family caregiver and systems navigation services
 - Individual- and family-directed services and personal supports (self-direction)
 - Empowerment, education, and advocacy training and services
 - Telehealth

HRSA Policies for Healthcare Coverage of Supportive Services for People on the Autism Spectrum

The HRSA-funded SPHARC and the Catalyst Center assist HRSA-funded Autism CARES grantees and state Title V MCH Programs to understand the support services and related policies available to individuals on the autism spectrum and their families. In some cases, the grantees facilitate provider training or family/self-advocate perspective to those delivering services to individuals with autism. Empowerment, education, and advocacy training are often custom delivered to meet a need. Support services offered vary by state or jurisdiction and by the age of the person who needs the services. For example, Parts B and C of IDEA offer early intervention services by age categories. Part C covers birth through 36 months of age, and Part B applies to supportive services for children ages 3 through 21 years of age. Parts B and C are closely tied to the school setting, and the school or other partners may administer IDEA federal funds. It is common for a school setting to only administer Part B, and an early childhood organization may administer Part C. Additionally, public schools are federally mandated to identify, locate, and evaluate all children for developmental delay through IDEA's ChildFind service. Generally public schools coordinate with education, public health, and community organizations for extensive outreach. As persons with autism leave school settings, adult services are provided through different systems for career support and healthcare. Healthcare support services variations often depend upon the payor type of the insurance coverage. For instance, public health insurance (such as Medicaid-managed care or fee-for-service) may have different coverage than private payors of healthcare coverage, and state or jurisdiction policies for this population greatly influence the supportive services available.

INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE (IHS)

The Indian Health Service (IHS) is responsible for providing federal health services to American Indians and Alaska Natives (AI/AN). The provision of health services to members of federally recognized Tribes grew out of the special government-to-government relationship between the federal government and Indian Tribes. This relationship, established in 1787, is based on Article I, Section 8 of the Constitution, and has been given form and substance by numerous treaties, laws, Supreme Court decisions, and Executive Orders. The IHS is the principal federal healthcare provider and health advocate for American Indian people, and its goal is to raise their health status to the highest possible level. The IHS provides a comprehensive health service delivery system for approximately 2.6 million American Indians and Alaska Natives who belong to 574 federally recognized Tribes in 37 states.

The IHS mission is to raise the physical, mental, social, and spiritual health of American Indians and Alaska Natives to the highest level. The IHS vision is to promote healthy communities and quality healthcare systems through strong partnerships and culturally responsive practices.

Indian Children's Program (ICP)

As part of the IHS mission to raise the physical, mental, social, and spiritual health of American Indians and Alaska Natives to the highest level, IHS is committed to providing education, training, consultation, and resources to clinicians treating patients with neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD, through the IHS Indian Children's Program (ICP). In 2016, the ICP transitioned under the IHS Telebehavioral Health Center of Excellence (TBHCE) to become a national program. The TBHCE currently provides training and support to healthcare providers regarding behavioral health, family, and social issues facing AI/AN youth diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD. These services are available to all IHS, Tribal, and urban Indian organization providers and include no-cost continuing education credits. Currently, IHS has 28 webinars on ASD and autismrelated topics available any time to any healthcare provider providing care to AI/AN patients.

In response to COVID-19, IHS provided three webinars to assist healthcare providers in supporting families of children with ASD and other neurodevelopmental disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. Topics in the IHS COVID-19 Response Webinar Series included:

- Supporting Safety for Families of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders during COVID-19;
- Emotion and Behavior Regulation Support for Families of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders during COVID-19; and
- Learning Support for Families of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders during COVID-19

In 2021, IHS hosted a webinar training series on ASD to develop healthcare providers' skills to treat individuals with ASD. Topics included:

- Introduction to Autism Spectrum Disorder;
- Screening and Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder;
- After an Autism Spectrum Diagnosis: Next Steps;
- Applied Behavior Analysis for Autism Spectrum Disorder; and
- Supports for Transition-Aged Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder

In observance of World Autism Day on April 2, 2022, IHS hosted a special workshop entitled "**Exploring Mindfulness and Dance Movement Therapy for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder**." The workshop provided healthcare providers, family members, and other interested participants with information on how dance movement therapy and mindfulness interventions can be treatment approaches for children with autism. The workshop was a fun, interactive experience for families and healthcare providers to learn and practice specific mindfulness and dance movement therapy techniques, thereby increasing their therapeutic skill set with children with autism to create accepting and caring home and healthcare environments.

NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH (NIH)

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) is the nation's medical research agency. NIH's mission is to seek fundamental knowledge about the nature and behavior of living systems and the application of that knowledge to enhance health, lengthen life, and reduce illness and disability. As part of this mission, NIH supports scientific research to better understand the causes and mechanisms underlying ASD, improve methods of early identification and diagnosis, and develop and improve interventions and services. including behavioral, communication, and daily living skills interventions, to improve overall health among children, adolescents, and adults with ASD. NIH makes coordinated efforts to invest in a wide range of ASD research. Information on aggregate NIH funding for autism can be found on NIH's Research Portfolio Online Reporting Tools (RePORT) under Categorical Spending for Research, Condition, and Disease Categorization (RCDC). Though NIH is not involved in health service coverage decisions, NIH-supported research on interventions and services contributes to the overall evidence base that is available for use by agencies and organizations that make decisions related to health service coverage. Some examples of NIH-funded autism services research are provided below.

Research on Outcomes

NIH supports studies on the impact of various interventions and services on outcomes for individuals with ASD. For example, a study supported by the National Institute of Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (**P50DC018006**) is examining whether adding an oral-motor focused intervention to a social-communication intervention will improve language outcomes in minimally-verbal children with ASD. Children who have ASD often receive services through school systems. An NIHsupported longitudinal analysis of services, ranging from physical or speech therapy to personal care or respite services over 14 years, found that people with ASD received significantly fewer services after high school. The decrease in services was greater for those who had ASD and ID than it was for those who only had ASD.²⁹ Scientists funded by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) are working to address long-term outcomes of children with ASD. For example, one group of researchers is assessing the long-term outcomes of children with ASD at ages 14 to 15 who received early intensive behavioral intervention in the preschool years (R01HD087302). In addition, the Autism ACTION Network, a new interdisciplinary network of eight institutions, is conducting research on evidence-based interventions in real world settings, which aim to engage families to access resources and support when they first learn their child has signs of ASD and to coach families to embed evidence-based intervention strategies for toddlers with ASD in everyday activities (5R01HD093055).

Research on Detection

ASD Pediatric Early Detection, Engagement, and Services (PEDS) Network: Beginning in 2014, the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) supported five research grants that composed the ASD PEDS Network (R01MH104302, R01MH104355, R01MH104400, R01MH104423, R01MH104446). ASD PEDS researchers tested strategies for universal screening coupled with referral to and engagement in services when indicated for children with ASD from 12 to 36 months of age. The researchers also examined the issues surrounding coordination among different settings including primary care and community service agencies. The ASD PEDS investigators compiled information across their individual studies and identified common implementation strategies (e.g., developing stakeholder relationships and provider trainings) and barriers (e.g., inefficient systems of care, difficulty engaging families in the interventions, provider attitudes, and organizational culture). They found that despite diverse settings and a variety of innovation content, common facilitators and challenges exist in implementing innovations to enhance access to early ASD screening, diagnosis, and treatment.³⁵² Findings from one of the ASD PEDS projects suggest that an ASD diagnosis becomes stable starting at age 14 months and overall is more stable than any other

diagnostic category including language or developmental delay.³⁵³ Furthermore, once a child is identified as having ASD, there is an extremely low chance that he or she will test within typical levels at age 3. This finding opens the opportunity to test the impact of very early age treatment of ASD. Main findings from a second ASD PEDS project suggest that utilizing "family navigators" to engage caregivers in recommended services improved the likelihood of diagnostic ascertainment among children from racial/ethnic minority, low-income families who were detected in primary care as at-risk for ASD.³⁵⁴ NIMH is currently funding a longitudinal study to identify long-term outcomes from two ASD PEDS projects (R01MH121595 and R01MH121599). The study is following two cohorts of children: those who were diagnosed with autism through early universal screening programs (at well-baby check-up) and those who did not participate in an early detection program yet were diagnosed at a later time. The study is testing the impact of early screening on long-term outcomes, which include autism symptoms; cognitive, social, behavioral, and academic functioning; family well-being and parent mental health; and treatment engagement.

NICHD also funds research on the detection of autism. One study (5R01HD039961) is investigating the best age to initiate screening with the Modified Checklist for Autism in Toddlers (M-CHAT), as well as accuracy of physician surveillance and factors associated with disparity in effective ASD screening and surveillance. Another study (5R03HD090365) is focusing on implementation of the M-CHAT in the context of a large urban reschool sample. In addition, NICHD is funding research to develop a telehealth screening protocol for systematically screening, assessing, and monitoring symptomatic infants from a distance, which will increase families' access to specialized evaluations and decrease the significant waiting time between parents' first concerns and infants' first evaluation (5R21HD100372).

Research on Identifying and Addressing the Needs of Transition-Aged Youth and Adults with ASD

NIMH supports services research projects on transitionaged youth and adults with ASD. "Transition-aged youth with ASD" refers to individuals with ASD who, in the coming months or years, will age out of the services and supports delivered via K-12 education and other child/adolescent service systems. Research projects include a focus on improving competitive employment outcomes, strategies for achieving self-management of co-occurring health conditions, improving understanding of social relations, and engaging siblings of adults with ASD in future planning to achieve optimal long-term outcomes (R34MH111556, R34MH111536, R34MH111531, R34MH111491, R34MH111489). NIMH is also addressing the need for more research aimed at fostering effective and developmentally appropriate services for adults and transition-aged youth by enriching the pool of autism researchers focused on this specific population, through career development and enhancement awards (RFA-MH-20-420/-421). One NIMH-funded career enhancement award recipient is examining a strength-based intervention to improve job interview skills in transition-aged youth with ASD (K18MH122847).

Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee

NIH also manages the Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee (IACC), a federal advisory committee authorized under the Autism CARES Act of 2019 to provide advice to the HHS Secretary on issues related to autism. The Committee, currently composed of over 40 federal officials and public stakeholders representing a wide range of views and expertise, is charged with providing a Strategic Plan to guide federal autism efforts. The IACC holds three full committee meetings per year, where it hosts public discussions and presentations on issues of importance to the autism community and hear public comments. Issues related to autism services and supports, family, and caregiver challenges are discussed in this forum and are highlighted in committee documents such as the IACC Strategic Plan for Autism Spectrum Disorder.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ADMINISTRATION (SAMHSA)

The **Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)** leads public health efforts to advance the behavioral health of the nation. SAMHSA's mission is to reduce the impact of substance misuse and mental illness on America's communities. SAMHSA-funded activities broadly impact the health and well-being of individuals with mental health conditions, including those with ASD, and their families.

SAMHSA Programs That Directly Provide or Support Provision of Supportive Services

Mandated by Congress, SAMHSA's **block grants** are noncompetitive grants that provide funding for substance misuse and mental health services. While they are not autism-specific, they can support a broad array of services for children with mental health conditions/serious emotional disturbances and substance use disorders.

SAMHSA is responsible for two block grant programs:

• Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant (SABG): The SABG program provides funds and technical assistance to all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, six Pacific jurisdictions, and one tribal entity. Grantees use the funds to plan, implement, and evaluate activities that prevent and treat substance misuse and promote public health. Community Mental Health Services Block Grant (MHBG): The MHBG program provides funds and technical assistance to all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and six Pacific jurisdictions. Grantees use the funds to provide comprehensive, community-based mental health services to adults with serious mental illnesses and to children with serious emotional disturbances and to monitor progress in implementing a comprehensive, communitybased mental health system.

Grantees use the block grant programs for prevention, treatment, recovery support, and other services to supplement Medicaid, Medicare, and private insurance services. Specifically, block grant recipients use the awards for the following purposes:

- Fund priority treatment and support services for individuals without insurance or for whom coverage is terminated for short periods of time.
- Fund those priority treatment and support services that demonstrate success in improving outcomes and/or supporting recovery that are not covered by Medicaid, Medicare, or private insurance.
- Fund primary prevention by providing universal, selective, and indicated prevention activities and services for persons not identified as needing treatment.
- Collect performance and outcome data to determine the ongoing effectiveness of behavioral health promotion, treatment, and recovery support services.

U.S. Department of Defense (DoD)

The **U.S. Department of Defense (DoD)** is charged with coordinating and supervising all Defense agencies and functions of the government concerned directly with national security and the U.S. Armed Forces. This report provides details on research and service and support activities in the Department of Defense and the Military Health System (MHS) TRICARE program.

U.S. ARMY

The DoD Autism Research Program (ARP) was first established through language in the 109th U.S. Congress, House of Representatives Conference Report (H.R. 5631) in FY 2007 with an appropriation of \$7.5 million for research on ASD in the military. Following in FY 2008 through FY 2020, the DoD ARP has continued through the Defense Health Program with additional appropriations. The ARP focuses on improving the lives of those living with ASD by funding innovative and highly impactful research. Through the program's Areas of Interest, the ARP focuses on ways to improve diagnosis, treatment, and studying psychosocial factors for affecting key lifetime transitions to independence and a better life for those with autism and their families. Two of the ARP's Areas of Interest focus on funding research related to supportive services for people with autism:

- Interventions promoting success in key transitions to adulthood for individuals living with ASD
- Healthcare provider-focused training or tools to improve healthcare delivery for individuals with ASD across the lifespan and the continuum of care (i.e., primary care, urgent/emergent care, and disaster relief)

The ARP has three open grant opportunity solicitations for work in these Areas of Interest described above (Opportunity numbers: W81XWH-22-ARP-IDA, W81X-WH-22-ARP-CTA, and W81XWH-22-ARP-CDA).

MILITARY HEALTH SYSTEM (MHS)/TRICARE

The **Military Health System (MHS)** serves active duty service members, their families, along with eligible military retirees and their dependents. The MHS administers the **TRICARE** program, which is the medical benefits package that serves the population through a direct government-owned facilities as well as through services purchased from the private sector. TRICARE offers comprehensive medical care to over 9.6 million beneficiaries, including approximately two million children. This also includes over 35,000 MHS beneficiaries (in FY 2020) diagnosed with ASD.

Through TRICARE, the MHS provides physician and other licensed independent provider services, pharmacy coverage, psychosocial treatment, psychological testing, occupational therapy, physical therapy, and speech and language pathology for the treatment of ASD to all eligible TRICARE beneficiaries.

A separate but related TRICARE program, the **Extended Care Health Option (ECHO)**, offers supplemental services to Active-Duty Family Members (ADFMs) with a qualifying physical or psychologically disabling condition, including ASD. ECHO services may include respite care, durable equipment, incontinence supplies, and home health services.

Currently, ABA services are authorized for coverage under the Comprehensive Autism Care Demonstration (ACD). Approximately 16,000 TRICARE eligible beneficiaries are currently enrolled in the ACD (for FY 2021). In 2021, the Department published a policy revision that included a number of improvements to the ACD, including enhanced support to parents and caregivers, improved care coordination, and improved outcomes, with the focus always being on helping military beneficiaries diagnosed with ASD, and their families, to reach their maximum potential. All ABA services for military beneficiaries are provided through a contracted network of civilian providers. Several military medical treatment facilities also offer programs to support beneficiaries diagnosed with ASD and their families. These initiatives include:

- The Fort Belvoir Community Hospital (FBCH) Autism Resource Center, which is designed to provide resources for beneficiaries newly diagnosed with ASD and their families;
- The Joint Base Lewis McChord Center for Autism Resources, Education and Services (JBLM CARES) program, which provides patient-centered care services for beneficiaries diagnosed with ASD and their families during the transition period of locating purchased care services; and
- Deployment of the Play & Language for Autistic Youngsters (PLAY) Project, first launched within the MHS at Wright Patterson Air Force Base (WPAFB), which provides training of a portable parent-focused early childhood intervention to beneficiaries diagnosed with ASD.

In addition to medical services covered under the TRICARE Basic medical benefit, covered ECHO benefits, and the ACD, the DoD also offers non-medical services through the Exceptional Family Member Program, (i.e., non-medical respite) and Military OneSource (i.e., non-medical counseling and non-clinical resources) to support beneficiaries with a diagnosis of ASD and their family members.

U.S. Department of Education (ED)

The mission of the **U.S. Department of Education (ED)** is to promote student achievement and preparation for global competitiveness by fostering educational excellence and ensuring equal access. ED supports programs to develop and implement evidence-based practices for services to infants, toddlers, children, youth, and postsecondary students, as well as programs for individuals with disabilities who have graduated from high school or a postsecondary institution and are seeking vocational rehabilitation services. ED supports ASD-related services and supports through programs administered by the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS). An overview of these programs is provided below.

OFFICE OF SPECIAL EDUCATION AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES (OSERS)

The mission of the **Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS)** is to improve early childhood, educational, and employment outcomes and raise expectations for all people with disabilities, their families, their communities, and the nation. OSERS houses two offices that provide supportive services for people with disabilities, including autism: the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) and the Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA).

Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP)

The **Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP)** within OSERS is responsible for overseeing the administration of the IDEA.

Part B of the IDEA:

• The IDEA Part B grants to states provide funding to ensure that eligible children with disabilities ages 3 through 21 (depending on state law) receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in the least restrictive environment. Children with autism can be eligible to receive special education and related services under Part B of the IDEA.

- Special education and related services are individualized for each eligible child with a disability. The services and supports are listed on a child's IEP.
- Under the IDEA statute, "related services" are defined as: transportation and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services (including speech-language pathology and audiology services, interpreting services, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy, recreation including therapeutic recreation, social work services and school nurse services designed to enable a child with a disability to receive FAPE as described in the IEP of the child; counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling; orientation and mobility services; and medical services, except that such medical services shall be for diagnostic and evaluation purposes only) as may be required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education, and includes the early identification and assessment of disabling conditions in children. The term does not include a medical device that is surgically implanted or the replacement of such device.
- Assistive technology services and devices can also be identified on a child's IEP. Under the IDEA statute this is defined as: any item, piece of equipment, or product system, whether acquired commercially off the shelf, modified, or customized, that is used to increase, maintain, or improve functional capabilities of a child with a disability. The term does not include a medical device that is surgically implanted, or the replacement of such device. The term "assistive technology service" means any service that directly assists a child with a disability in the selection, acquisition, or use of an assistive technology device.
- Local educational agencies can use federal IDEA funds to pay for services and supports, in addition to state and local funds. They could also work with Medicaid to access funds to pay for related Medicaid health services.

Part C of the IDEA:

- The IDEA Part C grants to states provide funding to develop and implement a statewide, comprehensive, coordinated, multidisciplinary, interagency system that provides early intervention services for infants and toddlers with disabilities from birth to age 3 (or older depending on state law) and their families. Infants and toddlers with autism can be eligible to receive early intervention services under Part C of the IDEA.
- Early intervention services are individualized for each eligible infant and toddler with a disability. The services are listed on a child's individualized family services plan (IFSP).
- Under the IDEA statute early intervention services include:
 - Family training, counseling, and home visits;
 - Special instruction;
 - Speech-language pathology and audiology services, and sign language and cued language services;
 - Occupational therapy;
 - Physical therapy;
 - Psychological services;
 - Service coordination services;
 - Medical services only for diagnostic or evaluation purposes;
 - Early identification, screening, and assessment services;
 - Health services necessary to enable the infant or toddler to benefit from the other early intervention services;
 - Social work services;
 - Vision services;
 - Assistive technology devices and assistive technology services; and
 - Transportation and related costs that are necessary to enable an infant or toddler and the infant's or toddler's family to receive another service described in this paragraph.

• Early intervention service providers can put a system of payments in place that includes billing public (Medicaid) or private insurance and charging family fees. They can use federal IDEA funds to pay for early intervention services, in addition to state and local funds.

Part D of the IDEA:

The IDEA has provisions for national activities, which includes funding discretionary grants to support the implementation of the IDEA. Discretionary grants include support for parent training and information centers; personnel development; technical assistance and dissemination; professional development through the State Personnel Development Grant program; and technology, media, and educational materials program. Information on grants funded by OSEP can be found in the OSEP **Discretionary Grants Database**.

OSEP submits an annual **Report to Congress** on the progress made toward the provision of FAPE to all children with disabilities and the provision of early intervention services to infants and toddlers with disabilities. Information on the implementation of the IDEA can be found in the *Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act*. OSEP also supports a variety of data technical assistance centers that are funded through an IDEA Part B statutory provision related to improved data quality.

Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA)

The **Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA)** is a component of OSERS and provides leadership and resources to assist state and other agencies in providing vocational rehabilitation and other services to individuals with disabilities, including those with ASD, to maximize their employment, independence, and integration into the community and the competitive labor market.

RSA is established by Congress as the principal federal agency authorized to carry out Titles I, III, VI, and VII, as well as Section 509 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended by Title IV of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act. The Rehabilitation Act provides the statutory authority for programs and activities that assist individuals with disabilities in the pursuit of gainful employment, independence, self-sufficiency, and full integration into community life. Additionally, RSA administers programs and activities under the Randolph-Sheppard Act, as amended. The RSA Commissioner and RSA Deputy Commissioner provide overall direction and leadership to RSA's two Divisions:

- State Monitoring and Program Improvement Division
- Training and Service Programs Division

RSA Programs develop and implement comprehensive systems of vocational rehabilitation, supported employment, and independent living services for older individuals who are blind through the provision of services, training, and advocacy to maximize the employment, independence, and integration of individuals with disabilities in their communities.

RSA accomplishes its mission by:

- Administering formula and discretionary grant programs authorized by Congress;
- Evaluating, monitoring, and reporting on the implementation of federal policy and programs and the effectiveness of vocational rehabilitation, supported employment, independent living, and other related programs for individuals with disabilities;
- Providing technical assistance and disseminating information to public and private nonprofit agencies and organizations; and
- Coordinating with other federal agencies, state agencies, and the private sector including professional organizations, service providers, and organizations of persons with disabilities for the review of program planning, implementation, and monitoring issues.

The largest program RSA administers is the State vocational rehabilitation (VR) program. This program funds State VR agencies to provide employment-related services for individuals with disabilities so that they may prepare for and engage in competitive, integrated, and gainful employment that is consistent with their strengths, resources, priorities, concerns, abilities, capabilities, interests, and informed choice. For more than 100 years, the VR program has supported individuals with physical disabilities to prepare for and enter the workforce. In 1943, the program expanded to serve individuals with psychiatric disabilities, a category which includes mental healthrelated disabilities and developmental and intellectual disabilities. Nationwide, the VR program serves more than one million individuals with disabilities each year. More than 91 percent of the people who use State VR services have significant physical or psychiatric disabilities that seriously limit one or more functional capacities (mobility, communication, self-care, self-direction, interpersonal skills, work tolerance, or work skills) (Section 7(21)(A)(i) of the Rehabilitation Act). These individuals often require multiple services over an extended period. For them, VR services are indispensable for attaining employment and increased independence.

State VR agencies may provide a wide variety of services to individuals with disabilities, including career counseling, work-based learning experiences (e.g., internships, apprenticeships, and short-term employment), financial support for vocational training and postsecondary education, rehabilitation technology and training, transition and pre-employment transition services, supported employment services, transportation, and other services and supports necessary for individuals with disabilities to achieve employment. The VR program is administered by 78 VR agencies, which cover the 50 States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, American Samoa, Guam, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. In addition to receiving federal VR program appropriations, a VR agency may receive program income from other sources, such as reimbursements from the Social Security Administration (SSA) for individuals served through the VR program who are SSDI beneficiaries or SSI recipients who achieve paid employment at a level of earnings high enough to be terminated from receiving their SSDI or SSI benefits.

Another key program administered by RSA is the Supported Employment Services program (SE program), through which RSA provides supplemental funds to State VR agencies, in conjunction with Title I VR State grant funds, to provide supported employment services to individuals with the most significant disabilities. Supported employment means competitive integrated employment, including customized employment, or employment in an integrated work setting in which individuals with the most significant disabilities, including youth with the most significant disabilities, are working on a short-term basis toward competitive integrated employment (Section 7(38) of the Rehabilitation Act). Supported employment is recognized as an effective strategy in assisting individuals who, because of the nature and severity of their disability, need ongoing support services to engage in and maintain competitive integrated employment. Such supports may include regular monitoring at the worksite from the time of job placement until transition to extended services.

RSA also administers the American Indian Vocational Rehabilitation Services (AIVRS) program, RSA provides grants to governing bodies of Indian Tribes located on federal and state reservations (and consortia of such governing bodies) to establish and operate tribal vocational rehabilitation programs to deliver VR services to American Indians with disabilities who live on or near such reservations. AIVRS grant awards are made through the competitive process for a period of up to five years to provide a broad range of VR services including, where appropriate, services traditionally used by Indian Tribes, designed to assist American Indians with disabilities to prepare for and engage in gainful employment.

RSA submits an annual **Report to the President and Congress** that describes the activities of RSA as the principal agency carrying out Titles I, III, VI, and specified portions of Titles V and VII of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended by the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act. RSA is responsible for preparing and submitting these reports under Section 13 of the Rehabilitation Act. More information about the programs mentioned above and other activities of the RSA can be found in the annual *RSA Report to the President and Congress*.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)

The **Department of Housing and Urban Development** (HUD) works to strengthen the housing market in order to bolster the economy and protect consumers, meet the need for quality affordable rental homes, utilize housing as a platform for improving quality of life, and build inclusive and sustainable communities free from discrimination. HUD-funded activities broadly impact the well-being of individuals with disabilities, including those with ASD, and their families.

HUD administratively enforces several civil rights laws prohibiting housing discrimination, including the Fair Housing Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). With few exceptions, the Fair Housing Act covers housing throughout the country.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act

Section 504 provisions apply to recipients of HUD financial assistance, including the Community Development Block Grant, Public Housing, Multifamily, Housing Choice Voucher, and other programs. HUD's Section 504 regulations (at 24 CFR § 8.4c) permit exclusion of persons without disabilities from the benefits of a program if the program is limited by federal statute or Executive Order to individuals with disabilities and also permits exclusion of a specific class of individuals with disabilities from a program if the program is limited by federal statute or Executive Order to a different class of individuals. However, HUD does not have disability-specific programs, such as housing specifically for persons with ASD.

Section 811 Supportive Housing for Persons with Disabilities

The HUD Section 811 program provides funding to develop and subsidize rental housing with the availability of supportive services for very low- and extremely low-income adults with disabilities. The program supports two major types of assistance: (1) capital grants and project-based rental assistance for nonprofit developers to build, rehabilitate, or acquire small group homes or scatter site housing units with the availability of supportive services for very low-income persons with disabilities and (2) project-based rental assistance for state housing agencies in partnership with state Health and Human Services/Medicaid agencies to provide housing for extremely low-income persons with disabilities with access to appropriate supportive services.

In August 2020, HUD awarded over \$74 million in grants to 12 state housing agencies to support affordable rental housing for extremely low-income persons with disabilities. The awards will support up to five years of rental assistance for approximately 2,400 units of housing in buildings participating in project rental assistance through the Section 811 program. HUD also awarded **\$54.7 million** in capital advance and project rental assistance grants to 15 community organizations through the Section 811 program. The grants were awarded to organizations who will create permanent supportive housing models that will be at the forefront of design, service delivery, and efficient use of federal resources. Awardees must promote long-term housing security and facilitate community integration of persons with disabilities. In 2020, HUD issued an eviction moratorium and offered additional funds to properties receiving project-based rental assistance under the Section 811 program, as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act.

Eviction Protection Grant Program

In May 2022, HUD announced \$20 million in new grants for its **Eviction Protection Grant Program**, doubling the amount originally allocated for the launch of the Program in November 2021. HUD awarded grants to 11 additional organizations (10 organizations selected in November 2021) to help non-profits and governmental entities provide legal assistance to low-income tenants at risk of or subject to eviction.

Housing Choice voucher Program

The Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program is the federal government's largest rental assistance program. The program provides housing assistance to around 2.3 million very low-income families, older adults, and people with disabilities to afford decent, safe, and sanitary housing in the private rental market. HCVs are administered locally by around 2,100 public housing agencies (PHAs).

- Mainstream voucher Program: Mainstream vouchers assist very low-income adults with disabilities with tenant-based rental assistance. Participants receive a voucher and are free to choose any housing in the private rental market that meets the requirements of the program. Similar to the regular housing choice voucher, Mainstream vouchers are administered locally by PHAs. The 2017, 2018, and 2019 Appropriations Acts funded new Mainstream vouchers. Since 2018, HUD has awarded over \$500 million in funding to PHAs to support 50,000 new Mainstream vouchers. Under the authority of the CARES Act, HUD allocated nearly \$77 million for Mainstream vouchers in May 2020 and another \$87 million in November 2020. In June 2022, HUD announced the availability of \$40 million in carryover funding for additional Mainstream vouchers to support community living for persons with disabilities, and later in July 2022, HUD awarded over \$36 million in mainstream vouchers and fees to support community living for people with disabilities. Since April 2021, HUD, alongside the HHS, has provided technical assistance to help PHAs that administer Mainstream Vouchers for non-elderly persons with disabilities to strengthen their partnerships with state agencies that assist persons with disabilities to transition from institutional settings to the community.
- Emergency Housing voucher Program: The Emergency Housing Voucher (EHV) is a special program available through the American Rescue Plan Act that has provided 70,000 housing choice vouchers to local PHAs. The program assists individuals and families who are experiencing homelessness, at

risk of homelessness, recently homeless, or victims of domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, sexual assault, or human trafficking. In 2021, HUD awarded \$1.1 billion – 70,000 vouchers – for 626 PHAs administering the HCV Program.

- HUD has additional **special purpose voucher programs** that serve people with disabilities:
 - vouchers for Non-Elderly Persons with Disabilities: Since 1997, HCVs have been awarded under different special purpose voucher program types to serve very low-income non-elderly adults with disabilities (NED).
 - HUD-vASH: The HUD-veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (HUD-vASH) Program combines HUD's HCV rental assistance for homeless Veterans with case management and clinical services provided by the VA. VA provides these services for participating Veterans at VA medical centers, community-based outreach clinics, through VA contractors, or through other VA designated entities.
 - » In August 2022, HUD awarded \$841,113 in Tribal HUD-VASH expansion grants to three Tribally Designated Housing Entities to help house 45 Native American Veterans experiencing or at risk of experiencing homelessness.
 - » And later, in September 2022, HUD awarded 28 Tribal HUD-VASH renewal awards, totaling more than \$9 million, to provide rental assistance and supportive services to Native American Veterans experiencing or at risk of homelessness.
 - Family Unification Program and Foster Youth to Independence: The Family Unification Program (FUP) is a program under which HCVs are provided to eligible families and youths involved in the child welfare system. The Foster Youth to Independence (FYI) initiative makes HCV assistance available to youth at least 18 years and not more than 24 years of age who left foster care or will leave foster care.

Public Housing

Public housing was established to provide decent and safe rental housing for eligible low-income families, older adults, and persons with disabilities. Public housing comes in all sizes and types, from scattered single-family houses to high rise apartments for older adults. There are approximately 900 thousand households living in public housing units, managed by some 2,700 PHAs.

Project Based Rental Assistance

HUD has provided over 1.2 million low-income families with decent, safe, and affordable housing via Project Based Rental Assistance (PBRA), including older adults and people with disabilities, to continue to live independently. When paired with quality voluntary supportive services, PBRA can help low-income individuals with disabilities obtain and maintain community-based stable housing and avoid institutional settings.

Homeless Assistance Programs

Individuals with disabilities are over-represented among people experiencing homelessness. Homelessness assistance programs provide funding to states and local governments and nonprofit providers to serve individuals and families across the United States who are affected by homelessness.

 Continuum of Care Program. The Continuum of Care (CoC) program promotes community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness. The program provides funding for efforts by nonprofit providers and state and local governments to quickly rehouse homeless individuals and families while minimizing the trauma and dislocation caused to homeless individuals, families, and communities by homelessness. The program connects individuals and families served to wraparound services provided through federal mainstream programs administered by federal agencies, such as Medicaid, behavioral health supports, Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), domestic violence supports, Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF), Head Start and Early Head Start, Healthy Start, and the Federal Home Visiting Program. Through provision of re-housing services and **wraparound supports**, the CoC program optimizes **self-sufficiency** among individuals and families experiencing homelessness.

In FY 2021, HUD provided over \$2.6 billion in funding for homeless assistance through its CoC programs, which include a variety of approaches to providing both emergency and long-term affordable housing and supportive services. This total included over \$1.7 billion specifically for **Permanent Supportive Housing** with funding provided to 4,056 local housing projects.

People with disabilities are significantly overrepresented among people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, and in June 2022, HUD issued a **first-of-its-kind funding package** as a targeted effort to reduce unsheltered homelessness and homelessness in rural areas. This funding package includes \$322 million in grants, including \$54.5 million set-aside for rural areas, to fund homeless outreach, permanent housing, supportive services, interim housing, planning, and data costs. In addition, HUD announced the availability of an additional \$43 million for special purpose housing vouchers to public housing authorities that partnered with CoC organizations that will receive grant funds through this funding package.

In August 2022, HUD announced the availability of \$2.8 billion in competitive funding to homeless services organizations across the country for supportive services and housing programs for people experiencing homelessness.

Youth Homelessness

The **Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program** (YHDP) is an initiative designed to reduce the number of youth experiencing homelessness. The goal of the YHDP is to support selected communities, including rural, suburban, and urban areas across the United States, in the development and implementation of a

coordinated community approach to preventing and ending youth homelessness. In March 2022, HUD made \$72 million in YHDP funding available to up to 25 communities nationwide.

Housing and Services Resource Center

The **Housing and Services Resource Center** is part of a partnership between HUD and HHS to make community living a reality for all. This partnership will expand accessible, affordable housing; help people exit homelessness; improve HCBS; and address the institutional bias in America's long-term care system. The Center was created for people who work in the organizations and systems that provide housing resources and homelessness services, behavioral and mental health services, independent living services and other supportive services, and others who are working to help people live successfully and stably in the community.

The goal of the Center is to foster collaboration and cross-sector partnerships, in order to streamline access to services, better leverage resources, and ultimately make community living possible for more people. People can use the Housing and Services Resource Center website to:

- Learn about how to develop and expand partnerships;
- Quickly find tools designed for community collaborations;
- Increase knowledge to support people with disabilities, older adults, and people experiencing homelessness to get and/or keep affordable and accessible housing and voluntary services; and
- Discover innovative models and strategies.

Housing Discrimination

The Fair Housing Act protects people from discrimination when they are renting or buying a home, getting a mortgage, seeking housing assistance, or engaging in other housing-related activities. Additional protections apply to federally assisted housing. The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in housing because of race, color, national origin, religion, sex (including gender identity and sexual orientation), familial status, and disability.

In June 2022, HUD allocated over \$30 million in funding for state and local fair housing enforcement agencies across the country under the Department's **Fair Housing Assistance Program (FHAP)**. HUD also issued guidance on the investigation of housing discrimination complaints that allege discrimination based on a housing provider's use of criminal records in tenant screening that specifically discusses how such practices can result in disability discrimination.

In July 2021, HUD announced that it made \$19.4 million available through HUD's **Fair Housing Initiatives Program (FHIP)** to fair housing organizations to conduct activities that address discriminatory housing practices related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The funds, which were provided through the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, will allow private fair housing enforcement organizations to respond to fair housing inquires and complaints, conduct fair housing testing, and implement education and outreach activities related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The funds are also being used to address fair housing issues affecting individuals and families experiencing housing instability, including those who may face displacement due to discriminatory evictions and foreclosures.

In September 2021, HUD awarded **\$47.4 million** to fair housing organizations across the country under its FHIP. The grants will support the efforts of 120 state and local fair housing organizations working to address and prevent violations of the Fair Housing Act and helping to end discrimination in housing.

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing

In addition to barring housing discrimination, the Fair Housing Act requires HUD and its funding recipients, such as local communities receiving HUD funds, to take affirmative steps to remedy fair housing issues such as segregated neighborhoods, lack of housing choice for protected class groups (including persons with disabilities), and unequal access to housingrelated opportunities. In 2023, HUD issued a major Proposed Rule to restore the Affirmatively Further Fair Housing mandate. As stated by HUD, the rule, "aims to remedy the effects of the long history of discrimination in housing, will help to foster opportunity in communities across the country where every resident can thrive," and to, "spur HUD program participants to take action in order to ensure members of protected classes have equitable access to affordable housing opportunities." Under the proposed rule, HUD grant recipients would be required to prepare an Equity Plan, to "be developed following robust community engagement, would contain their analysis of fair housing issues confronting their communities, goals, and strategies to remedy those issues in concrete ways, and a description of community engagement." Additionally, HUD is committed to providing communities that receive HUD funding with the technical support they need to meet their long-standing fair housing obligations.

U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)

The **U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)** ensures fair and impartial administration of justice for all Americans. The **Bureau of Justice Assistance** funds several programs that provide resources and services to individuals with autism and their families. Below are details about some specific programs.

- DOJ provides subject expertise to all of their Justice and Mental Health Collaboration Program Partnerships, and Connect and Protect Law Enforcement Behavioral Health Response grantees, on responding to people with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD).
- Organizations can request Free Training and Technical Assistance through the Arc.
 - Any state, locality, or federally recognized tribal government, as well as organizations such as non-profit behavioral health organizations, criminal justice agencies, and service providers, can request assistance from the Center for Justice and Mental Health Partnerships.
 - The goal of the center is to connect jurisdictions with the resources, knowledge, and skills necessary to improve responses to people at the intersection of criminal justice and behavioral health systems. Support can range from reviewing training protocols to sharing information on best practices and advising on program design, among other types of support.
- **Collaborative Comprehensive Case Plans** offer web-based tools and resources to better integrate behavioral health and needs information into comprehensive case plans that actively engage the participant and reflect a balanced and collaborative partnership between criminal justice, behavioral health, and social service systems.

- The Police-Mental Health Collaboration framework is intended to help jurisdictions advance comprehensive, agency-wide responses to people with mental health needs in partnership with behavioral health systems. The framework is accompanied by the PMHC toolkit and the PMHC self-assessment tool. The tool walks agencies through a series of questions to assess the status of their efforts and generates a unique action plan to strengthen that work.
- The Academic Training Initiative through the University of Cincinnati is a national initiative to enhance police engagement with people with behavioral health conditions and developmental disabilities.
 - The goals of the initiative are to:
 - » Raise awareness in the policing community about the nature and needs of people with behavioral health (BH) conditions and IDD;
 - » Provide training and resources on BH, IDD, and crisis response; and
 - » Support the use of evidence-informed, best practices in these responses.
 - Through the Collaborative Crisis Response and Intervention Training Program, the Bureau of Justice Assistance seeks applications for funding support to law enforcement on how to effectively partner with mental health, substance use disorder, and community service agencies to promote public safety and ensure appropriate responses to individuals who have behavioral health conditions, intellectual disabilities, developmental disabilities, or physical disabilities.

- The Justice and Mental Health Collaboration **Program** provides grants directly to states, local governments, and federally recognized Indian tribes to improve responses to people with mental health conditions who are involved in the criminal justice system. JMHCP funding requires collaboration with a mental health agency.
 - Communities across the country have used JMHCP funding to implement systemwide reforms that span first contact with the justice system to reentry and return to the community. This includes funding for crisis stabilization units, mental health courts, universal mental health screening and assessment in jail, permanent supportive housing, and community corrections mental health caseloads.
 - The program supports 14 Law Enforcement-Mental Health Learning Sites who serve as peer resources to grantees and communities across the country.
- Home Safe, The Kevin and Avonte Program: Reducing Injury and Death of Missing Individuals with Dementia and Developmental Disabilities through the International Association of Chiefs of Police
 - This program supports local jurisdictions' efforts to reduce the number of deaths and injuries of individuals with forms of dementia such as Alzheimer's disease or developmental disabilities such as autism who, due to their condition, wander from safe environments.

U.S. Department of Labor (DOL)

The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) works to foster full access to gainful employment opportunities for all Americans, including youth and adults with disabilities. DOL also seeks to advance career pathways for youth and adults through its support for workforce development and job training programs, including apprenticeships. The Office of Disability Employment Policy (ODEP) at DOL develops and influence policies and practices that increase the number and quality of employment opportunities for people with disabilities. Its work aligns with DOL's priorities of driving diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility (DEIA). DOL's Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA) works to ensure that participants and beneficiaries in Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1972 (ERISA)-covered plans with ASD can access treatment to improve their lives, including through enforcement of the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act (MHPAEA).

Initiatives at the Office of Disability Employment Policy (ODEP)

Enhancing policies and practices to foster supports and services for people on the autism spectrum and improve their access to gainful employment and careers represents a major priority at ODEP. Launched in 2021, ODEP runs the three-year, \$2.9 million project on **Research Support Services for Employment of Young Adults on the Autism Spectrum (REYAAS)**. The REYAAS project recognizes gainful employment as a key social determinant of health and a major contributor to quality of life.

The REYAAS project has released a **project fact sheet**; a **literature review on programs, models, and support strategies**; and a **literature review on program effectiveness**. The REYAAS project has also conducted a series of listening sessions on key facilitators and barriers to employment. These sessions involved youth and young adults on the autism spectrum, direct service providers, employers, advocates and policymakers, educators, and researchers. The REYAAS project released a **summary report** of these listening sessions that discussed barriers and facilitators to employment and careers.

Through this work, the REYAAS project seeks to learn more about promising practices, approaches, strategies, and policies to improve access to gainful employment for autistic people. This knowledge can help enhance and increase access to work-based learning, including internships and apprenticeships, jobs, and careers for young adults on the autism spectrum. It also aims to understand how to best support autistic workers in the workplace, including for mental and physical health at work. The project emphasizes the full inclusion of people on the autism spectrum who have diverse support and access needs, needs for services, communication styles, and backgrounds. It informs ODEP's work to enhance policies and practices that can drive access to gainful employment and career pathways for people with disabilities that match skills and talents.

Since 2020, ODEP has managed the \$6 million **Partnership on Inclusive Apprenticeship (PIA)** to help enhance career access through work-based learning. PIA advances policies and practices to foster pathways for career seekers with disabilities, including people who are neurodivergent. It places a major emphasis on driving apprenticeships in key high-growth, high-demand fields, such as information technology (IT), healthcare, and clean energy and financial services.

PIA provides outreach and technical assistance for intermediaries from industries, employers, providers of services, and all other interest groups. It has hosted the **Apprenticeship for All Podcast Series** (currently at 18 episodes) and released **resources for apprentices with disabilities** on starting career paths and **disclosing disabilities** and seeking work supports. PIA has released an **Equal Employment Opportunity Toolkit** and a spotlight on **success stories** for apprentices with disabilities, including neurodivergent people. It has also released resources for employers and intermediaries, such as a **guides to designing inclusive apprenticeship programs** and fostering **accessible on-the-job training**.

Supported by ODEP, the Job Accommodation Network (JAN) provides free, expert, and confidential guidance on job accommodations and work supports for people with disabilities. JAN provides assistance to workers and job seekers, supervisors and managers, providers of services, family members, and all other stakeholders. They can connect with JAN specialists by calling, emailing, or using live chat. JAN offers resources at its website on a wide range of disabilities, including **autism**, **ADHD**, and other forms of neurodivergence. Its website also shares resources for issues such as disclosure, job coaching, and assistive technology in the workplace.

Managed jointly by ODEP and the DoD, the Workforce Recruitment Program (WRP) is a recruitment and referral program. WRP connects employers from the federal and private sectors with college students and recent graduates with disabilities, including people who are neurodivergent, for internships and permanent jobs. WRP candidates can annually apply through their school campuses and then take part in elective informational interviews with federal workers who serve as volunteer recruiters. The Office of Personnel Management (OPM) recognizes WRP as a model strategy in its guidance to federal agencies regarding the recruitment and hiring of people with disabilities. Since the program's expansion in 1995, thousands of students and recent graduates have received temporary and permanent opportunities for gainful employment through the WRP.

The **Partnership on Employment & Accessible Technology (PEAT)** advances inclusion and access for the emerging and future workplace in the United States. PEAT helps support workers and job seekers with disabilities, employers, and all others by fostering policies and practices that can support full access at the forefront. It provides accessibility toolkits for issues such as teleworking, staff training, and workplace policies. It also shares resources on the emerging future of work, such as on equal access and inclusion for automated vehicles, equitable broadband, and the increasing use of artificial intelligence and extended reality in the workplace.

Launched in 2019, the **Center for Advancing Policy on Employment for Youth (CAPE-Youth)** helps address barriers that youth and young adults with disabilities may face. It focuses on their transition from youth systems into adulthood and barriers that can result in lower employment outcomes, educational attainment, and community participation than their peers. CAPE-Youth works to improve employment outcomes by helping states build capacity in their youth service delivery and workforce systems. It conducts research, develops partnerships, and shares best and promising practices.

CAPE-Youth also helps states identify new ways to expand career pathways, work-based learning, strategic partnerships, and coordination of systems. **The Guideposts for Success: Framework for the Future** drives the work of CAPE-Youth by outlining the five key domains for programs and services. These five domains consist of preparing for careers, school life, engagement with families, youth development and leadership, and connecting activities.

Federal initiatives at ODEP that interconnect healthcare and employment include the **Retaining Employment and Talent after Injury/Illness Network (RETAIN),** which launched in 2018. The RETAIN demonstration projects facilitate the development of approaches and strategies for people to stay at work and return to work after an injury or illness. Funded by ODEP and the SSA, RETAIN has supported demonstration grants to eight state teams in Phase 1. The goals of the RETAIN initiative include ensuring retention of employment and participation in the labor force for people who acquire or may likely develop disabilities that inhibit their ability to work. RETAIN also focuses on decreasing long-term work absence; this emphasis includes reducing the need for SSDI and SSI. The RETAIN initiative is highly relevant for people on the autism spectrum: Research shows that many people on the autism spectrum have secondary conditions that can affect their physical and mental health and wellness. Additionally, people on the autism spectrum may meet the eligibility criteria for SSDI and SSI. In 2021, the RETAIN initiative awarded four-year, Phase 2 grants to five of the state teams from Phase 1 to build upon their success in supporting stay-at-work and return-to-work for people with disabilities.

ODEP launched the **Advancing State Policy Integration for Recovery and Employment (ASPIRE) initiative in 2020.** ASPIRE seeks to support and expand access to competitive, integrated employment for people with mental health conditions. It assists seven states that are working to integrate their policies, programs, and funding systems to expand evidence-based mental health services for people with mental health conditions. ASPIRE emphasizes the use of best and promising practices, such as the Individual Placement and Support Model of Supported Employment. ODEP's State Exchange on Employment & Disability (SEED) initiative is a unique state-federal collaboration that supports state and local governments to develop and implement disability-inclusive policies and best practices that lead to increased employment opportunities for people with disabilities, including those who are neurodivergent. SEED supports partnerships and collaborations with 19 state and local intermediary organizations that reach more than 7,000 legislators, 50 governors, 50 lieutenant governors, 1,400 mayors, and 3,000 county governments. By leveraging its intermediary partners, the SEED collaborative supports states' needs through: testimony and expertise; state priority mapping, data collection, and policy analysis; and policy development and implementation support. State policy options range from examining state disability employment policies and expanding transportation options for job seekers with disabilities to providing incentives for the private sector to employ people with disabilities and fostering youth transition policies.

In addition to policy development work with states and federal agencies, ODEP shares key resources and information on employment topics through its **website**. ODEP's **Autism webpage** provides resources and information for employers, job seekers and transition-aged youth on the autism spectrum, service providers, and policymakers. Likewise, ODEP's website offers topic resource pages on issues, such as **Mental Health** and **Health Care**.

Ensuring Compliance with MHPAEA for ASD

EBSA enforces Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, including the requirements of MHPAEA, with respect to two million private employment-based group health plans, which cover approximately 137 million participants and beneficiaries. MHPAEA generally provides that financial requirements (such as coinsurance and copays) and treatment limitations (such as visit limits) imposed on mental health or substance use disorder (MH/SUD) benefits cannot be more restrictive than the predominant financial requirements and treatment limitations that apply to substantially all medical/surgical benefits in a classification. In addition, MHPAEA prohibits separate treatment limitations that apply only to MH/SUD benefits. EBSA has issued guidance to emphasize that plans and issuers must ensure that treatment limitations on benefits for ASD do not violate the requirements of MHPAEA.* This includes benefits for ABA therapy.

EBSA is committed to ensuring that participants and beneficiaries in ERISA-covered plans with ASD can access treatment to improve their lives. Vigorous enforcement of MHPAEA has been one of the agency's top enforcement priorities, with EBSA working with health insurance issuers and other service providers to group health plans to obtain widespread corrections of violations affecting multiple group health plans. In a recent enforcement action, EBSA investigated exclusions of coverage for ABA therapy, a primary treatment for ASD, by service providers to self-insured plans. As a result of these investigations, several large service providers have made changes to provide coverage of ABA therapy for their self-insured plan clients, affecting close to a million and a half participants.**

^{*} See FAQs about Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Parity Implementation and the 21st Century Cures Act Part 39, Q1, available at https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/EBSA/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource-center/faqs/aca-part-39-final.pdf and https://www.hhs.gov/guidance/document/affordable-care-act-implementation-faqs-final-set-39.

^{**} See 2022 MHPAEA Report to Congress, pages 21 and 39, available at https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/EBSA/laws-andregulations/laws/mental-health-parity/report-to-congress-2022-realizing-parity-reducing-stigma-and-raising-awareness.pdf
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT)

The **U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT)** works to deliver the world's leading transportation system, serving the American people and economy through the safe, efficient, sustainable, and equitable movement of people and goods. DOT-funded research and activities broadly impact the well-being of individuals with disabilities, including those with ASD, and their families and help ensure access to important supports including disability employment, recreational activities, community living, and respite for family caregivers. One example of DOT funding that can help fund transportation that provides such access is the **Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program**.

The **National Aging and Disability Transportation Center (NADTC)** was established by the DOT in 2015. NADTC promotes the availability and accessibility of transportation options that meet the needs of older adults, people with disabilities, and caregivers. The mission of NADTC is to:

- Serve professionals in the fields of transportation, aging, disability, human services, and caregiving.
- Provide resources, training, and information through an information and referral hotline, website, as well as both distance and online training.
- Empower communities across the country to implement or improve innovative transportation programs at the local level.
- Support older adults, people with disabilities of all ages, and their families to help them find the best mobility options in their communities to reach their destinations of choice.

The National Rural Transit Assistance Program (RTAP) operates under a cooperative agreement between the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Neponset valley Transportation Management Association, and its mission is to address the training and technical assistance needs of rural and tribal transit operators across the nation and to support state RTAP programs. The National RTAP provides technical assistance related to ASD and travel, including an Easterseals Project Action Consulting presentation during a session of the 2017 National RTAP Technical Assistance Conference and response to a recent technical assistance request for autism training for school bus drivers.

On February 11, 2020, NIMH sponsored a free webinar which featured presentations by the National Center for Mobility Management and the FTA on transportation and mobility services for youth with autism transitioning out of high school. The webinar helped users leverage mobility resources and develop connections with transportation providers and services.

The DOT's Accessible Transportation Technologies Research Initiative (ATTRI) was a joint multi-modal, multi-agency initiative, co-led by the Federal Highway Administration, FTA, and Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office, with support from the National Institute on Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation Research (NIDILRR) within HHS/ACL, and other federal partners. The ATTRI Program developed and implemented transformative applications to improve mobility options for all travelers, particularly those with disabilities. ATTRI research focused on removing barriers to transportation for people with visual, hearing, cognitive, and mobility disabilities. Technologies and creative service models funded by ATTRI offer all Americans enhanced travel choices and accessibility at levels once only imagined. DOT awarded application development funding for Wayfinding and Navigation, Pre-trip Concierge & Virtualization, and Safe Intersection Crossing, with NIDILRR awarding a grant in the Robotics and Automation technology area. Taken together, the four technology areas help break down barriers along the Complete Trip, ensuring equal access to the transportation network, and the benefits of mobility for all.

U.S. Social Security Administration (SSA)

The mission of the **Social Security Administration** (SSA) is to ensure equity and accessibility in delivering services by improving customer experience and addressing systemic barriers to participation in SSA's programs. SSA administers two disability programs authorized under the Social Security Act – the **Social Security Disability Insurance program (SSDI)** and the **Supplemental Security Income program (SSI)**. The SSDI and SSI programs provide assistance to people with disabilities. Under these programs, the SSA evaluates claims relating to ASD for both adults (aged 18-64 years) and children (aged <18 years). While these two programs are different, the medical requirements are the same. Individuals may claim benefits under both programs concurrently.

- The SSDI program pays benefits to the disabled individual and certain family members if the beneficiary is "insured," i.e., they have worked long enough – and recently enough – and paid Social Security taxes on their earnings. Those receiving SSDI benefits also generally are eligible for Medicare after a 24-month qualifying period. The first 24 months of disability benefit entitlement is the waiting period for Medicare coverage.
- The **SSI** program provides financial assistance to meet basic needs for food, clothing, and shelter to adults and children with disabilities who have limited income and resources. SSI is funded by general tax revenues. In most states, SSI recipients qualify for Medicaid automatically without the need to fill out a Medicaid application or qualify after applying.
- As of December 2021, approximately 418,000 individuals with a primary impairment of ASD – approximately 215,000 children (under 18 years of age) and 203,000 adults (18-64 years of age) – received SSI payments; children received an average monthly payment of \$678 and adults received an average monthly payment of \$652. In addition, approximately 110,000 SSDI beneficiaries had a primary impairment of ASD, of whom 27 percent

were workers and 73 percent were adult children; workers received an average monthly payment of \$804 and adult children received an average monthly payment of \$957. Out of approximately 275,000 total adult recipients with a primary impairment of ASD, 62 percent received SSI only, 26 percent received SSDI only, and 12 percent received both SSI and SSDI.

 In calendar year 2020, the latest year for which data is available, SSA processed 22,979 first-time adult and 29,505 first-time child claims for ASD. Of those claims, 71 percent of adult claims and 73 percent of child claims met requirements following initial determination/reconsideration and were allowed benefits, compared to 39 percent and 47 percent, respectively, for all impairments.

SSA also runs the **Ticket to Work** program. This is a free and voluntary program that connects eligible individuals with free employment services. It is available to everyone age 18 through 64 who receives SSDI and/or SSI benefits because of his or her disability. Of the 342,369 SSDI and/or SSI beneficiaries with either a primary or secondary diagnosis of ASD who were either receiving payments or whose payments were suspended due to their wage income in 2020, 89,701 (26.2 percent) had participated in the Ticket to Work program and used either Employment Networks or State VR Agency services at some point while receiving benefits.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)

The **Department of veterans Affairs (vA)** is committed serving and honoring America's veterans by ensuring access to timely, high quality benefits and services. As part of this commitment, the VA's Veterans Health Administration delivers **healthcare** to the more than nine million enrolled veterans each year, including veterans with autism or other disabilities, through the largest integrated healthcare network in the United States, with 1,298 health care facilities. In addition, the **Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Department of veterans Affairs (CHAMPvA)**, a health benefits program which provides coverage to the spouse or widow(er) and children of veterans not eligible for TRICARE, allows ABA as a covered health benefit.



SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION



Autism affects an estimate of 1 in 44 children¹ in the United States and approximately two percent of adults.² In addition to the social and communication challenges experienced by people on the autism spectrum, some also have language or intellectual disabilities or co-occurring physical and mental health conditions. These co-occurring conditions can include epilepsy, GI, sleep, mental and physical health conditions. Specialized supportive services can help to improve skills and alleviate co-occurring conditions, promote and facilitate learning, preempt and/or address behavioral challenges, promote health, improve quality of life, and optimize independence over the lifespan.^{355,356} Supportive services for people with autism include behavioral interventions, mental health services, speech/ language therapy, physical therapy, employment services, social groups, advocacy training, and many more. Supportive services are also beneficial to the caregivers and family members of individuals with autism, including respite care, support and sibling groups, and family/systems navigation services.

This report provides an overview of the evidence base for positive outcomes linked to receipt of these services and many more. The report also includes information submitted by the Departments of Health and Human Services, Defense, Education, Housing and Urban Development, Justice, Labor, Transportation, and Veterans Affairs, as well as the Social Security Administration, on their specific programs and efforts in support of services for people with autism and/or disabilities. In this final section, the report provides a summary of the different pathways of coverage for services, as well as identification of ongoing areas of need.

PATHWAYS TO COVERAGE OF SERVICES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM

This report reviews several different pathways to obtaining coverage of services for people with autism. The types of services covered, duration, intensity, and eligibility requirements vary under different forms of coverage, which may further vary by state. Below, we provide a summary of the services coverage options available to individuals with autism and their families.

Medicaid, administered by CMs, is jointly operated between the states and the federal government. It provides healthcare coverage for individuals below certain income thresholds. Income and eligibility requirements can vary by state. The SSI program is an important Medicaid eligibility pathway for people with ID/DD. Most children enrolled in Medicaid receive services through a Medicaid health plan, such as a health maintenance organization (HMO) or other insurance company. The state Medicaid agency and the Medicaid health plan determines which services are "medically necessary" and which providers can be reimbursed for services. Services typically covered include case management, physical, occupational, and speech therapies, and ABA. The EPSDT Medicaid benefit mandates the provision of all medically necessary healthcare services found in section 1905(a) of the Social Security Act, including screening, diagnostic, and treatment services, to Medicaid beneficiaries under the age of 21.

When a child receives extended care in an institutional setting, Medicaid disregards family income as an eligibility requirement and makes the determination based solely on the child's income. The Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA/Katie Beckett State Plan Option) of 1982 (PL No. 97-248, Section 134), makes it possible to do the same for a family whose child requires care at the level provided in an institution, but who can safely be cared for at home, as long as it is cost neutral to the state to do so. Under TEFRA/Katie Beckett, states can disregard income eligibility requirements and provide Medicaid coverage if a child with a disability (including autism) requires a level of care that could be reasonably provided in a hospital, skilled nursing facility, or an intermediate care facility for individuals with ID. Currently, 18 states and the District of Columbia have chosen to implement the TEFRA/Katie Beckett State Plan Option.

Head Start and Early Head Start programs are free, federally funded programs designed to promote school readiness for children from low-income families. Head Start and Early Head Start work closely with the IDEA Part B funded early childhood program and the IDEA Part C early intervention program. They cover children ages birth to age 5. These programs are required to serve children with special needs, which may include children with autism. **Early Head Start programs** offer services to infants with significant disabilities and their families. Families must **apply** in order to enroll their child in a Head Start Program.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 is a federal law designed to protect the rights of individuals with disabilities. Section 504 regulations require a school district to provide a FAPE to each qualified student with a disability who is in the school district's jurisdiction, regardless of the nature or severity of the disability. The Office for Civil Rights (OCR) of ED enforces Section 504 in programs and activities that receive federal financial assistance from the ED. OCR also enforces IDEA, which was first enacted in 1975 and most recently revised in 2004 as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA). IDEA extends the prohibition against discrimination to the full range of state and local government services, programs, and activities (including public schools) regardless of whether they receive any federal financial assistance. IDEA mandates that children with various disabilities, including autism, are entitled to a public education that meets their individual needs in the "least restrictive environment" possible. The IDEA provides states with federal grants to support early intervention programs. For children with autism younger than 3 years, early intervention services, such as speech therapy, ABA, occupational therapy, physical therapy, and family training can be received through these programs. For children 3 years and older, special education services are provided by the local school district through their special education department. School-based services are available until children graduate from high school and based upon the unique needs of the individual. These services may include supports such as speech therapy,

occupational therapy, physical therapy, academic tutoring, behavioral supports during the school day, peer-to-peer mentoring, and transition services. A student's IEP describes the needs of the child and how these needs will be met within the context of the school district.

Waiver programs are used to deliver some kinds of services for people with disabilities. A waiver program approved by the CMS allows states to waive certain provisions to allow Medicaid services to be delivered in a different place, to people with different needs, or different income levels. Nearly all states and the District of Columbia offer **HCBS Medicaid Waivers**, which are fee-for-service programs.

These must follow federal guidelines and are available to people who prefer to get long-term care services and supports in their home or community, rather than in an institutional setting. State HCBS Waiver programs must: 1) Demonstrate that providing waiver services won't cost more than providing these services in an institution, 2) Ensure the protection of people's health and welfare, 3) Provide adequate and reasonable provider standards to meet the needs of the target population, and 4) Ensure that services follow an individualized and person-centered plan of care. States can waive certain Medicaid program requirements under HCBS Waivers, including comparability of services criteria and income eligibility requirements. States can offer a variety of autism services under an HCBS Waiver program, such as intensive individual support services, respite care, and adult life planning.357 HCBS Waivers can help to meet the service needs of people with autism and decrease their unmet healthcare needs.358-360 Further, having choices in the selection of services and service providers, as well as control over day-today provision of services, strengthens the impact of the waiver services for both individuals and their families.³⁶¹ In light of the heightened demand for autism services and long waiting lists, some states developed waivers specifically for children with ASD; the development of adult autism-specific waivers are less frequent.^{355,362-364} This website provides a complete list of Medicaid waivers for each state.

If a family earns too much to qualify for Medicaid and their child is not covered under a group health plan or other creditable health insurance, publicly funded health insurance may be obtained through **CHIP**. CHIP is administered **by states**, according to federal requirements. The program is funded jointly by states and the federal government. Every state administers its own CHIP program with broad guidance from CMS. Coverage for ABA and other autism services varies by state.

An additional way for families and individuals to pay for autism supportive services is through the Achieving a Better Life Experience (ABLE) Act. The ABLE Act was signed into law on December 19, 2014. The ABLE Act amended the federal tax code to allow families the opportunity to set up tax-exempt 529A savings accounts for disability-related expenses. Account funds are generally not considered for the SSI program, Medicaid, and other federal means-tested benefits. ABLE accounts enable people with autism and their families to save for housing, education, transportation, medical and other expenses related to their disability. This allows individuals with disabilities, including autism, to save for their future needs without losing access to other resources. Forty states, including the District of Columbia, offer ABLE programs.

The SSDI and SSI programs are also available to provide assistance to people with disabilities. The SSDI program pays benefits to the disabled individual and certain family members. Everyone eligible for SSDI benefits is also eligible for Medicare after a 24-month qualifying period. In addition, the SSI program provides financial assistance to meet basic needs for food, clothing, and shelter to adults and children with disabilities who have limited income and resources and is funded by general tax revenues. In most states, SSI recipients qualify for Medicaid.

For U.S. services members, retirees, and their families, **TRICARE** covers many **services** for beneficiaries with autism. These include occupational therapy, physical therapy, physician services, psychological services, psychological testing, prescription drugs, and speech therapy. TRICARE covers ABA for all eligible beneficiaries diagnosed with autism through the TRICARE **Comprehensive Autism Care Demonstration (ACD)**. To qualify for the ACD, active duty service members must enroll in the **Exceptional Family Member Program (EFMP)** and register in the **Extended Care Health Option (ECHO)**. In addition, the Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Department of Veterans Affairs (CHAMPVA) is a health benefits program that provides coverage to the spouse or widow(er) and children of veterans not eligible for TRICARE. CHAMPVA allows ABA as a covered health benefit.

Individuals with autism and their families also have the option to obtain private insurance coverage through health insurance plans run by private insurance companies. Based on data from the 2019 National Survey of Children's Health, a recent study estimates that about 44 percent of children with ASD are covered by private insurance.³⁶⁵ For working-age adults with disabilities, health insurance was dramatically improved by insurance expansions driven by the Affordable Care Act in 2014. However, it is possible that the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in disruptions to employment that have impacted private insurance coverage. By 2019, all 50 U.S. states had enacted private autism insurance mandate legislation requiring coverage of autism-related services. Forty-seven of these states clearly specify coverage for ABA in their mandates.³⁶⁵ On their website, the National Conference of State Legislators provides detailed information about insurance coverage state laws as they specifically pertain to people with autism. The intent of private insurance mandate legislation was to cover a larger breadth of services that include medically necessary services available for the treatment of ASD. Despite these mandates, studies indicate that many privately insured children with ASD are primarily treated through publicly funded systems.366,367

FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS AND RESEARCH ON SERVICES FOR PEOPLE WITH AUTISM

As reviewed in this report, there are many examples of federal activities focused on services and supports for individuals on the autism spectrum and their families:

- The Administration for Children and Families (ACF) Office of Head Start (OHS) maintains the disabilities services section of the Early Childhood Learning and Knowledge Center website, which provides evidence-based resources such as the Disability Services Coordinator Orientation Guide.
- The Administration for Community Living (ACL) funds programs in all states and territories that support individuals with autism in a variety of ways, including areas such as social skills, transportation, employment, and caregiver supports (programs vary by state).
- The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) administers Medicaid and CHIP.
- The Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) funds the **State Public Health Coordinating Center for Autism (SPHARC)**, which provides technical assistance and supportive services for autism in a variety of areas.
- The Indian Health Service (IHS) provides education, training, consultation, and resources to clinicians treating patients with neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD, through the IHS Indian Children's Program (ICP).
- The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) funds block grants that can support a broad array of services for children with mental health conditions, including autism.
- The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) within the Department of Education (ED) is responsible for overseeing the administration of IDEA, through which many children with autism receive early intervention services and special education and related services.

- The Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA), within the Department of Education (ED), provides leadership and resources to assist state and other agencies in providing vocational rehabilitation and other services to individuals with disabilities, including those with ASD, to maximize their employment and independence.
- The Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) provides funding to develop and subsidize rental housing with the availability of supportive services for very low- and extremely low-income adults with disabilities.
- The Bureau of Justice Assistance within the Department of Justice (DOJ) provides free technical assistance to organizations such as non-profit behavioral health organizations, criminal justice agencies, and service providers on responding to people with intellectual and developmental disabilities.
- The Department of Labor (DOL)'s Office of Disability Employment Policy (ODEP) conducts policy development work with states and federal agencies to support the integrated employment of people with disabilities.
- The Department of Transportation (DOT) has developed and implemented transformative applications to improve mobility options for people with disabilities.
- The Social Security Administration (SSA) administers two disability programs authorized under the Social Security Act; the SSDI and SSI.
- The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) delivers healthcare to the more than nine million enrolled veterans each year, including veterans with autism or other disabilities, Veterans Health Administration, in addition to the Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Department of Veterans Affairs (CHAMPVA), which allows ABA as a covered health benefit.

Federal departments and agencies are also funding research efforts related to the provision of supportive services and interventions for individuals with autism:

- The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) has several ongoing projects that provide analysis of service utilization by people with disabilities, including autism.
- The U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) Autism Research Program (ARP) is funding research on interventions promoting success in key transitions to adulthood and healthcare provider-focused training or tools to improve healthcare delivery for individuals with ASD.
- The Defense Health Agency (DHA) has been working with the Congressionally Directed Medical Research Program (CDMRP) to better understand the impact of ABA services for people with autism.
- The National Institutes of Health (NIH) supports work to connect families to resources when they first receive a diagnosis through the Autism ACTION Network, as well as the ASD Pediatric Early Detection, Engagement, and Services (PEDS) Network, which has a number of service-related research projects currently underway.

ONGOING AREAS OF NEED

As reviewed above, there are numerous ongoing service-related federal efforts and multiple pathways to obtaining coverage of certain services for children and adults with autism. Coverage and the services received is affected by the insurance policies in place at the state (i.e., HCBS waivers, insurance mandates) and federal level (i.e., Medicaid, CHIP), an individual's or family's ability to spend out-of-pocket, as well as their familiarity with and comfort level with navigating the service system.^{368,369,370} The difficulty of obtaining coverage for supportive services is further compounded by the fact that different rules are instituted in different states, which may have different eligibility criteria, age caps, and dollar limits. This complexity is well illustrated by the eligibility requirement of a formal diagnosis for receipt of certain services; documentation of a diagnosis that is useful in one context may not meet eligibility requirements in another context, and different states and programs may have different requirements. This can be a major stumbling block

for many families. Certain supportive services may only be covered once they have cleared a time and resource-intensive review to establish a base of efficacy, but this does not reflect the full range of services that are being used by members of the autism community. Future research is needed to establish the evidence base of efficacy for some of the services that individuals are currently using and find helpful in their daily lives and in alleviating co-occurring conditions. Some of these services are not covered by health insurance or federal or state benefits and can only be accessed by paying out of pocket.

Family Navigation

The complexity of the supportive services landscape points to one important area of need: family navigation supports to help families identify and coordinate care among the various providers, service types, and forms of coverage. Services are often fragmented among many different providers and in some cases, families may not be aware of the types of supports that are available to them. Families who are already facing significant functional impairments and disabilityassociated life stressors may have to shoulder additional burden of navigating complicated gatekeeping requirements before even identifying whether appropriate supports and services are actually available in their community. In some instances, providers may receive conflicting guidance on whether or not they are able to serve a person with autism, or if they should be referred to other services specific for those with DD. As a result, autistic individuals' co-occurring conditions, such as mental health conditions, may go unaddressed. Family navigation services have been found to be effective in improving access and adherence to services over time,³⁷¹ but tools designed specifically for families following a diagnosis of autism are currently limited.³⁷² To be offered starting in October 2022, a new Medicaid health home benefit for children with medically complex conditions is a step towards meeting this need. This benefit will help state Medicaid programs provide person-centered care management, care coordination, and patient and family support. Fragmentation of the service system may be further improved by enhanced "wrap-around" or "continuum

of care" services. Wrap-around services refer to the practice of providing all the various services that an individual may need over time across different areas in their life (e.g., home, school, community). Wrap-around service delivery is a team-based, collaborative case management approach where a number of professionals work together to provide a holistic program of supports. This coordinated approach can help to improve outcomes for individuals and their families.^{373,374}

Consistency of Coverage

Given the different forms of coverage for autism-related services, researchers are beginning to evaluate whether the type of healthcare coverage has an impact on the services an individual receives. A recent study found that privately insured children with autism are less likely to have health insurance plans that covered a fuller range of needed services compared to children with federally funded health insurance.375 Additional work has found that children with ASD enrolled in Medicaid were more likely to have visits to occupational therapists, physical therapists, and behavioral therapists compared to children with private insurance.³⁷⁶ Furthermore, research indicates that children with ASD-related HCBS waivers are more likely to have outpatient visits and less likely to have inpatient visits and long-term treatment than children without HCBS waivers.²⁰ A recent scoping review found preliminary evidence that HCBS waivers for people with IDD benefit states economically, reduce unmet healthcare needs, increase parental ability to continue working, and reduce racial disparities in care access.³⁷⁷ Further research in this area is needed in order to ensure consistency of care and services received by individuals with autism and their families.

Workforce Shortages

A significant barrier in accessing services is the shortage in the workforce of **direct support professionals** (**DSPs**). Autistic individuals and their families face difficulties in accessing providers with expertise in working with people with autism and sufficient training in related areas, such as AAC.³⁷⁸⁻³⁸¹ DSPs **support people with disabilities** to participate fully in their communities, in areas such as caregiving, support with daily activities of living, mobility assistance, accessing resources, emotional support, and employment support. Because of these shortages, families may have to **drive long distances** to see providers and may experience delays or gaps in access to therapies and services.

Despite rising demand for DSPs, it is estimated that the median wage for direct care is approximately **\$13.00 per hour**, with a significant proportion living below the federal poverty level and almost half relying on some form of public assistance.³⁸²⁻³⁸³ DSPs are faced with a physically and emotionally demanding workload with limited training and inadequate supervision, leading to low job satisfaction and high rates of turnover. In 2018, **14 percent of DSPs** reported not having health insurance and 71.3 percent reported having their own medical debt. Addressing these issues within the DSP profession would greatly improve the availability of supportive services for people with autism of all ages.

More training programs for service professionals in every service field would be helpful in addressing shortages. For example, there is a need for increased training for those involved in the provision of mental health services to address the unique needs of people with autism. An enhanced workforce focused on preventative care could help to reduce the number of individuals with autism who may not access services until they are in acute or crisis care.^{384,385} Federal agencies such as HRSA and ACL fund **programs** to provide training for direct support professionals, but more programs and program capacity are needed to meet the growing needs of the autism and disability communities.

Diagnostic Services

As reviewed earlier in this report, an additional area of ongoing need is the long gap between referral and diagnostic assessment. Long waitlists have resulted in a two-year difference between the earliest signs of ASD and the average age of diagnosis,³⁹ with minoritized populations waiting even longer to be evaluated.⁴⁰ Shortages in healthcare providers in underserved geographic areas, time-consuming evaluations, and the high cost of care contribute to disparities in diagnosis.³⁸⁶ Individuals attempting to obtain a diagnosis in adulthood also experience long wait times. A survey of 77 adults diagnosed with ASD found that participants were self-diagnosed for an average of 3.25 years before they received a formal diagnosis.³⁸⁷ Self-diagnosis can be problematic because it relies on information available on the internet, which may not be accurate and lead to misdiagnosis, unrealistic expectations for treatment, increasing anxiety, and promoting distrust of professionals.³⁸⁸ However, the dearth of providers who can accurately diagnose autism in adults make it difficult for individuals who suspect they may be on the autism spectrum to access diagnostic services.³⁸⁹ Medical home models, a tiered system of developmental screening and early ASD evaluation, and other clinical models have been tested to reduce the gap between referral and diagnosis.³⁹⁰⁻³⁹³ Recent developments leveraging new technologies in telemedicine can also help to remediate these problems and increase access to diagnostic services.³⁹ Further research is needed to establish the validity of diagnostic assessment through telehealth tools for children and adults and train and increase the number of service providers across a range of geographical and socioeconomic settings to connect individuals to timely diagnostic services.

Waitlists for Services

People in need of HCBS often face barriers to accessing services, such as long waitlists for Medicaid HCBS waiver slots. HCBS allows states to **limit** how many people receive services and states may manage costs by limiting services to a finite number of beneficiaries which as noted earlier, can create a barrier to access. It is estimated that individuals with ID/DD spend **48 months** on a waiting list before enrolling in a Medicaid HCBS waiver. Parents of children with autism cite long waitlists as a top concern in obtaining services.³⁹⁴ For adults with autism, a recent study found that the waiting list for receiving HCBS through Medicaid is months long, resulting in unmet needs for functional skills supports, employment or vocational services, housing supports, and mental and behavioral health services.³⁹⁵ It is important to note that while 656,000 people across the United States were reported to be on waiting lists in 2021, this is not a true indication of unmet need as not all states screen for Medicaid eligibility prior to adding people to waiting lists and over half of people on waiting lists for HCBS **may not be eligible** to receive those services. Recent legislation has been passed in some states to decrease waiting times (e.g., Maryland), but further targeted efforts may be required to meet increasing demand and reach particularly underserved populations, including minority racial/ethnic groups, individuals who may be more isolated, and as they age away from the supports provided throughout childhood and adolescence.³⁹⁵

The Services Cliff

Aging out of the supportive services system provided in schools under IDEA and under Medicaid's EPSDT benefit is a top concern for individuals with autism and their families. Most individuals will continue to need some types of services or supports in adulthood, but many do not qualify for adult services.²⁶ This is often described as "falling off the services cliff," referring to the dramatic decline in access to services during the transition to adulthood.³¹ It is estimated that approximately 26 percent of young adults on the autism spectrum receive no services - services which could help them become employed, continue their education, or live more independently.²⁶ As individuals with autism progress into adulthood, there are a variety of areas and challenges that could be improved through increased coverage for supportive services. These include unemployment, underemployment, economic vulnerability, and premature mortality.^{396,397} Compared to their peers with other types of disabilities, young adults with autism have the lowest rate of employment, at 58 percent.²⁶ People who are unemployed are at risk of "falling through the cracks" in healthcare coverage and not receiving the services they need. The disconnect between the mental health and DD services systems increases the likelihood of individuals "falling through the cracks"; because mental health services are based around serious mental illness, people with autism are often not eligible unless they have a diagnosed co-occurring

mental health issue. Furthermore, DD services are often based on ID and IQ, and a person with autism who does not qualify based on those criteria thus would not be eligible to receive those supportive services. Autistic adults also face many barriers in accessing appropriate physical healthcare.³⁹⁸

Services for Older Adults

Further research is needed to identify and understand the full range of health and social support services needed by older autistic adults in areas such as continued support related to autistic traits, co-occurring mental health difficulties and physical health challenges, communication, social connection, daily living skills, and long term supports in the absence of family caregivers or adequate long term planning.³⁹⁹⁻⁴⁰¹ While there are many existing programs providing services and supports for older adults with disabilities, research and evaluation are needed to determine if those services and supports need to be adapted to meet the specific needs of autistic individuals. As many older autistic adults may not actually be diagnosed, having services that are adapted to meet the functional needs of a broad range of individuals, including autistic individuals, is especially important to help ensure that each individual will be able to receive appropriate services that correspond to their needs.

Racial, Ethnic, and Geographic Disparities

Racial, ethnic, and geographic disparities in autism are well-established,⁴⁰² with many disparities present in areas related to service provision and accessibility.⁴⁰³ Family- and neighborhood-level socioeconomic status (SES), as well as racial and ethnic minority status, are strongly related to disparities in **access** to quality autism care.⁴⁰⁴ Families living in low-SES neighborhoods and rural areas are more likely to be located in a service "desert," areas of low service availability and fewer providers.⁴⁰⁵ Research has found that Black and minoritized families with autism are not as quickly enrolled in services in the first years of life following a diagnosis,^{406,407} and non-white children in general are diagnosed, referred, and screened later than their white peers, resulting in delayed onset of treatment.⁴⁰⁸ Minority families are also under-represented in evidence-based treatments and services in autism.^{406,409,410} Language barriers have been noted as a factor in the lower number of hours of direct services received by non-English speaking families compared to English-speaking families.⁴¹¹ For example, a substantially lower percentage of Latino children receive school-based occupational therapy and physical therapy as compared with non-Latino white children.⁴¹² Additional research is needed to improve access to supports and services for families from diverse backgrounds and for whom English is not their primary language. Further, there is a need to increase cultural competency among service providers ⁴¹³ and consider diverse experiences, preferences, and values in the design and provision of autism services for families and their children.414

Impacts of COvID-19

Lastly, it is important to acknowledge the known and unknown impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the services and supports of people with autism and other disabilities. A recent report found that fewer disability benefit claims were filed during the pandemic, as well as claims by certain vulnerable populations.⁴¹⁵ People with disabilities experience systemic inequities in healthcare access, social determinants of health, morbidity, and mortality compared to people without disabilities.⁴¹⁶ The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated existing inequities for people with disabilities, who have been disproportionately impacted with increased infections, hospitalizations, and death, in addition to interruptions in essential services and supports and social isolation. At the same time, the pandemic ushered in rapid policy and service adaptations that increased accessibility for some, such as through the use of telehealth.

The paragraphs above briefly review areas of ongoing need and opportunity in the realm of supportive services for individuals with autism. Further in-depth detail and research can be found in the IACC Strategic Plan for Autism Spectrum Disorder, which outlines priority areas for enhanced research, services, and policy issues.

Conclusion

Individuals with autism have complex medical, behavioral, educational, and social service needs. Because the combination and degree of characteristics can differ greatly from one individual to another, there are many diverse service needs among the autism community. Often services are provided through a range of government agencies and providers that frequently require integration and collaboration between healthcare, education, employment, and social support sectors.⁴¹⁷⁻⁴¹⁸ As reviewed in this report, there are multiple pathways to obtaining service coverage and numerous federal programs and efforts underway related to autism services. Despite these efforts, available funds are limited and individuals and families may be unable to access or afford the full scope of services that could help to improve their health and well-being or that of their loved one in all relevant areas. Often a "patchwork" of service provision and coverage is needed in order to begin to meet the service needs of an individual. Navigating the requirements among different options for eligibility and coverage can be challenging.

A heightened focus on diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility across public and private sectors has opened the doors to opportunities for considering ways to improve equity of supportive services access and quality, as well as inclusion of people with autism and other disabilities across many segments of life. In addition, many autistic adults have become actively engaged in advocacy and have expanded disability rights to include neurodiversity and have pushed service providers and researchers to truly include their perspectives, experiences, and interests. Both in the United States and across the globe, the rights and inclusion of people with disabilities has taken on key importance in health equity with a call to support each person in their strengths and challenges through services and supports that enhance quality of life.

As described in the recent 2021 Report to Congress on the Health and Well-Being of Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, the Federal Interagency Workgroup on Autism (FIWA) developed recommendations to improve the health and well-being of individuals on the autism spectrum. Several of these recommendations specifically focused on services, including, increased federal coordination in providing services and supports; optimized behavioral and other therapeutic interventions; and recognition of caregiver mental health and support needs. Coupled with the information provided in the present report, these recommendations highlight the ongoing need for improvements in supportive service quality, coverage, and delivery. Moving forward, coordination of federal activities, service providers, and engagement with the autism community through avenues such as the IACC, the activities of the National Autism Coordinator, and federal partnerships with state and local governments and private organizations will continue to play critical roles in ensuring that federal departments and agencies are able to be responsive to the evolving needs of the community and emerging opportunities to improve supportive services for people on the autism spectrum and their families.



REFERENCES



References

- 1. Maenner MJ, Shaw KA, Bakian AV, et al. Bilder DA, Durkin MS, Esler A, Furnier SM, Hallas L, Hall-Lande J, Hudson A, Hughes MM, Patrick M, Pierce K, Poynter JN, Salinas A, Shenouda J, Vehorn A, Warren Z, Constantino JN, DiRienzo M, Fitzgerald RT, Grzybowski A, Spivey MH, Pettygrove S, Zahorodny W, Ali A, Andrews JG, Baroud T, Gutierrez J, Hewitt A, Lee LC, Lopez M, Mancilla KC, McArthur D, Schwenk YD, Washington A, Williams S, Cogswell ME. Prevalence and Characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 8 Years - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2021 Dec 3;70(No. SS-11):1-16. [PMID: 34855725]
- Dietz PM, Rose CE, McArthur D, Maenner M. National and State Estimates of Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2020 Dec;50(12):4258-4266. [PMID: 32390121]
- Shaw KA, Maenner MJ, Bakian AV, Bilder DA, 3. Durkin MS, Furnier SM, Hughes MM, Patrick M, Pierce K, Salinas A, Shenouda J, Vehorn A, Warren Z, Zahorodny W, Constantino JN, DiRienzo M, Esler A, Fitzgerald RT, Grzybowski A, Hudson A, Spivey MH, Ali A, Andrews JG, Baroud T, Gutierrez J, Hallas L, Hall-Lande J, Hewitt A, Lee LC, Lopez M, Mancilla KC, McArthur D, Pettygrove S, Poynter JN, Schwenk YD, Washington A, Williams S, Cogswell ME. Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 4 Years - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2021 Dec 3;70 (10):1-14. [**PMID: 34855727**]
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). doi: 10.1176/appi.books. 9780890425596

- 5. Roux AM, Rast JE, Garfield T, Shattuck P, Shea LL. National Autism Indicators Report: Family Perspectives on Services and Supports. Philadelphia, PA: Life Course Outcomes Research Program, A.J. Drexel Autism Institute, Drexel University, May 2021. Available at: drexel.edu/ autismoutcomes/publications-and-reports/ publications/nair-family-perspectives-onservices-and-supports/
- Hyman SL, Levey SE, Myers SM, Council on Children with Disabilities, Section on Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics. Identification, Evaluation, and Management of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Peditarics. 2020 Jan;145(1). [PMID: 31843864]
- Dawson G, Rogers S, Munson J, Smith M, Winter J, Greenson J, Donaldson A, Varley J. Randomized, controlled trial of an intervention for toddlers with autism: the Early Start Denver Model. Pediatrics. 2010 Jan;125(1):e17-23. [PMID: 19948568]
- Reaven J, Blakeley-Smith A, Culhane-Shelburne K, Hepburn S. Group cognitive behavior therapy for children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders and anxiety: a randomized trial. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2012 Apr;53(4):410-9. [PMID: 22435114]
- Reichow B, Hume K, Barton EE, Boyd BA. Early intensive behavioral intervention (EIBI) for young children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018 May 9;5(5):CD009260. [PMID: 29742275]
- Dawson G, Rogers S, Munson J, Smith M, Winter J, Greenson J, Donaldson A, Varley J. Randomized, controlled trial of an intervention for toddlers with autism: the Early Start Denver Model. Pediatrics. 2010 Jan;125(1):e17-23. [PMID: 19948568]

- Landa RJ, Kalb LG. Long-term outcomes of toddlers with autism spectrum disorders exposed to short-term intervention. Pediatrics. 2012;130(suppl 2):S186-S190. [PMID: 23118250]
- Kasari C, Gulsrud AC, Wong C, Kwon S, Locke J. Randomized controlled caregiver mediated joint engagement intervention for toddlers with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010;40(9):1045-1056. [PMID: 20145986]
- Dawson G, Jones EJ, Merkle K, Venema K, Lowy R, Faja S, Kamara D, Murias M, Greenson J, Winter J, Smith M, Rogers SJ, Webb SJ. Early behavioral intervention is associated with normalized brain activity in young children with autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2012 Nov;51(11): 1150-9. [PMID: 23101741]
- National Research Council. 2001. Educating Children with Autism. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/ 10.17226/10017.
- Remington, B., Hastings, R., Kovshoff, H., Espinosa, F., Jahr, E., & Brown, T. (2007). Early intensive behavioral intervention: Outcomes for children with autism and their parents after two years. American Journal on Mental Retardation, 112, 418–438. [PMID: 17963434]
- Sullivan K, Stone WL, Dawson G. Potential neural mechanisms underlying the effectiveness of early intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder. Res Dev Disabil. 2014;35(11):2921-2932. [PMID: 25108609]
- Barry CL, Epstein AJ, Marcus SC, Kennedy-Hendricks A, Candon MK, Xie M, Mandell DS. Effects Of State Insurance Mandates On Health Care Use And Spending For Autism Spectrum Disorder. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017 Oct 1;36 (10):1754-1761. [PMID: 28971920]

- Douglas MD, Benevides TW, Carretta H. Analyzing State Autism Private Insurance Mandates for Allied Health Services: A Pilot Study. OTJR (Thorofare N J). 2017 Oct;37(4):218-226. [PMID: 28874097]
- Velott DL, Agbese E, Mandell D, Stein BD, Dick AW, Yu H, Leslie DL. Medicaid 1915(c) Homeand Community-Based Services waivers for children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2016 May;20(4):473-82. [PMID: 26088059]
- Cidav Z, Marcus SC, Mandell DS. Home- and community-based waivers for children with autism: effects on service use and costs. Intellect Dev Disabil. 2014 Aug;52(4):239-48. [PMID: 25061768]
- Leslie DL, Iskandarani K, Dick AW, Mandell DS, Yu H, Velott D, Agbese E, Stein BD. The Effects of Medicaid Home and Community-based Services Waivers on Unmet Needs Among Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Med Care. 2017 Jan;55(1):57-63. [PMID: 27547947]
- Rubenstein E, Croen L, Lee LC, Moody E, Schieve LA, Soke GN, Thomas K, Wiggins L, Daniels J. Community-based service use in preschool children with autism spectrum disorder and associations with insurance status. Res Autism Spectr Disord. 2019 Oct;66:101410. [PMID: 32831903]
- 23. Eskow KG, Chasson GS, Summers JA. The Role of Choice and Control in the Impact of Autism Waiver Services on Family Quality of Life and Child Progress. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 May;49(5):2035-2048. [PMID: 30689081]
- Howlin P, Goode S, Hutton J, Rutter M. Adult outcome for children with autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2004 Feb;45(2):212-29.
 [PMID: 14982237]

- Turcotte P, Mathew M, Shea LL, Brusilovskiy E, Nonnemacher SL. Service Needs Across the Lifespan for Individuals with Autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2016 Jul;46(7):2480-9.
 [PMID: 27084080]
- Roux AM, Shattuck PT, Rast JE, Rava JA, Anderson KA. National Autism Indicators Report: Transition into Young Adulthood. Philadelphia, PA: Life Course Outcomes Research Program, A.J. Drexel Autism Institute, Drexel University, 2015.
- Laxman DJ, Taylor JL, DaWalt LS, Greenberg JS, Mailick MR. Loss in services precedes high school exit for teens with autism spectrum disorder: A longitudinal study. Autism Res. 2019 Jun;12(6):911-921. [PMID: 31033222]
- Song W, Salzer MS, Nonnemacher SL, Shea L. Lifespan service receipt and unmet needs among individuals on the autism spectrum. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2022 Jul;49(4):694-705. PMID: 35320442]
- 29. Laxman DJ, Taylor JL, DaWalt LS, Greenberg JS, Mailick MR. Loss in services precedes high school exit for teens with autism spectrum disorder: A longitudinal study. Autism Res. 2019 Jun;12(6):911-921. [PMID: 31033222]
- Drexel University. The Services Cliff Among Young Adults on the Autism Spectrum. Available at: drexel.edu/~/media/Files/autismoutcomes/ publications/LCO%20Fact%20Sheet%20 Services%20Cliff.ashx
- Ishler KJ, Biegel DE, Wang F, Olgac T, Lytle S, Miner S, Edguer M, Kaplan R. Service Use Among Transition-Age Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Mar;52 (3):1051-1065. [PMID: 33864557]

- 32. Schott W, Nonnemacher S, Shea L. Service Use and Unmet Needs Among Adults with Autism Awaiting Home- and Community-Based Medicaid Services. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Apr;51(4):1188-1200. [PMID: 32671666]
- 33. Lord C, Elsabbagh M, Baird G, Veenstra-Vanderweele J. Autism spectrum disorder. Lancet. 2018 Aug 11;392(10146):508-520.
 [PMID: 30078460]
- Wetherby AM, Guthrie W, Woods J, Schatschneider C, Holland RD, Morgan L, Lord, C. Parentimplemented social intervention for toddlers with autism: an RCT. Pediatrics. 2014 Dec;134 (6):1084-1093. [PMID: 25367544]
- Dawson G, Rogers S, Munson J, Smith M, Winter J, Greenson J, Donaldson A, Varley J. Randomized, controlled trial of an intervention for toddlers with autism: the Early Start Denver Model. Pediatrics. 2010 Jan;125(1):e17-23. [PMID: 19948568]
- 36. Brian JA, Smith IM, Zwaigenbaum L, Roberts W, Bryson SE. The Social ABCs caregiver-mediated intervention for toddlers with autism spectrum disorder: Feasibility, acceptability, and evidence of promise from a multisite study. Autism Res. 2016 Aug;9(8):899-912. [PMID: 26688077]
- Miller M, Iosif AM, Young GS, Hill M, Phelps Hanzel E, Hutman T, Johnson S, Ozonoff S. School-age outcomes of infants at risk for autism spectrum disorder. Autism Res. 2016 Jun;9(6):632-42. [PMID: 26451968]
- Huerta M, Lord C. Diagnostic evaluation of autism spectrum disorders. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2012 Feb;59(1):103-11, xi. [PMID: 22284796]
- Gordon-Lipkin E, Foster J, Peacock G. Whittling Down the Wait Time: Exploring Models to Minimize the Delay from Initial Concern to Diagnosis and Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2016 Oct;63(5):851-9. [PMID: 27565363]

- Chavez AE, Feldman MS, Carter AS, Eisenhower A, Mackie TI, Ramella L, Hoch N, Sheldrick RC. Delays in autism diagnosis for U.S. Spanishspeaking families: The contribution of appointment availability. Evid Based Pract Child Adolesc Ment Health. 2022;7(2):275-293.
 [PMID: 35833095]
- 41. Shaw KA, Maenner MJ, Bakian AV, Bilder DA, Durkin MS, Furnier SM, Hughes MM, Patrick M, Pierce K, Salinas A, Shenouda J, Vehorn A, Warren Z, Zahorodny W, Constantino JN, DiRienzo M, Esler A, Fitzgerald RT, Grzybowski A, Hudson A, Spivey MH, Ali A, Andrews JG, Baroud T, Gutierrez J, Hallas L, Hall-Lande J, Hewitt A, Lee LC, Lopez M, Mancilla KC, McArthur D, Pettygrove S, Poynter JN, Schwenk YD, Washington A, Williams S, Cogswell ME. Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 4 Years - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2021 Dec 3;70(10):1-14. [PMID: 34855727]
- 42. Maenner MJ, Shaw KA, Bakian AV, Bilder DA, Durkin MS, Esler A, Furnier SM, Hallas L, Hall-Lande J, Hudson A, Hughes MM, Patrick M, Pierce K, Poynter JN, Salinas A, Shenouda J, Vehorn A, Warren Z, Constantino JN, DiRienzo M, Fitzgerald RT, Grzybowski A, Spivey MH, Pettygrove S, Zahorodny W, Ali A, Andrews JG, Baroud T, Gutierrez J, Hewitt A, Lee LC, Lopez M, Mancilla KC, McArthur D, Schwenk YD, Washington A, Williams S, Cogswell ME. Prevalence and Characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 8 Years - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2021 Dec 3;70(11):1-16. [PMID: 34855725]
- Wagner L, Corona LL, Weitlauf AS, Marsh KL, Berman AF, Broderick NA, Francis S, Hine J, Nicholson A, Stone C, Warren Z. Use of the TELE-ASD-PEDS for Autism Evaluations in Response to COVID-19: Preliminary Outcomes and Clinician Acceptability. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Sep;51(9):3063-3072. [PMID: 33125622]

- 44. Corona LL, Weitlauf AS, Hine J, Berman A, Miceli A, Nicholson A, Stone C, Broderick N, Francis S, Juárez AP, Vehorn A, Wagner L, Warren Z. Parent Perceptions of Caregiver-Mediated Telemedicine Tools for Assessing Autism Risk in Toddlers. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Feb;51(2):476-486. [PMID: 32488583]
- 45. Wagner L, Weitlauf AS, Hine J, Corona LL, Berman AF, Nicholson A, Allen W, Black M, Warren Z. Transitioning to Telemedicine During COVID-19: Impact on Perceptions and Use of Telemedicine Procedures for the Diagnosis of Autism in Toddlers. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 May;52(5):2247-2257. [PMID: 34085153]
- 46. Stavropoulos KK, Bolourian Y, Blacher J. A scoping review of telehealth diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. PLoS One. 2022 Feb 10;17(2):e0263062. [PMID: 35143494]
- 47. Lewis LF. Identifying autism spectrum disorder in undiagnosed adults. Nurse Pract. 2018 Sep;43(9):14-18. [PMID: 30134432]
- 48. Huang Y, Arnold SR, Foley KR, Trollor JN. Diagnosis of autism in adulthood: A scoping review. Autism. 2020 Aug;24(6):1311-1327. [PMID: 32106698]
- **49.** Livingston LA, Shah P, Milner V, Happé F. Quantifying compensatory strategies in adults with and without diagnosed autism. Mol Autism. 2020 Feb 12;11(1):15. [**PMID: 32051011**]
- McQuaid GA, Lee NR, Wallace GL. Camouflaging in autism spectrum disorder: Examining the roles of sex, gender identity, and diagnostic timing. Autism. 2022 Feb;26(2):552-559. Epub 2021 Aug 23. [PMID: 34420418]
- Roane HS, Fisher WW, Carr JE. Applied Behavior Analysis as Treatment for Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Pediatr. 2016 Aug;175:27-32. [PMID: 27179552]

- 52. Yu Q, Li E, Li L, Liang W. Efficacy of Interventions Based on Applied Behavior Analysis for Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Meta-Analysis. Psychiatry Investig. 2020 May;17(5):432-443.
 [PMID: 32375461]
- 53. Whitehouse AJO, Varcin KJ, Pillar S, Billingham W, Alvares GA, Barbaro J, Bent CA, Blenkley D, Boutrus M, Chee A, Chetcuti L, Clark A, Davidson E, Dimov S, Dissanayake C, Doyle J, Grant M, Green CC, Harrap M, Iacono T, Matys L, Maybery M, Pope DF, Renton M, Rowbottam C, Sadka N, Segal L, Slonims V, Smith J, Taylor C, Wakeling S, Wan MW, Wray J, Cooper MN, Green J, Hudry K. Effect of Preemptive Intervention on Developmental Outcomes Among Infants Showing Early Signs of Autism: A Randomized Clinical Trial of Outcomes to Diagnosis. JAMA Pediatr. 2021 Nov 1;175(11):e213298. [PMID: 34542577]
- 54. Hume K, Steinbrenner JR, Odom SL, Morin KL, Nowell SW, Tomaszewski B, Szendrey S, McIntyre NS, Yücesoy-Özkan S, Savage MN. Evidence-Based Practices for Children, Youth, and Young Adults with Autism: Third Generation Review. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Nov;51(11):4013-4032. [PMID: 33449225]
- 55. Sandbank M, Bottema-Beutel K, Crowley S, Cassidy M, Dunham K, Feldman JI, Crank J, Albarran SA, Raj S, Mahbub P, Woynaroski TG. Project AIM: Autism intervention meta-analysis for studies of young children. Psychol Bull. 2020 Jan;146(1):1-29. [PMID: 31763860]
- 56. Schreibman L, Dawson G, Stahmer AC, Landa R, Rogers SJ, McGee GG, Kasari C, Ingersoll B, Kaiser AP, Bruinsma Y, McNerney E, Wetherby A, Halladay A. Naturalistic Developmental Behavioral Interventions: Empirically Validated Treatments for Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2015 Aug;45(8):2411-28. [PMID: 25737021]
- 57. Crank JE, Sandbank M, Dunham K, Crowley S, Bottema-Beutel K, Feldman J, Woynaroski TG. Understanding the Effects of Naturalistic

Developmental Behavioral Interventions: A Project AIM Meta-analysis. Autism Res. 2021 Apr;14(4):817-834. [**PMID: 33480474**]

- 58. Gutstein SE, Burgess AF, Montfort K. Evaluation of the relationship development intervention program. Autism. 2007 Sep;11(5):397-411. doi:10.1177/1362361307079603.
 [PMID: 17942454]
- 59. Solomon R, Necheles J, Ferch C, Bruckman D. Pilot study of a parent training program for young children with autism: The PLAY Project Home Consultation program. Autism. 2007;11 (3):205-224. doi: 10.1177/1362361307076842
- 60. Pajareya K, Nopmaneejumruslers K. A pilot randomized controlled trial of DIR/FloortimeTM parent training intervention for pre-school children with autistic spectrum disorders. Autism. 2011;15(5):563-577. doi: 10.1177/ 1362361310386502
- Kjelgaard MM, Tager-Flusberg H. An Investigation of Language Impairment in Autism: Implications for Genetic Subgroups. Lang Cogn Process. 2001 Apr 1;16(2-3):287-308. [PMID: 16703115]
- 62. Norrelgen F, Fernell E, Eriksson M, Hedvall Å, Persson C, Sjölin M, Gillberg C, Kjellmer L. Children with autism spectrum disorders who do not develop phrase speech in the preschool years. Autism. 2015 Nov;19(8):934-43. Epub 2014 Dec 8. [PMID: 25488002]
- 63. Rose V, Trembath D, Keen D, Paynter J. The proportion of minimally verbal children with autism spectrum disorder in a community-based early intervention programme. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2016 May;60(5):464-77. doi:10.1111/ jir.12284. [PMID: 27120989]
- Paul R. Interventions to improve communication in autism. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 2008 Oct;17(4):835-56, ix-x. [PMID: 18775373]

- 65. Adams C, Lockton E, Freed J, Gaile J, Earl G, McBean K, Nash M, Green J, Vail A, Law J. The Social Communication Intervention Project: a randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of speech and language therapy for school-age children who have pragmatic and social communication problems with or without autism spectrum disorder. Int J Lang Commun Disord. 2012 May-Jun;47(3):233-44. [**PMID: 22512510**]
- 66. Ebbels SH, Wright L, Brockbank S, Godfrey C, Harris C, Leniston H, Neary K, Nicoll H, Nicoll L, Scott J, Marić N. Effectiveness of 1:1 speech and language therapy for older children with (developmental) language disorder. Int J Lang Commun Disord. 2017 Jul;52(4):528-539. [PMID: 27859986]
- 67. Donaldson AL, Corbin E, McCoy J. "Everyone deserves AAC": Preliminary study of the experiences of speaking autistic adults who use augmentative and alternative communication. Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups. 2021;6(2):315-326. doi: 10.1044/2021_persp-20-00220
- **68.** Iacono T, Trembath D, Erickson S. The role of augmentative and alternative communication for children with autism: current status and future trends. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016 Sep 19;12:2349-2361. [**PMID: 27703354**]
- 69. Ganz JB. AAC Interventions for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders: State of the Science and Future Research Directions. Augment Altern Commun. 2015;31(3):203-14. doi:10.3109/074 34618.2015.1047532. Epub 2015 May 21. [PMID: 25995080]
- 70. Donato C, Spencer E, Arthur-Kelly M. A critical synthesis of barriers and facilitators to the use of AAC by children with autism spectrum disorder and their communication partners. Augment Altern Commun. 2018 Sep;34(3):242-253. doi: 10.1080/07434618.2018.1493141. Epub 2018 Sep 19. [PMID: 30231643]

- 71. Logan K, Iacono T, Trembath D. A systematic review of research into aided AAC to increase social-communication functions in children with autism spectrum disorder. Augment Altern Commun. 2017 Mar;33(1):51-64. Epub 2016 Dec 31. [PMID: 28040991]
- 72. Jovevska S, Richdale AL, Lawson LP, Uljarević M, Arnold SRC, Trollor JN. Sleep Quality in Autism from Adolescence to Old Age. Autism Adulthood. 2020 Jun 1;2(2):152-162. Epub 2020 Jun 10. [PMID: 36601570]
- 73. Carmassi C, Palagini L, Caruso D, Masci I, Nobili L, Vita A, Dell'Osso L. Systematic Review of Sleep Disturbances and Circadian Sleep Desynchronization in Autism Spectrum Disorder: Toward an Integrative Model of a Self-Reinforcing Loop. Front Psychiatry. 2019 Jun 6;10:366.
 [PMID: 31244687]
- 74. de Nocker YL, Toolan CK. Using Telehealth to Provide Interventions for Children with ASD: a Systematic Review. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Jul 16:1-31. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 34306962]
- 75. Chen Y, Zhou Z, Cao M, Liu M, Lin Z, Yang W, Yang X, Dhaidhai D, Xiong P. Extended Reality (XR) and telehealth interventions for children or adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: Systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2022 Jul;138:104683. Epub 2022 May 13. [PMID: 35523302]
- 76. Zhang M, Ding H, Naumceska M, Zhang Y. Virtual Reality Technology as an Educational and Intervention Tool for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Current Perspectives and Future Directions. Behav Sci (Basel). 2022 May 10;12(5):138. [PMID: 35621435]

- 77. Almurashi H, Bouaziz R, Alharthi W, Al-Sarem M, Hadwan M, Kammoun S. Augmented Reality, Serious Games and Picture Exchange Communication System for People with ASD: Systematic Literature Review and Future Directions. Sensors (Basel). 2022 Feb 7;22(3):1250. [PMID: 35161995]
- Bennett K, Brady MP, Scott J, Dukes C, Frain M. (2010). The effects of covert audio coaching on the job performance of supported employees. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 25(3), 173-185.
- 79. Smith MJ, Ginger EJ, Wright K, Wright MA, Taylor JL, Humm LB, Olsen DE, Bell MD, Fleming MF. Virtual reality job interview training in adults with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2014 Oct;44(10):2450-63. [PMID: 24803366]
- 80. Strickland DC, Coles CD, Southern LB. JobTIPS: a transition to employment program for individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013 Oct;43(10):2472-83. [PMID: 23494559]
- Karami B, Koushki R, Arabgol F, Rahmani M, Vahabie AH. Effectiveness of Virtual/Augmented Reality-Based Therapeutic Interventions on Individuals With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Comprehensive Meta-Analysis. Front Psychiatry. 2021 Jun 23;12:665326. [PMID: 34248702]
- Barua PD, Vicnesh J, Gururajan R, Oh SL, Palmer E, Azizan MM, Kadri NA, Acharya UR. Artificial Intelligence Enabled Personalised Assistive Tools to Enhance Education of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disorders-A Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Jan 21;19(3):1192. [PMID: 35162220]
- 83. Salimi Z, Jenabi E, Bashirian S. Are social robots ready yet to be used in care and therapy of autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2021 Oct;129:1-16. Epub 2021 Apr 20.
 [PMID: 33862066]

- 84. Saleh MA, Hanapiah FA, Hashim H. Robot applications for autism: a comprehensive review. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol. 2021 Aug;16(6):580-602. Epub 2020 Jul 24. [PMID: 32706602]
- DiPietro J, Kelemen A, Liang Y, Sik-Lanyi C. Computer- and Robot-Assisted Therapies to Aid Social and Intellectual Functioning of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Medicina (Kaunas). 2019 Aug 5;55(8):440. [PMID: 31387274]
- Szymona B, Maciejewski M, Karpiński R, Jonak K, Radzikowska-Büchner E, Niderla K, Prokopiak A. Robot-Assisted Autism Therapy (RAAT). Criteria and Types of Experiments Using Anthropomorphic and Zoomorphic Robots. Review of the Research. Sensors (Basel). 2021 May 27;21(11):3720. [PMID: 34071829]
- 87. Kumazaki H, Muramatsu T, Yoshikawa Y, Matsumoto Y, Ishiguro H, Kikuchi M, Sumiyoshi T, Mimura M. Optimal robot for intervention for individuals with autism spectrum disorders. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2020 Nov;74(11):581-586. [PMID: 32827328]
- Minshew NJ, Sung K, Jones BL, Furman JM. Underdevelopment of the postural control system in autism. Neurology. 2004 Dec 14; 63(11):2056-61. [PMID: 15596750]
- 89. Fournier KA, Hass CJ, Naik SK, Lodha N, Cauraugh JH. Motor coordination in autism spectrum disorders: a synthesis and meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010 Oct;40(10):1227-40. [PMID: 20195737]
- 90. Bhat AN, Landa RJ, Galloway JC. Current perspectives on motor functioning in infants, children, and adults with autism spectrum disorders. Phys Ther. 2011 Jul;91(7):1116-29. Epub 2011 May 5. [PMID: 21546566]

- 91. Zampella CJ, Wang LAL, Haley M, Hutchinson AG, de Marchena A. Motor Skill Differences in Autism Spectrum Disorder: a Clinically Focused Review. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2021 Aug 13;23(10):64. [PMID: 34387753]
- 92. Linke AC, Kinnear MK, Kohli JS, Fong CH, Lincoln AJ, Carper RA, Müller RA. Impaired motor skills and atypical functional connectivity of the sensorimotor system in 40- to 65-year-old adults with autism spectrum disorders. Neurobiol Aging. 2020 Jan;85:104-112. Epub 2019 Sep 27. [PMID: 31732217]
- **93.** Guivarch J, Jouve E, Avenel E, Poinso F, Conforti-Roussel L. Effect of physical therapy on 7- to 10-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder: A retrospective study in a university day hospital. Bull Menninger Clin. 2021 Fall;85 (4):385-404. [**PMID: 34851684**]
- 94. Ennis, E. The Effects of a Physical Therapy-Directed Aquatic Program on Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders. Journal of Aquatic Physical Therapy. 2011;19(1):4-10. Available at: journals.lww.com/japt/abstract/2011/19010/ the_effects_of_a_physical_therapy_directed_ aquatic.1.aspx
- 95. Hedgecock JB, Dannemiller LA, Shui AM, Rapport MJ, Katz T. Associations of Gross Motor Delay, Behavior, and Quality of Life in Young Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Phys Ther. 2018 Apr 1;98(4):251-259. [PMID: 29325143]
- Ruggeri A, Dancel A, Johnson R, Sargent B. The effect of motor and physical activity intervention on motor outcomes of children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. Autism. 2020 Apr;24(3):544-568. [PMID: 31782658]
- 97. Lang R, Koegel LK, Ashbaugh K, Register A, Ence W, Smith W. Physical exercise and individuals with autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. Res Autism Spect Dis. 2010;4(4):565–576. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.01.006

- 98. Sowa M, Meulenbroek R. Effects of physical exercise on autism spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis. Res Autism Spect Dis. 2012;6(1):46–57. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.09.001
- Watling R, Tomchek S, LaVesser P; Commission on Practice. The scope of occupational therapy services for individuals with autism spectrum disorders across the lifespan. Am J Occup Ther. 2005 Nov-Dec;59(6):680-3. [PMID: 16363193]
- 100. Ashburner J, Rodger S, Ziviani J, Jones J. Occupational therapy services for people with autism spectrum disorders: current state of play, use of evidence and future learning priorities. Aust Occup Ther J. 2014 Apr;61(2):110-20. [PMID: 24118044]
- 101. Case-Smith J, Arbesman M. Evidence-based review of interventions for autism used in or of relevance to occupational therapy. Am J Occup Ther. 2008 Jul-Aug;62(4):416-29.
 [PMID: 18712004]
- 102. Scope of Occupational Therapy Services for Individuals With Autism Spectrum Disorder Across the Life Course. Am J Occup Ther. 2015 Nov-Dec;69 Suppl 3:6913410054p1-6913410054p12. [PMID: 26713953]
- 103. Kashefimehr B, Kayihan H, Huri M. The Effect of Sensory Integration Therapy on Occupational Performance in Children With Autism. OTJR (Thorofare N J). 2018 Apr;38(2):75-83.
 [PMID: 29281930]
- 104. Schaaf, R. C., Dumont, R. L., Arbesman, M., & May-Benson, T. A. (2018). Efficacy of occupational therapy using Ayres Sensory Integration®: A systematic review. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 72, 7201190010. [PMID: 29280711]
- 105. Como DH, Stein Duker LI, Polido JC, Cermak SA. Oral Health and Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Unique Collaboration between Dentistry and Occupational Therapy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Dec 27;18(1):135.
 [PMID: 33375475]

- 106. Wei X, Wagner M, Christiano ER, Shattuck P, Yu JW. Special Education Services Received by Students with Autism Spectrum Disorders from Preschool through High School. J Spec Educ. 2014 Nov;48(3):167-179. [PMID: 25419002]
- 107. Zaidman-Zait A, Mirenda P, Szatmari P, Duku E, Smith IM, Zwaigenbaum L, Vaillancourt T, Kerns C, Volden J, Waddell C, Bennett T, Georgiades S, Ungar WJ, Elsabbagh M. Profiles and Predictors of Academic and Social School Functioning among Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2021 Sep-Oct;50 (5):656-668. [PMID: 32324064]
- 108. McKernan EP, Kim SH. School-entry language skills as predictors of concurrent and future academic, social, and adaptive skills in kindergarteners with ASD. Clin Neuropsychol. 2022 Jul;36(5):899-920. [PMID: 34315330]
- 109. Hugh ML, Ahlers K, Joshi M, Locke J. School-Implemented Interventions for Preschool to High School Students with Autism: An Update on Recent Research. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2021 Jul 10;23(9):54. [PMID: 34247293]
- 110. Williams NJ, Frederick L, Ching A, Mandell D, Kang-Yi C, Locke J. Embedding school cultures and climates that promote evidence-based practice implementation for youth with autism: A qualitative study. Autism. 2021 May;25(4): 982-994. [PMID: 33307761]
- 111. Williams NJ, Frank HE, Frederick L, Beidas RS, Mandell DS, Aarons GA, Green P, Locke J. Organizational culture and climate profiles: relationships with fidelity to three evidencebased practices for autism in elementary schools. Implement Sci. 2019 Feb 12;14(1):15.
 [PMID: 30755220]
- 112. Fleury VP, Hedges S, Hume K, Browder DM, Thompson JL, Fallin K, El Zein F, Reutebuch CK, Vaughn S. (2014). Addressing the Academic Needs of Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder in Secondary Education. Remedial and Special Education. 2014;35(2):68-79. doi: 10.1177/0741932513518823

- 113. Tamm L, Duncan A, Vaughn A, McDade R, Estell N, Birnschein A, Crosby L. Academic Needs in Middle School: Perspectives of Parents and Youth with Autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2020 Sep;50(9):3126-3139. [PMID: 30911979]
- 114. Crosland K, Dunlap G. Effective strategies for the inclusion of children with autism in general education classrooms. Behav Modif. 2012 May;36(3):251-69. Epub 2012 May 3. [PMID: 22563045]
- 115. Sormunen K, Juuti K, Lavonen J. Maker-Centered Project-Based Learning in Inclusive Classes: Supporting Students' Active Participation with Teacher-Directed Reflective Discussions. Int J of Sci and Math Educ. 2020;18:691-712. doi: 10.1007/s10763-019-09998-9
- 116. Alpern C, Zager D. Addressing communication needs of students with autism in a college-based inclusion program. Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities. 2077;42(4):428-436. Available at: eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ779218
- 117. Tsai L. Recent neurobiological research in autism. In D Zager (ed.), Autism spectrum disorders: Identification, Education, & Treatment (3rd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum;2005:47-88
- **118.** Wolf LE, Brown JT, Bork GR. Students with Asperger syndrome: A guide for college personnel. Shawnee Mission, KA: Autism Asperger Publishing; 2009.
- **119.** Loveland KA, Tunali-Kotoski B. The school-age child with autistic spectrum disorder. In FR Volkmar, R Paul, A Klin, D Cohen (eds.). Handbook of autism and pervasive developmental disorders (3rd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2005; 247-287.
- 120. McKeon B, Alpern CS, Zager D. Promoting academic engagement for college students with autism spectrum disorder. Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability. 2012. Available at: eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1026894

- 121. Anderson C, Butt C. Young Adults on the Autism Spectrum at College: Successes and Stumbling Blocks. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 Oct;47(10): 3029-3039. [PMID: 28699052]
- 122. Vanbergeijk E, Klin A, Volkmar F. Supporting more able students on the autism spectrum: college and beyond. J Autism Dev Disord. 2008 Aug;38(7):1359-70. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0524-8. Epub 2008 Jan 3. [PMID: 18172747]
- 123. Nachman BR, McDermott CT, Cox BE. Brief Report: Autism-Specific College Support Programs: Differences Across Geography and Institutional Type. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Feb;52(2):863-870. [PMID: 33770324]
- 124. Roux AM, Shattuck PT, Rast JE, Rava JA, Edwards AD, Wei X, McCracken M, Yu JW. Characteristics of Two-Year College Students on the Autism Spectrum and Their Support Services Experiences. Autism Res Treat. 2015;2015:391693. Epub 2015 Nov 15. [PMID: 26649197]
- 125. Rast JE, Garfield T, Roux AM, Koffer Miller KH, Hund LM, Tao S, Kerns CM, Rosenau KA, Hotez E, Anderson KA, Shattuck PT, Shea LL. National Autism Indicators Report: Mental Health. Philadelphia, PA: Life Course Outcomes Program, A.J. Drexel Autism Institute, Drexel University, August 2021. Available at: drexel.edu/ autismoutcomes/publications-and-reports/ publications/NAIR-mentalhealth/
- 126. Lai MC, Kassee C, Besney R, Bonato S, Hull L, Mandy W, Szatmari P, Ameis SH. Prevalence of co-occurring mental health diagnoses in the autism population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019 Oct;6(10):819-829. Epub 2019 Aug 22. [PMID: 31447415]
- 127. Hollocks MJ, Lerh JW, Magiati I, Meiser-Stedman R, Brugha TS. Anxiety and depression in adults with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Med. 2019 Mar;49(4):559-572. Epub 2018 Sep 4. [PMID: 30178724]

- 128. Joshi G, Petty C, Wozniak J, Henin A, Fried R, Galdo M, Kotarski M, Walls S, Biederman J. The heavy burden of psychiatric comorbidity in youth with autism spectrum disorders: a large comparative study of a psychiatrically referred population. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010 Nov;40(11):1361-70. [PMID: 20309621]
- 129. Berg KL, Shiu CS, Acharya K, Stolbach BC, Msall ME. Disparities in adversity among children with autism spectrum disorder: a populationbased study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2016 Nov; 58(11):1124-1131. Epub 2016 Jun 2. [PMID: 27251442]
- 130. Kerns CM, Newschaffer CJ, Berkowitz SJ. Traumatic Childhood Events and Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2015 Nov;45 (11):3475-86. [PMID: 25711547]
- 131. Kerns CM, Newschaffer CJ, Berkowitz S, Lee BK. Brief Report: Examining the Association of Autism and Adverse Childhood Experiences in the National Survey of Children's Health: The Important Role of Income and Co-occurring Mental Health Conditions. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 Jul;47(7):2275-2281. [PMID: 28378271]
- 132. Maddox BB, Dickson KS, Stadnick NA, Mandell DS, Brookman-Frazee L. Mental Health Services for Autistic Individuals Across the Lifespan: Recent Advances and Current Gaps. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2021 Aug 17;23(10):66. [PMID: 34402984]
- 133. Ryan S, Lai J, Weiss JA. Mental Health Service Use Among Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Comparison of Two Age Groups. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2018 Jan;39(1):20-27. [PMID: 29286984]
- 134. Zablotsky B, Pringle BA, Colpe LJ, Kogan MD, Rice C, Blumberg SJ. Service and treatment use among children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2015 Feb-Mar;36 (2):98-105. [PMID: 25650952]

- 135. Stadnick NA, Drahota A, Brookman-Frazee L. Parent Perspectives of an Evidence-Based Intervention for Children with Autism Served in Community Mental Health Clinics. J Child Fam Stud. 2013 Apr 1;22(3):414-422. [PMID: 24019736]
- 136. Wood JJ, Kendall PC, Wood KS, Kerns CM, Seltzer M, Small BJ, Lewin AB, Storch EA. Cognitive Behavioral Treatments for Anxiety in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Psychiatry. 2020 May 1;77 (5):474-483. [PMID: 31755906]
- 137. White SW, Simmons GL, Gotham KO, Conner CM, Smith IC, Beck KB, Mazefsky CA. Psychosocial Treatments Targeting Anxiety and Depression in Adolescents and Adults on the Autism Spectrum: Review of the Latest Research and Recommended Future Directions. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2018 Aug 28;20(10):82. [PMID: 30155584]
- 138. Weston L, Hodgekins J, Langdon PE. Effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy with people who have autistic spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev. 2016 Nov;49:41-54. Epub 2016 Aug 4. [PMID: 27592496]
- 139. Keefer A, White SW, Vasa RA, Reaven J. Psychosocial interventions for internalizing disorders in youth and adults with ASD. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2018 Feb;30(1):62-77. Epub 2018 Mar 14. [PMID: 29537895]
- 140. Bemmouna D, Coutelle R, Weibel S, Weiner L. Feasibility, Acceptability and Preliminary Efficacy of Dialectical Behavior Therapy for Autistic Adults without Intellectual Disability: A Mixed Methods Study. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Oct 9:1–18. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 34626285]
- 141. Perepletchikova F, Nathanson D, Axelrod SR, Merrill C, Walker A, Grossman M, Rebeta J, Scahill L, Kaufman J, Flye B, Mauer E, Walkup J. Randomized Clinical Trial of Dialectical Behavior Therapy for Preadolescent Children With Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder: Feasibility

and Outcomes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017 Oct;56(10):832-840. Epub 2017 Aug 10. [**PMID: 28942805**]

- 142. Huntjens A, van den Bosch LMCW, Sizoo B, Kerkhof A, Huibers MJH, van der Gaag M. The effect of dialectical behaviour therapy in autism spectrum patients with suicidality and/ or self-destructive behaviour (DIASS): study protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMC Psychiatry. 2020 Mar 17;20(1):127. [PMID: 32183793]
- 143. Cassidy S, Bradley L, Shaw R, Baron-Cohen S. Risk markers for suicidality in autistic adults. Mol Autism. 2018 Jul 31;9:42. [PMID: 30083306]
- 144. Beck JS, Lundwall RA, Gabrielsen T, Cox JC, South M. Looking good but feeling bad: "Camouflaging" behaviors and mental health in women with autistic traits. Autism. 2020 May;24(4):809-821.
 [PMID: 32429817]
- 145. Hull L, Petrides KV, Allison C, Smith P, Baron-Cohen S, Lai MC, Mandy W. "Putting on My Best Normal": Social Camouflaging in Adults with Autism Spectrum Conditions. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 Aug;47(8):2519-2534. [PMID: 28527095]
- **146.** Cage E, Troxell-Whitman Z. Understanding the Reasons, Contexts and Costs of Camouflaging for Autistic Adults. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 May;49(5):1899-1911. [**PMID: 30627892**]
- 147. Mandy W. Social camouflaging in autism: Is it time to lose the mask? Autism. 2019 Nov;23(8):1879-1881. Epub 2019 Sep 25. [PMID: 31552745]
- 148. Fombonne E. Camouflage and autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2020 Jul;61(7):735-738.[PMID: 32658354]
- 149. Rybczynski S, Ryan TC, Wilcox HC, Van Eck K, Cwik M, Vasa RA, Findling RL, Slifer K, Kleiner D, Lipkin PH. Suicide Risk Screening in Pediatric Outpatient Neurodevelopmental Disabilities Clinics. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2022 May 1;43(4): 181-187. Epub 2021 Oct 15. [PMID: 34657090]

- **150.** Cassidy SA, Bradley L, Cogger-Ward H, Rodgers J. Development and validation of the suicidal behaviours questionnaire autism spectrum conditions in a community sample of autistic, possibly autistic and non-autistic adults. Mol Autism. 2021 Jun 21;12(1):46. [**PMID: 34154642**]
- 151. Cassidy S, Bradley L, Shaw R, Baron-Cohen S. Risk markers for suicidality in autistic adults. Mol Autism. 2018 Jul 31;9:42. [PMID: 30083306]
- 152. Patient-centered outcomes research institute. A Comparison of Two Brief Suicide Prevention Interventions Tailored for Youth on the Autism Spectrum. Available at: pcori.org/researchresults/2021/comparison-two-brief-suicideprevention-interventions-tailored-youth-autismspectrum Fombonne E. Camouflage and autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2020 Jul;61(7):735-738. [PMID: 32658354]
- 153. Shochet IM, Saggers BR, Carrington SB. et al. A School-Based Approach to Building Resilience and Mental Health Among Adolescents on the Autism Spectrum: A Longitudinal Mixed Methods Study. School Mental Health 14, 753–775 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-022-09501-w
- **154.** Taylor SC, Smernoff ZL, Rajan M, Steeman S, Gehringer BN, Dow HC, Barzilay R, Rader DJ, Bucan M, Almasy L, Brodkin ES. Investigating the relationships between resilience, autismrelated quantitative traits, and mental health outcomes among adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Psychiatr Res. 2022 Apr;148:250-257. Epub 2022 Jan 29. [**PMID: 35151216**]
- 155. Tarver J, Vitoratou S, Mastroianni M, Heaney N, Bennett E, Gibbons F, Fiori F, Absoud M, Ramasubramanian L, Simonoff E, Santosh P. Development and Psychometric Properties of a New Questionnaire to Assess Mental Health and Concerning Behaviors in Children and Young People with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): The Assessment of Concerning Behavior (ACB) Scale. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Aug;51(8):2812-2828. Epub 2020 Oct 14. [PMID: 33051784]

- 156. Katkin JP, Kressly SJ, Edwards AR, Perrin JM, Kraft CA, Richerson JE, Tieder JS, Wall L; TASK FORCE ON PEDIATRIC PRACTICE CHANGE. Guiding Principles for Team-Based Pediatric Care. Pediatrics. 2017 Aug;140(2):e20171489. doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-1489. [PMID: 28739656]
- 157. Todorow C, Connell J, Turchi RM. The medical home for children with autism spectrum disorder: an essential element whose time has come. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2018 Apr;30(2):311-317. [PMID: 29389684]
- **158.** Menezes M, Robinson MF, Harkins C, Sadikova E, Mazurek MO. Unmet health care needs and health care quality in youth with autism spectrum disorder with and without intellectual disability. Autism. 2021 Nov;25(8):2199-2208. Epub 2021 May 24. [**PMID: 34030515**]
- **159.** Conrad C, Cerda N, Harstad E. Parent-Reported Problems Accessing Mental Health Services Among a National Sample of Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Anxiety. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2022 Aug 1;43(6):320-326. Epub 2022 Jan 20. [**PMID: 35075046**]
- 160. Project ECHO Autism. Available at: echoautism. org/ Dreiling NG, Cook ML, Lamarche E, Klinger LG. Mental health Project ECHO Autism: Increasing access to community mental health services for autistic individuals. Autism. 2022 Feb;26(2): 434-445. Epub 2021 Jul 3. [PMID: 34218685]
- 161. Dreiling NG, Cook ML, Lamarche E, Klinger LG. Mental health Project ECHO Autism: Increasing access to community mental health services for autistic individuals. Autism. 2022 Feb;26(2): 434-445. Epub 2021 Jul 3. [PMID: 34218685]
- 162. Chasson GS, Eskow KG, Summers JA, Dreher TM. Characterization of Family-Directed Care Coordination and Involvement in Behavioral Treatments in an Autism-Specific Medicaid Waiver. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Feb;51(2): 715-724. [PMID: 32617794]

- 163. Caldwell J, Heller T. Longitudinal outcomes of a consumer-directed program supporting adults with developmental disabilities and their families. Intellect Dev Disabil. 2007 Jun;45(3):161-73.
 [PMID: 17472425]
- 164. Timberlake MT, Leutz WN, Warfield ME, Chiri G. "In the driver's seat": Parent perceptions of choice in a participant-directed medicaid waiver program for young children with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2014 Apr;44(4):903-14. [PMID: 24057132]
- 165. Warfield ME, Chiri G, Leutz WN, Timberlake M. Family well-being in a participant-directed autism waiver program: the role of relational coordination. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2014 Dec;58(12):1091-104. Epub 2013 Nov 25. [PMID: 25330124]
- 166. Chandroo R, Strnadová I, Cumming TM. A systematic review of the involvement of students with autism spectrum disorder in the transition planning process: Need for voice and empowerment. Res Dev Disabil. 2018 Dec;83:8-17. Epub 2018 Aug 4. [PMID: 30086472]
- 167. Laghi F, Trimarco B. Individual planning starts at school. Tools and practices promoting autonomy and supporting transition to work for adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2020 Apr-Jun;56(2):222-229. [PMID: 32567572]
- 168. Rusch FR, Hughes C, Agran M, Martin JE, Johnson JR. (2009). Toward Self-Directed Learning, Post-High School Placement, and Coordinated Support Constructing New Transition Bridges to Adult Life. Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 32(1), 53–59. doi: 10.1177/0885728809332628
- 169. Broder-Fingert S, Stadnick NA, Hickey E, Goupil J, Diaz Lindhart Y, Feinberg E. Defining the core components of Family Navigation for autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2020 Feb;24(2):526-530. [PMID: 31311287]

- 170. Crossman MK, Lindly OJ, Chan J, Eaves M, Kuhlthau KA, Parker RA, Coury DL, Zand DH, Nowinski LA, Smith K, Tomkinson M, Murray DS. Families' Experiences With Family Navigation Services in the Autism Treatment Network. Pediatrics. 2020 Apr;145(Suppl 1):S60-S71. [PMID: 32238532]
- 171. Potvin LA, Fulford C, Ouellette-Kuntz H, Cobigo V. What adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities say they need to access annual health examinations: System navigation support and person-centred care. Can Fam Physician. 2019 Apr;65(Suppl 1):S47-S52. [PMID: 31023781]
- 172. Featherstone C, Sharpe RA, Axford N, Asthana S, Husk K. Health and wellbeing outcomes and social prescribing pathways in community-based support for autistic adults: A systematic mapping review of reviews. Health Soc Care Community. 2022 May;30(3):e621-e635. Epub 2021 Nov 5. [PMID: 34738679]
- 173. Mandell DS, Listerud J, Levy SE, Pinto-Martin JA. Race differences in the age at diagnosis among Medicaid-eligible children with autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2002;41(12):1447-1453. [PMID: 12447031]
- 174. Lu W. Child and Adolescent Mental Disorders and Health Care Disparities: Results from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2011-2012. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2017; 28(3):988-1011. [PMID: 28804073]
- 175. Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Baio J, Christensen D, Daniels J, Fitzgerald R, Imm P, Lee LC, Schieve LA, Van Naarden Braun K, Wingate MS, Yeargin-Allsopp M. Autism Spectrum Disorder Among US Children (2002-2010): Socioeconomic, Racial, and Ethnic Disparities. Am J Public Health. 2017 Nov;107(11):1818-1826. Epub 2017 Sep 21. [PMID: 28933930]

- 176. DiGuiseppi C, Rosenberg SA, Tomcho MA, Colborn K, Hightshoe K, Gutiérrez-Raghunath S, Cordova JM, Dooling-Litfin JK, Rosenberg CR. Family navigation to increase evaluation for autism spectrum disorder in toddlers: Screening and Linkage to Services for Autism pragmatic randomized trial. Autism. 2021 May;25(4):946-957. Epub 2020 Nov 27. [PMID: 33246390]
- 177. Feinberg E, Augustyn M, Broder-Fingert S, Bennett A, Weitzman C, Kuhn J, Hickey E, Chu A, Levinson J, Sandler Eilenberg J, Silverstein M, Cabral HJ, Patts G, Diaz-Linhart Y, Fernandez-Pastrana I, Rosenberg J, Miller JS, Guevara JP, Fenick AM, Blum NJ. Effect of Family Navigation on Diagnostic Ascertainment Among Children at Risk for Autism: A Randomized Clinical Trial From DBPNet. JAMA Pediatr. 2021 Mar 1;175 (3):243-250. Erratum in: JAMA Pediatr. 2021 May 1;175(5):538. [PMID: 33427861]
- 178. Roth BM, Kralovic S, Roizen NJ, Spannagel SC, Minich N, Knapp J. Impact of Autism Navigator on Access to Services. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2016 Apr;37(3):188-95. [PMID: 26890560]
- 179. Feinberg E, Abufhele M, Sandler J, Augustyn M, Cabral H, Chen N, Diaz Linhart Y, Cesar Levesque Z, Aebi M, Silverstein M. Reducing Disparities in Timely Autism Diagnosis Through Family Navigation: Results From a Randomized Pilot Trial. Psychiatr Serv. 2016 Aug 1;67(8):912-5. Epub 2016 May 2. [PMID: 27133722]
- 180. Landa RJ. Efficacy of early interventions for infants and young children with, and at risk for, autism spectrum disorders. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2018 Feb;30(1):25-39. Epub 2018 Mar 14. [PMID: 29537331]
- 181. Pacia C, Holloway J, Gunning C, Lee H. A Systematic Review of Family-Mediated Social Communication Interventions for Young Children with Autism. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2022;9(2):208-234. Epub 2021 Apr 1. [PMID: 33821200]

- 182. Rojas-Torres LP, Alonso-Esteban Y, Alcantud-Marín F. Early Intervention with Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Review of Programs. Children (Basel). 2020 Dec 15;7(12):294. [PMID: 33333900]
- 183. Swanson MR. The role of caregiver speech in supporting language development in infants and toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. Dev Psychopathol. 2020 Oct;32(4):1230-1239. [PMID: 32893764]
- 184. Kasari C, Gulsrud A, Paparella T, Hellemann G, Berry K. Randomized comparative efficacy study of parent-mediated interventions for toddlers with autism. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2015 Jun;83(3):554-63. Epub 2015 Mar 30. [PMID: 25822242]
- 185. Iadarola S, Pellecchia M, Stahmer A, Lee HS, Hauptman L, Hassrick EM, Crabbe S, Vejnoska S, Morgan E, Nuske H, Luelmo P, Friedman C, Kasari C, Gulsrud A, Mandell D, Smith T. Mind the gap: an intervention to support caregivers with a new autism spectrum disorder diagnosis is feasible and acceptable. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2020 Sep 7;6:124. [PMID: 32944273]
- 186. Chang YC, Locke J. A systematic review of peer-mediated interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder. Res Autism Spectr Disord. 2016 Jul;27:1-10. doi: 10.1016/ j.rasd.2016.03.010. Epub 2016 Mar 26. [PMID: 27807466]
- 187. Haas A, Vannest K, Smith SD. Utilizing Peers to Support Academic Learning for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Behav Anal Pract. 2019 Jun 10;12(3):734-740. doi: 10.1007/ s40617-019-00363-4. [PMID: 31976283]
- 188. Thiemann-Bourque K, Feldmiller S, Hoffman L, Johner S. Incorporating a Peer-Mediated Approach Into Speech-Generating Device Intervention: Effects on Communication of Preschoolers With Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 2018 Aug 8;61(8):2045-2061. [PMID: 30054629]

- 189. Chung YC, Carter EW, Sisco LG. Social interactions of students with disabilities who use augmentative and alternative communication in inclusive classrooms. Am J Intellect Dev Disabil. 2012 Sep;117(5):349-67. [PMID: 22998484]
- 190. Therrien MC, Light J, Pope L. Systematic Review of the Effects of Interventions to Promote Peer Interactions for Children who use Aided AAC. Augment Altern Commun. 2016 Jun;32(2):81-93. Epub 2016 Feb 23. [PMID: 26903484]
- 191. Bene K, Lapina A. A Meta-Analysis of Sibling-Mediated Intervention for Brothers and Sisters Who Have Autism Spectrum Disorder. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2021;8:186-194. doi: 10.1007/s40489-020-00212-z
- 192. Rosen NE, McCauley JB, Lord C. Influence of siblings on adaptive behavior trajectories in autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2022 Jan;26(1):135-145. Epub 2021 Jun 12. [PMID: 34120483]
- 193. Sartore GM, Pourliakas A, Lagioia V. Peer support interventions for parents and carers of children with complex needs. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021 Dec 20;12(12):CD010618.
 [PMID: 34923624]
- 194. Kremkow JMD, Finke EH. The Effectiveness of a Distance Peer Mentor Training Program with Military Spouses with Children with Autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2020 Apr;50(4):1097-1110. [PMID: 31834584]
- 195. Kremkow JMD, Finke EH. Peer Experiences of Military Spouses with Children with Autism in a Distance Peer Mentoring Program: A Pilot Study. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Jan;52(1):189-202. Epub 2021 Mar 3. [PMID: 33656623]
- 196. Tobin MC, Drager KDR, Richardson LF. A systematic review of social participation for adults with autism spectrum disorders: Support, social functioning, and quality of life. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders. 2014;8(3):214-229. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.12.002

- **197.** Reichow B, Steiner AM, Volkmar F. Social skills groups for people aged 6 to 21 with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Campbell Systematic Reviews 2012:16 [**PMID: 22786515**]
- 198. Duerksen K, Besney R, Ames M, McMorris CA. Supporting Autistic Adults in Postsecondary Settings: A Systematic Review of Peer Mentorship Programs. Autism in Adulthood. 2021;3(1):85-99. doi: 10.1089/aut.2020.0054
- 199. Siew CT, Mazzucchelli TG, Rooney R, Girdler S (2017) A specialist peer mentoring program for university students on the autism spectrum: A pilot study. PLoS ONE 12(7): e0180854.
 [PMID: 28704446]
- 200. Anderson C, Lupfer A, Shattuck PT. Barriers to Receipt of Services for Young Adults With Autism. Pediatrics. 2018 Apr;141(Suppl 4): S300-S305. [PMID: 29610411]
- 201. Boehm TL, Carter EW. A systematic review of informal relationships among parents of individuals with intellectual disability or autism. Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities. 2016;41(3):173-190. doi: 10.1177/1540796916657339
- 202. Derguy C, Michel G, M'bailara K, Roux S, Bouvard M. Assessing needs in parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: A crucial preliminary step to target relevant issues for support programs. Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability. 2015;40(2):156–166. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2015.1023707
- 203. Marsack-Topolewski CN. A Snapshot of Social Support Networks Among Parental Caregivers of Adults with Autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2020 Apr;50(4):1111-1122. [PMID: 31848797]
- 204. Srinivasan S, Ekbladh A, Freedman B, Bhat A. Needs assessment in unmet healthcare and family support services: A survey of caregivers of children and youth with autism spectrum disorder in Delaware. Autism Res. 2021 Aug;14(8):1736-1758. doi: 10.1002/aur.2514. Epub 2021 Apr 19. [PMID: 33876563]

- 205. Mazurek MO. Social media use among adults with autism spectrum disorders. Computers in Human Behavior. 2013;29(4):1709-1714. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.004
- 206. Reinke JS, Solheim CA. Online Social Support Experiences of Mothers of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Child Fam Stud. 2015;24:2364-2373. doi: 10.1007/s10826-014-0039-9
- 207. Zhao Y, Zhang J, Wu M. Finding Users' Voice on Social Media: An Investigation of Online Support Groups for Autism-Affected Users on Facebook. Int J Environ Res Public Health.
 2019 Nov 29;16(23):4804. [PMID: 31795451]
- 208. Lai WW, Goh TJ, Oei TP, Sung M. Coping and Well-Being in Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD). J Autism Dev Disord. 2015 Aug;45(8):2582-93. [PMID: 25800867]
- 209. Cohrs AC, Leslie DL. Depression in Parents of Children Diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Claims-Based Analysis. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 May;47(5):1416-1422.
 [PMID: 28214978]
- 210. Hoffman CD, Sweeney DP, Hodge D, Lopez-Wagner MC, Looney L. Parenting stress and closeness: Mothers of typically developing children and mothers of children with autism. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities. 2009;24(3):178-187. doi: 10.1177/1088357609338715
- 211. Harper A, Taylor Dyches T, Harper J, Olsen Roper S, South M. Respite care, marital quality, and stress in parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013 Nov;43(11):2604-16. [PMID: 23529841]
- 212. Easler JK, Taylor TM, Roper SO, Yorgason JB, Harper JM. Uplifts, Respite, Stress, and Marital Quality for Parents Raising Children With Down Syndrome or Autism. Intellect Dev Disabil. 2022 Apr 1;60(2):145-162. [PMID: 35297988]

- 213. Dyches TT, Christensen R, Harper JM, Mandleco B, Roper SO. Respite Care for Single Mothers of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2016 Mar;46(3):812-24. [PMID: 26494577]
- 214. Cooke E, Smith V, Brenner M. Parents' experiences of accessing respite care for children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) at the acute and primary care interface: a systematic review. BMC Pediatr. 2020 May 22;20(1):244.
 [PMID: 32443974]
- 215. Parmar JK, L'Heureux T, Anderson S, Duggleby W, Pollard C, Poole L, Charles L, Sonnenberg LK, Leslie M, McGhan G, Huhn A, Sereda S, Marion C, Tarnowski G, Mah J, Melenberg D, Weir C, Pooler C, MacLachlan N, Bremault-Phillips S, Tian PGJ, Sacrey LR. Optimizing the integration of family caregivers in the delivery of personcentered care: evaluation of an educational program for the healthcare workforce. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022 Mar 18;22(1):364. [PMID: 35303870]
- 216. Doreswamy S, Bashir A, Guarecuco JE, Lahori S, Baig A, Narra LR, Patel P, Heindl SE. Effects of Diet, Nutrition, and Exercise in Children With Autism and Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Literature Review. Cureus. 2020 Dec 22;12(12): e12222. [PMID: 33489626]
- 217. Ibrahim SH, Voigt RG, Katusic SK, Weaver AL, Barbaresi WJ. Incidence of gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism: a population-based study. Pediatrics. 2009 Aug;124(2):680-6. Epub 2009 Jul 27. [PMID: 19651585]
- 218. Wang LW, Tancredi DJ, Thomas DW. The prevalence of gastrointestinal problems in children across the United States with autism spectrum disorders from families with multiple affected members. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2011 Jun;32(5): 351-60. [PMID: 21555957]

- 219. Heifert TA, Susi A, Hisle-Gorman E, Erdie-Lalena CR, Gorman G, Min SB, Nylund CM. Feeding disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders are associated with eosinophilic esophagitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2016 Oct;63(4):e69-73. [PMID: 27276430]
- 220. Valicenti-McDermott M, McVicar K, Rapin I, Wershil BK, Cohen H, Shinnar S. Frequency of gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autistic spectrum disorders and association with family history of autoimmune disease. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2006 Apr;27(2 Suppl):S128-36. [PMID: 16685179]
- 221. Sharp WG, Postorino V, McCracken CE, Berry RC, Criado KK, Burrell TL, Scahill L. Dietary intake, nutrient status, and growth parameters in children with autism spectrum disorder and severe food selectivity: an electronic medical record review. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2018 Oct;118 (10):1943-1950. [PMID: 30005820]
- 222. Buie T, Campbell DB, Fuchs GJ 3rd, Furuta GT, Levy J, Vandewater J, Whitaker AH, Atkins D, Bauman ML, Beaudet AL, Carr EG, Gershon MD, Hyman SL, Jirapinyo P, Jyonouchi H, Kooros K, Kushak R, Levitt P, Levy SE, Lewis JD, Murray KF, Natowicz MR, Sabra A, Wershil BK, Weston SC, Zeltzer L, Winter H. Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of gastrointestinal disorders in individuals with ASDs: a consensus report. Pediatrics. 2010 Jan;125 Suppl 1:S1-18. [PMID: 20048083]
- 223. Buie T, Fuchs GJ 3rd, Furuta GT, Kooros K, Levy J, Lewis JD, Wershil BK, Winter H. Recommendations for evaluation and treatment of common gastrointestinal problems in children with ASDs. Pediatrics. 2010 Jan;125 Suppl 1:S19-29. [PMID: 20048084]
- 224. Levy SE, Hyman SL. Complementary and alternative medicine treatments for children with autism spectrum disorders. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 2008 Oct;17(4):803-20, ix.
 [PMID: 18775371]

- 225. Knivsberg AM, Reichelt KL, Høien T, Nødland M. A randomised, controlled study of dietary intervention in autistic syndromes. Nutr Neurosci. 2002 Sep;5(4):251-61. [PMID: 12168688]
- 226. Nigg JT, Holton K. Restriction and elimination diets in ADHD treatment. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 2014 Oct;23(4):937-53. doi: 10. 1016/j.chc.2014.05.010. Epub 2014 Aug 10. [PMID: 25220094]
- 227. Joshi G, Faraone SV, Wozniak J, Tarko L, Fried R, Galdo M, Furtak SL, Biederman J. Symptom Profile of ADHD in Youth With High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Comparative Study in Psychiatrically Referred Populations. J Atten Disord. 2017 Aug;21(10):846-855. Epub 2014 Aug 1. [PMID: 25085653]
- 228. Souders MC, Zavodny S, Eriksen W, Sinko R, Connell J, Kerns C, Schaaf R, Pinto-Martin J. Sleep in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2017 Jun;19(6):34. [PMID: 28502070]
- 229. Jovevska S, Richdale AL, Lawson LP, Uljarević M, Arnold SRC, Trollor, JN. Sleep Quality in Autism from Adolescence to Old Age. Autism in Adulthood. 2020 Jun:152-162. doi: 10.1089/ aut.2019.0034
- 230. Schreck KA, Richdale AL. Sleep problems, behavior, and psychopathology in autism: inter-relationships across the lifespan. Curr Opin Psychol. 2020 Aug;34:105-111Epub 2019 Dec 17. [PMID: 31918238]
- 231. Moore M, Evans V, Hanvey G, Johnson C. Assessment of Sleep in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Children (Basel). 2017 Aug 8;4(8):72. [PMID: 28786962]
- 232. Relia S, Ekambaram V. Pharmacological Approach to Sleep Disturbances in Autism Spectrum Disorders with Psychiatric Comorbidities: A Literature Review. Med Sci (Basel). 2018 Oct 25;6(4):95.
 [PMID: 30366448]

- 233. Hunter JE, McLay LK, France KG, Blampied NM. Sleep and stereotypy in children with autism: effectiveness of function-based behavioral treatment. Sleep Med. 2021 Apr;80:301-304. Epub 2021 Feb 2. [PMID: 33610955]
- 234. Pattison E, Papadopoulos N, Marks D, McGillivray J, Rinehart N. Behavioural Treatments for Sleep Problems in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder: a Review of the Recent Literature. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2020 Jul 13;22(9):46. [PMID: 32661719]
- 235. Esposito D, Belli A, Ferri R, Bruni O. Sleeping without Prescription: Management of Sleep Disorders in Children with Autism with Non-Pharmacological Interventions and Over-the-Counter Treatments. Brain Sci. 2020 Jul 11;10(7):441.
 [PMID: 32664572]
- 236. Ballester P, Richdale AL, Baker EK, Peiró AM. Sleep in autism: A biomolecular approach to aetiology and treatment. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Dec;54:101357. Epub 2020 Jul 9. [PMID: 32759030]
- 237. American Psychiatric Association (APA) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- **238.** Beale-Ellis S. Sensing the City. An Autistic Perspective. Philadelphia, PA: Jessica Kingsley Publisher; 2017.
- **239.** Grandin T, Scariano M. Emergence: Labeled Autistic. Novato, CA: Arena Press; 1986.
- **240.** O'Neill JL. Through the Eyes of Aliens: A Book about Autistic People. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers; 1999.
- 241. Tola G, Talu V, Congiu T, Bain P, Lindert J. Built Environment Design and People with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): A Scoping Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Mar 19;18(6):3203. [PMID: 33808817]

- 242. Nagib W, Williams A. Creating "therapeutic landscapes" at home: The experiences of families of children with autism. Health Place. 2018 Jul;52:46-54. [PMID: 29777977]
- 243. Fallea A, Zuccarello R, Roccella M, Quatrosi G, Donadio S, Vetri L, Calì F. Sensory-Adapted Dental Environment for the Treatment of Patients with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Children (Basel). 2022 Mar 10;9(3):393. [PMID: 35327765]
- 244. Joseph O'Neil, Benjamin Hoffman, COUNCIL ON INJURY, VIOLENCE, AND POISON PREVENTION, Phyllis F. Agran, Sarah A. Denny, Michael Hirsh, Brian Johnston, Lois K. Lee, Kathy Monroe, Judy Schaechter, Milton Tenenbein, Mark R. Zonfrillo, Kyran Quinlan; Transporting Children With Special Health Care Needs. Pediatrics. May 2019; 143 (5): e20190724. [**PMID: 31010906**]
- 245. Yonkman J, Lawler B, Talty J, O'Neil J, Bull M. Safely transporting children with autism spectrum disorder: evaluation and intervention. Am J Occup Ther. 2013 Nov-Dec;67(6):711-6. [PMID: 24195905]
- 246. Angell AM, Solomon O. Understanding parents' concerns about their children with autism taking public school transportation in Los Angeles County. Autism. 2018 May;22(4):401-413. Epub 2017 Feb 1. [PMID: 29153001]
- 247. Falkmer T, Anund A, Sörensen G, Falkmer M. The transport mobility situation for children with autism spectrum disorders. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2009;11:90-100. doi: 10.1080/11038120410020575
- 248. Kersten ML, Coxon K, Lee H, Wilson NJ. Developing community mobility and driving with youth on the autism spectrum: A psychosocial perspective. Scand J Occup Ther. 2021 Feb;28(2):91-96. Epub 2020 Aug 5. [PMID: 32755424]
- 249. Lubin A, Feeley C. Transportation issues of adults on the autism spectrum: findings from focus group discussions. Transport Research Record. 2016;2542(1):1–8.

- **250.** Zalewska A, Migliore A, Butterworth J. Selfdetermination, social skills, job search, and transportation: is there a relationship with employment of young adults with autism? JVR. 2016;45(3):225–239.
- 251. Pearson JN, Meadan H. FACES: An Advocacy Intervention for African American Parents of Children With Autism. Intellect Dev Disabil. 2021 Apr 1;59(2):155-171. doi: 10.1352/1934-9556-59.2.155. [PMID: 33793780]
- 252. Deb SS, Retzer A, Roy M, Acharya R, Limbu B, Roy A. The effectiveness of parent training for children with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analyses. BMC Psychiatry. 2020 Dec 7;20(1):583. doi: 10. 1186/s12888-020-02973-7. [PMID: 33287762]
- 253. Nicolaidis C, Raymaker D, Kapp SK, Baggs A, Ashkenazy E, McDonald K, Weiner M, Maslak J, Hunter M, Joyce A. The AASPIRE practice-based guidelines for the inclusion of autistic adults in research as co-researchers and study participants. Autism. 2019 Nov;23(8):2007-2019. doi: 10.1177/1362361319830523. Epub 2019 Apr 3. [PMID: 30939892]
- 254. Zwaigenbaum L, Bauman ML, Choueiri R, Kasari C, Carter A, Granpeesheh D, Mailloux Z, Smith Roley S, Wagner S, Fein D, Pierce K, Buie T, Davis PA, Newschaffer C, Robins D, Wetherby A, Stone WL, Yirmiya N, Estes A, Hansen RL, McPartland JC, Natowicz MR. Early Intervention for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder Under 3 Years of Age: Recommendations for . and Research. Pediatrics. 2015 Oct;136 Suppl 1:S60-81. [PMID: 26430170]
- 255. Kaiser K, Villalobos ME, Locke J, Iruka IU, Proctor C, Boyd B. A culturally grounded autism parent training program with Black parents. Autism. 2022 Apr;26(3):716-726. Epub 2022 Mar 2. [PMID: 35232271]

- 256. Taylor JL, Hodapp RM, Burke MM, Waitz-Kudla SN, Rabideau C. Training Parents of Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder to Advocate for Adult Disability Services: Results from a Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 Mar;47(3):846-857. [PMID: 28070786]
- 257. Luelmo P, Kasari C; Fiesta Educativa, Inc. Randomized pilot study of a special education advocacy program for Latinx/minority parents of children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2021 Aug;25(6):1809-1815. doi: 10.1177/13 62361321998561. Epub 2021 Apr 16. [PMID: 33863241]
- 258. Leadbitter K, Buckle KL, Ellis C, Dekker M. Autistic Self-Advocacy and the Neurodiversity Movement: Implications for Autism Early Intervention Research and Practice. Front Psychol. 2021 Apr 12;12:635690. [PMID: 33912110]
- 259. Szlamka Z, Tekola B, Hoekstra R, Hanlon C. The role of advocacy and empowerment in shaping service development for families raising children with developmental disabilities. Health Expect. 2022 May 29. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 35644908]
- 260. Cooley WC, Sagerman PJ, American Academy of Pediatrics, American Academy of Family Physicians, American College of Physicians, Transitions Clinical Report Authoring Group. Supporting the health care transition from adolescence to adulthood in the medical home. Pediatrics. 2011;128(1):182–200 [PMID: 21708806]
- 261. Burdo-Hartman WA, Patel DR. Medical home and transition planning for children and youth with special health care needs. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2008;55(6):1287–1297, vii–viii. [PMID: 19041458]
- 262. Coury D, Jones NE, Klatka K, Winklosky B, Perrin JM. Healthcare for children with autism: the Autism Treatment Network. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(6):828–832 [PMID: 19745738]

- 263. Myers SM, Johnson CP; American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children With Disabilities. Management of children with autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2007 Nov;120(5):1162-82. Epub 2007 Oct 29. [PMID: 17967921]
- 264. Shattuck PT, Garfield T, Roux AM, Rast JE, Anderson K, Hassrick EM, Kuo A. Services for Adults With Autism Spectrum Disorder: a Systems Perspective. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2020 Feb 5;22(3):13. [PMID: 32026004]
- 265. Kuhlthau KA, Delahaye J, Erickson-Warfield M, Shui A, Crossman M, van der Weerd E. Health Care Transition Services for Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorders: Perspectives of Caregivers. Pediatrics. 2016 Feb;137 Suppl 2:S158-66. [PMID: 26908471]
- 266. Cheak-Zamora NC, Yang X, Farmer JE, Clark M. Disparities in transition planning for youth with autism spectrum disorder. Pediatrics. 2013 Mar;131(3):447-54. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1572. Epub 2013 Feb 11. [PMID: 23400613]
- 267. Zeng S, Strain A, Sung C. Health Care Transition Services and Adaptive and Social-Emotional Functioning of Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Feb;51(2): 589-599. doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04564-7. [PMID: 32556835]
- 268. Shattuck PT, Narendorf SC, Cooper B, Sterzing PR, Wagner M, Taylor JL. Postsecondary education and employment among youth with an autism spectrum disorder. Pediatrics. 2012 Jun;129(6):1042-9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2864. Epub 2012 May 14. [PMID: 22585766]
- 269. Roux AM, Shattuck PT, Cooper BP, Anderson KA, Wagner M, Narendorf SC. Postsecondary employment experiences among young adults with an autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2013 Sep;52(9):931-9. Epub 2013 Jul 31. [PMID: 23972695]

- 270. Chen JL, Leader G, Sung C. Trends in Employment for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder: a Review of the Research Literature. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2015;2:115-127. doi: 10.1007/ s40489-014-0041-6
- 271. Sansosti FJ, Merchant D, Koch LC, Rumrill P, Herrera A. Providing supportive transition services to individuals with autism spectrum disorder: Considerations for vocational rehabilitation professionals. Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation. 2017;47(2):207-222. doi: 10. 3233/JvR-170896
- 272. Roux AM, Ras JE, Anderson KA, Shattuck PT. National Autism Indicators Report: Vocational Rehabilitation. Philadelphia, PA: Life Course Outcomes Research Program, A.J. Drexel Autism Institute, Drexel University, 2016.
- 273. Nicholas DB, Zwaigenbaum L, Zwicker J, Clarke ME, Lamsal R, Stoddart KP, Carroll C, Muskat B, Spoelstra M, Lowe K. Evaluation of employment-support services for adults with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2018 Aug;22(6):693-702. Epub 2017 Jun 21. [PMID: 28637355]
- 274. Wehman P, Brooke V, Brooke AM, Ham W, Schall C, McDonough J, Lau S, Seward H, Avellone L. Employment for adults with autism spectrum disorders: A retrospective review of a customized employment approach. Res Dev Disabil. 2016 Jun-Jul;53-54:61-72. Epub 2016 Feb 6. [PMID: 26855048]
- 275. Wehman P, Schall C, McDonough J, et al. Project SEARCH for Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorders: Increasing Competitive Employment On Transition From High School. Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions. 2013;15(3):144-155. doi: 10.1177/1098300712459760

- 276. Mandell DS. A house is not a home: The great residential divide in autism care. Autism. 2017 Oct;21(7):810-811. [PMID: 28891330]
- 277. Marsack CN, Perry TE. Aging in Place in Every Community: Social Exclusion Experiences of Parents of Adult children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Res Aging. 2018 Jul;40(6):535-557. Epub 2017 Jul 5. [PMID: 28677419]
- 278. Marsack-Topolewski CN, Weisz AN. Parents' Perceptions of Access to Services for Their Adult Children Diagnosed With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Families in Society. 2020;101(2):190-204. doi: 10.1177/1044389419881273
- 279. Ghanouni P, Quirke S, Blok J, Casey A. Independent living in adults with autism spectrum disorder: Stakeholders' perspectives and experiences. Res Dev Disabil. 2021 Dec;119:104085. Epub 2021 Sep 30. [PMID: 34600352]
- 280. Stone B. Homelessness as a Product of Social Exclusion: Reinterpreting Autistic Adults' Narratives through the Lens of Critical Disability Studies. Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research. 2022;24(1):181–195. http://doi.org/ 10.16993/sjdr.881
- 281. Kargas N, Harley KM, Roberts A, Sharman S. Prevalence of clinical autistic traits within a homeless population: barriers to accessing homeless services. Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness. 2019;28(2):90-95. doi: 10.1080/10530789.2019.1607139
- 282. Stone B. (2019) 'The domino effect': pathways in and out of homelessness for autistic adults. Disability & Society. 2019;34(1):169-174. doi: 10.1080/09687599.2018.1536842
- 283. Stone B, Cameron A, Dowling S. The autistic experience of homelessness: Implications from a narrative enquiry. Autism. 2022 Jun 25: 13623613221105091. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 35757980]

- 284. Garratt E, Flaherty J. There's nothing I can do to stop it': homelessness among autistic people in a British city. Disability & Society. 2021. doi: 10.1080/09687599.2021.2004881
- 285. Osborn E, Young R. Autistic and without a home: a systematic review and meta-ethnography of the presence and experiences of homelessness amongst autistic individuals. Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness. 2022. doi: 10. 1080/10530789.2022.2086669
- **286.** Churchard A, Ryder M, Greenhill A, Mandy W. The prevalence of autistic traits in a homeless population. Autism. 2019 Apr;23(3):665-676. Epub 2018 Apr 10. [**PMID: 29633853**]
- 287. Lindgren S, Wacker D, Suess A, Schieltz K, Pelzel K, Kopelman T, Lee J, Romani P, Waldron D. Telehealth and Autism: Treating Challenging Behavior at Lower Cost. Pediatrics. 2016 Feb;137 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S167-75. [PMID: 26908472]
- 288. Wainer AL, Ingersoll BR. Increasing access to an ASD imitation intervention via a telehealth parent training program. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2015;45(12):3877– 3890. [PMID: 25035089]
- 289. Simacek J, Dimian AF, McComas JJ. Communication intervention for young children with severe neurodevelopmental disabilities via telehealth. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2017;47(3):744–767. [PMID: 28093677]
- 290. Suess AN, Wacker DP, Schwartz JE, Lustig N, Detrick J. Preliminary evidence on the use of telehealth in an outpatient behavior clinic. Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis. 2016;49(3):686– 692. [PMID: 27001117]
- 291. Suess AN, Romani PW, Wacker DP, Dyson SM, Kuhle JL, Lee JF, Waldron DB, et al. Evaluating the treatment fidelity of parents who conduct in-home functional communication training with coaching via telehealth. Journal of Behavioral Education. 2014;23(1):34–59. doi: 10.1007/ \$10864-013-9183-3

- 292. Juárez AP, Weitlauf AS, Nicholson A, Pasternak A, Broderick N, Hine J, Stainbrook JA, Warren Z. Early Identification of ASD Through Telemedicine: Potential Value for Underserved Populations. J Autism Dev Disord. 2018 Aug;48(8):2601-2610. [PMID: 29527626]
- 293. Varleisha Gibbs & Susan Toth-Cohen (2011) Family-Centered Occupational Therapy and Telerehabilitation for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders, Occupational Therapy In Health Care, 25:4, 298-314 [PMID: 23899082]
- 294. Valentine AZ, Hall SS, Young E, Brown BJ, Groom MJ, Hollis C, Hall CL. Implementation of Telehealth Services to Assess, Monitor, and Treat Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2021 Jan 20;23(1): e22619. [PMID: 33326409]
- 295. Jeste S, Hyde C, Distefano C, Halladay A, Ray S, Porath M, Wilson RB, Thurm A. Changes in access to educational and healthcare services for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities during COVID-19 restrictions. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2020 Sep 17. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 32939917]
- 296. Vetri L, Roccella M. On the Playing Field to Improve: A Goal for Autism. Medicina (Kaunas). 2020 Oct 30;56(11):585. [PMID: 33143343]
- 297. Howells K, Sivaratnam C, Lindor E, He J, Hyde C, McGillivray J, Wilson RB, Rinehart N. Can a Community-Based Football Program Benefit Motor Ability in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder? A Pilot Evaluation Considering the Role of Social Impairments. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Jan;52(1):402-413. [PMID: 33713242]
- 298. Howells K, Sivaratnam C, Lindor E, Hyde C, McGillivray J, Whitehouse A, Rinehart N. Can Participation in a Community Organized Football Program Improve Social, Behavioural Functioning and Communication in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder? A Pilot Study. J Autism Dev Disord. 2020 Oct;50(10):3714-3727. [PMID: 32107700]

- 299. Shanok NA, Sotelo M. A pilot tennis program for training fitness and social behaviors in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2022 Aug;62(8):1118-1126.
 [PMID: 35860969]
- 300. Lopez-Diaz JM, Felgueras Custodio N, Garrote Camarena I. Football as an Alternative to Work on the Development of Social Skills in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder with Level 1. Behav Sci (Basel). 2021 Nov 19;11(11):159. [PMID: 34821620]
- 301. Yang S, Liu Z, Xiong X, Cai K, Zhu L, Dong X, Wang J, Zhu H, Shi Y, Chen A. Effects of Mini-Basketball Training Program on Social Communication Impairment and Executive Control Network in Preschool Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 May 12;18(10):5132. [PMID: 34066139]
- 302. Tse CYA, Lee HP, Chan KSK, Edgar VB, Wilkinson-Smith A, Lai WHE. Examining the impact of physical activity on sleep quality and executive functions in children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. Autism. 2019 Oct;23(7):1699-1710. [PMID: 30663324]
- 303. Shanok NA, Sotelo M, Hong J. Brief Report: The Utility of a Golf Training Program for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 Nov;49(11):4691-4697.
 [PMID: 31414265]
- 304. Jozkowski AC, Cermak SA. Moderating effect of social interaction on enjoyment and perception of physical activity in young adults with autism spectrum disorders. Int J Dev Disabil. 2019 Feb 8;66(3):222-234. [PMID: 34141385]
- **305.** Yu CCW, Wong SWL, Lo FSF, So RCH, Chan DFY. Study protocol: a randomized controlled trial study on the effect of a game-based exercise training program on promoting physical fitness and mental health in children with autism spectrum disorder. BMC Psychiatry. 2018 Feb 27;18(1):56. [**PMID: 29486750**]
- **306.** Rosso EG. Brief Report: Coaching Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder in a School-Based Multi-Sport Program. J Autism Dev Disord. 2016 Jul;46(7):2526-31. [**PMID: 26956716**]
- 307. Perrin JM, Coury DL, Hyman SL, Cole L, Reynolds AM, Clemons T. Complementary and alternative medicine use in a large pediatric autism sample. Pediatrics. 2012 Nov;130 Suppl 2:S77-82.
 [PMID: 23118257]
- 308. Brondino N, Fusar-Poli L, Rocchetti M, Provenzani U, Barale F, Politi P. Complementary and Alternative Therapies for Autism Spectrum Disorder. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2015; 2015:258589. Epub 2015 May 7. [PMID: 26064157]
- 309. Srinivasan SM, Cavagnino DT, Bhat AN. Effects of Equine Therapy on Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Systematic Review. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2018 Jun;5(2):156-175. Epub 2018 Feb 20. [PMID: 30319932]
- **310.** Carlisle GK, Johnson RA, Wang Z, Bibbo J, Cheak-Zamora N, Lyons LA. Exploratory Study of Cat Adoption in Families of Children with Autism: Impact on Children's Social Skills and Anxiety. J Pediatr Nurs. 2021 May-Jun;58:28-35. Epub 2020 Dec 6. [**PMID: 33290937**]
- 311. O'Haire M. Research on animal-assisted intervention and autism spectrum disorder, 2012-2015. Appl Dev Sci. 2017;21(3):200-216. Epub 2017 Feb 23. [PMID: 31080343]
- 312. Siewertsen CM, French ED, Teramoto M. Autism spectrum disorder and pet therapy. Adv Mind Body Med. 2015 Spring;29(2):22-5.[PMID: 25831431]
- 313. Llambias C, Magill-Evans J, Smith V, Warren S. Equine-Assisted Occupational Therapy: Increasing Engagement for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Am J Occup Ther. 2016 Nov/ Dec;70(6):7006220040p1-7006220040p9. [PMID: 27767943]

- 314. Mayer-Benarous H, Benarous X, Vonthron F, Cohen D. Music Therapy for Children With Autistic Spectrum Disorder and/or Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders: A Systematic Review.
 Front Psychiatry. 2021 Apr 9;12:643234.
 [PMID: 33897497]
- 315. Geretsegger M, Elefant C, Mössler KA, Gold C. Music therapy for people with autism spectrum disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Jun 17;2014(6):CD004381. Update in: Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022 May 9;5:CD004381. [PMID: 24936966]
- **316.** Chasen LR. Social skills, emotional growth and drama therapy: Inspiring connection on the autism spectrum. Jessica Kingsley Publishers; 2011 Aug 15.
- 317. Hartley M, Dorstyn D, Due C. Mindfulness for Children and Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Their Caregivers: A Meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 Oct;49(10):4306-4319. [PMID: 31342444]
- 318. Chan AS, Sze SL, Siu NY, Lau EM, Cheung MC. A chinese mind-body exercise improves selfcontrol of children with autism: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2013 Jul 10;8(7): e68184. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068184.
 [PMID: 23874533]
- 319. Semple RJ. Review: Yoga and mindfulness for youth with autism spectrum disorder: review of the current evidence. Child Adolesc Ment Health. 2019 Feb;24(1):12-18. Epub 2018 Aug 13. [PMID: 32677240]
- **320.** wai Fan K. National center for complementary and alternative medicine website. Journal of the Medical Library Association. 2005 Jul;93(3):410.
- 321. Wong YM. Tongue acupuncture and autism spectrum disorder. J Altern Complement Med. 2010 Dec;16(12):1247-8. doi: 10.1089/acm. 2010.0615. Epub 2010 Nov 29. [PMID: 21114403]

- 322. Wong VC, Sun JG. Randomized controlled trial of acupuncture versus sham acupuncture in autism spectrum disorder. J Altern Complement Med. 2010 May;16(5):545-53 [PMID: 20804366]
- 323. Lee MS, Kim JI, Ernst E. Massage therapy for children with autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. J Clin Psychiatry. 2011 Mar; 72(3):406-11. doi: 10.4088/JCP.09r05848whi. Epub 2010 Dec 28. [PMID: 21208598]
- 324. Wan Yunus F, Liu KP, Bissett M, Penkala S. Sensory-Based Intervention for Children with Behavioral Problems: A Systematic Review. J Autism Dev Disord. 2015 Nov;45(11):3565-79. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2503-9.
 [PMID: 26092640]
- 325. Agarwal R, Burke SL, Maddux M. Current state of evidence of cannabis utilization for treatment of autism spectrum disorders. BMC Psychiatry. 2019 Oct 29;19(1):328. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2259-4. [PMID: 31664964]
- 326. Silva EAD Junior, Medeiros WMB, Torro N, Sousa JMM, Almeida IBCM, Costa FBD, Pontes KM, Nunes ELG, Rosa MDD, Albuquerque KLGD. Cannabis and cannabinoid use in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. Trends Psychiatry Psychother. 2022 Jun 13;44:e20200149. [PMID: 34043900]
- 327. Laugeson EA, Frankel F, Gantman A, Dillon AR, Mogil C. Evidence-based social skills training for adolescents with autism spectrum disorders: the UCLA PEERS program. J Autism Dev Disord. 2012 Jun;42(6):1025-36. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1339-1. [PMID: 21858588]
- 328. Shattuck PT, Steinberg J, Yu J, Wei X, Cooper BP, Newman L, Roux AM. Disability Identification and Self-Efficacy among College Students on the Autism Spectrum. Autism Res Treat. 2014;2014: 924182. Epub 2014 Feb 23. [PMID: 24707401]

- 329. Cassady JM. Teachers' Attitudes Toward the Inclusion of Students with Autism and Emotional Behavioral Disorder. Electronic Journal for Inclusive Education. 2011;2(7). Available at: corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/ejie/vol2/ iss7/5/
- 330. Joyce B, Showers B. Student achievement through staff development (3rd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development; 2002.
- 331. Lerner MD, Mikami AY, Levine K. Socio-dramatic affective-relational intervention for adolescents with asperger syndrome & high functioning autism: pilot study. Autism. 2011 Jan;15(1):21-42. Epub 2010 Oct 5. [PMID: 20923890]
- 332. Corbett BA, Blain SD, Ioannou S, Balser M. Changes in anxiety following a randomized control trial of a theatre-based intervention for youth with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2017 Apr;21(3):333-343. Epub 2016 Jul 8. [PMID: 27154909]
- 333. Maenner MJ, Shaw KA, Bakian AV, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 8 Years Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ 2021;70(No. SS-11):1–16. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss7011a1external icon36 https://www.cdc.gov/ncbdd/autism/addm.html
- 334. Shaw KA, Maenner MJ, Bakian AV, et al. Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 4 Years — Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2018. MMWR Surveill Summ 2021;70(No. SS-10):1–14. doi: http:// dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss7010a1
- 335. Patrick ME, Shaw KA, Dietz PM, et al. Prevalence of intellectual disability among eight-year-old children from selected communities in the United States, 2014. Disabil Health J. 2021;14 (2):101023. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.101023

- 336. Matthew J Maenner, Sierra J Graves, Georgina Peacock, Margaret A Honein, Coleen A Boyle, Patricia M Dietz, Comparison of 2 Case Definitions for Ascertaining the Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among 8-Year-Old Children, American Journal of Epidemiology, Volume 190, Issue 10, October 2021, Pages 2198–2207, https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab106
- 337. Kelly A. Shaw, Dedria McArthur, Michelle M. Hughes, Amanda V. Bakian, Li-Ching Lee, Sydney Pettygrove, Matthew J. Maenner, Progress and Disparities in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016, Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, Volume 61, Issue 7, 2022, Pages 905-914, ISSN 0890-8567, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2021.11.019.
- **338.** Update citation to: Schendel DE, Diguiseppi C, Croen LA, Fallin MD, Reed PL, Schieve LA, Wiggins LD, Daniels J, Grether J, Levy SE, Miller L, Newschaffer C, Pinto-Martin J, Robinson C, Windham GC, Alexander A, Aylsworth AS, Bernal P, Bonner JD, Blaskey L, Bradley C, Collins J, Ferretti CJ, Farzadegan H, Giarelli E, Harvey M, Hepburn S, Herr M, Kaparich K, Landa R, Lee LC, Levenseller B, Meyerer S, Rahbar MH, Ratchford A, Reynolds A, Rosenberg S, Rusyniak J, Shapira SK, Smith K, Souders M, Thompson PA, Young L, Yeargin-Allsopp M. The Study to Explore Early Development (SEED): a multisite epidemiologic study of autism by the Centers for Autism and Developmental Disabilities Research and Epidemiology (CADDRE) network. J Autism Dev Disord. 2012 Oct;42(10):2121-40. doi: 10.1007/ s10803-012-1461-8. [PMID: 22350336]
- 339. Wiggins LD, Nadler C, Rosenberg S, Moody E, Reyes N, Reynolds A, Alexander A, Daniels J, Thomas K, Giarelli E, Levy SE. Many Young Children with Autism Who Use Psychotropic Medication Do Not Receive Behavior Therapy: A Multisite Case-Control Study. J Pediatr. 2021 May;232:264-271. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds. 2021.01.043. Epub 2021 Jan 22. [PMID: 33493493]

- 340. Rubenstein E, Croen L, Lee LC, Moody E, Schieve LA, Soke GN, Thomas K, Wiggins L, Daniels J. Community-based service use in preschool children with autism spectrum disorder and associations with insurance status. Res Autism Spectr Disord. 2019 Oct;66:101410. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2019.101410. Epub 2019 Jun 15. [PMID: 32831903]
- 341. Wiggins LD, Nadler C, Rosenberg S, Moody E, Reyes N, Reynolds A, Alexander A, Daniels J, Thomas K, Giarelli E, Levy SE. Many Young Children with Autism Who Use Psychotropic Medication Do Not Receive Behavior Therapy: A Multisite Case-Control Study. J Pediatr. 2021 May;232:264-271. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds. 2021.01.043. Epub 2021 Jan 22. [PMID: 33493493]
- 342. Reynolds AM, Soke GN, Sabourin KR, Croen LA, Daniels JL, Fallin MD, Kral TVE, Lee LC, Newschaffer CJ, Pinto-Martin JA, Schieve LA, Sims A, Wiggins L, Levy SE. Gastrointestinal Symptoms in 2- to 5-Year-Old Children in the Study to Explore Early Development. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Nov;51(11):3806-3817. doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04786-9. Epub 2021 Jan 4. [PMID: 33394243]
- 343. Tian LH, Wiggins LD, Schieve LA, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Dietz P, Aylsworth AS, Elias ER, Hoover-Fong JE, Meeks NJL, Souders MC, Tsai AC, Zackai EH, Alexander AA, Dowling NF, Shapira SK. Mapping the Relationship between Dysmorphology and Cognitive, Behavioral, and Developmental Outcomes in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Autism Res. 2020 Jul;13(7):1227-1238. doi: 10.1002/aur.2314. Epub 2020 Jun 22. [PMID: 32567802]
- 344. Wiggins LD, DiGuiseppi C, Schieve L, Moody E, Soke G, Giarelli E, Levy S. Wandering Among Preschool Children with and Without Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2020 May;41(4):251-257. doi: 10.1097/ DBP.000000000000780. [PMID: 31977588]

- 345. Fields VL, Soke GN, Reynolds A, Tian LH, Wiggins L, Maenner M, DiGuiseppi C, Kral TVE, Hightshoe K, Schieve LA. Pica, Autism, and Other Disabilities. Pediatrics. 2021 Feb;147(2): e20200462. doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-0462. Epub 2021 Jan 6. [PMID: 33408069]
- 346. Wiggins LD, Nadler C, Hepburn S, Rosenberg S, Reynolds A, Zubler J. Toileting Resistance Among Preschool-Age Children with and Without Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2022 May 1;43(4):216-223. doi: 10.1097/ DBP.00000000001036. Epub 2022 Feb 15. [PMID: 35170572]
- 347. Okoro CA, Hollis ND, Cyrus AC, Griffin-Blake S. Prevalence of Disabilities and Health Care Access by Disability Status and Type Among Adults — United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018;67:882–887. doi: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.15585/mmwr.mm6732a3.
- **348.** Anderson WL, Armour BS, Finkelstein EA, Wiener JM. Estimates of State-Level Health-Care Expenditures Associated with Disability. Public Health Reports 2010; 125(1): 44-51.
- 349. Krahn GL et al. Persons with disabilities as an unrecognized health disparity population. Am J Public Health. 2015;105:S198–S206. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302182.
- **350.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Surgeon General's Call To Action To Improve the Health and Wellness of Persons with Disabilities. US Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General, 2005.
- **351.** Coleen A. Boyle, Michael H. Fox, Susan M. Havercamp, Jennifer Zubler, The public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic for people with disabilities, Disability and Health Journal, Volume 13, Issue 3, 2020, 100943, ISSN 1936-6574. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100943.

- **352.** Broder Fingert S, Carter A, Pierce K, Stone WL, Wetherby A, Scheldrick C, Smith C, Bacon E, James SN, Ibañez L, Feinberg E. Implementing systems-based innovations to improve access to early screening, diagnosis, and treatment services for children with autism spectrum disorder: An Autism Spectrum Disorder Pediatric, Early Detection, Engagement, and Services network study. Autism. 2019 Apr;23(3):653-664. [**PMID: 29633852**]
- 353. Pierce K, Gazestani VH, Bacon E, Barnes CC, Cha D, Nalabolu S, Lopez L, Moore A, Pence-Stophaeros S, Courchesne E. Evaluation of the Diagnostic Stability of the Early Autism Spectrum Disorder Phenotype in the General Population Starting at 12 Months. JAMA Pediatr. 2019 Jun 1;173(6):578-587. [PMID: 31034004]
- 354. Feinberg E, Augustyn M, Broder-Fingert S, Bennett A, Weitzman C, Kuhn J, Hickey E, Chu A, Levinson J, Sandler Eilenberg J, Silverstein M, Cabral HJ, Patts G, Diaz-Linhart Y, Fernandez-Pastrana I, Rosenberg J, Miller JS, Guevara JP, Fenick AM, Blum NJ. Effect of Family Navigation on Diagnostic Ascertainment Among Children at Risk for Autism: A Randomized Clinical Trial From DBPNet. JAMA Pediatr. 2021 Mar 1;175 (3):243-250. [PMID: 33427861]
- 355. Holingue C, Jang Y, Azad G, Landa R. Key stakeholder perspectives on obstacles to an autismspecific Medicaid waiver service delivery model. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2022 Jan;35(1):205-216. doi: 10.1111/jar.12940. Epub 2021 Sep 23. PMID: 34558157; PMCID: PMC8995080.
- 356. Schreibman L, Dawson G, Stahmer AC, Landa R, Rogers SJ, McGee GG, ... Halladay A. (2015). Naturalistic Developmental Behavioral Interventions: Empirically Validated Treatments for Autism Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 10.1007/s10803-015-2407-8

- 357. Eskow KG, Summers JA. Family perceptions of the impacts of a home and community based services autism waiver: Making family life possible. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2019 Jan;32(1):159-171. Epub 2018 Aug 27. [PMID: 30151875]
- **358.** McLean KJ, Hoekstra AM, Bishop L. United States Medicaid home and community-based services for people with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A scoping review. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2021 May;34(3):684-694. Epub 2020 Nov 28. [**PMID: 33247520**]
- 359. Graaf G, Snowden L. Medicaid waiver adoption for youth with complex behavioral health care needs: An analysis of state decision-making. 2020. Journal of Disability Policy Studies. doi: 10.1177/1044207319897058
- 360. Velott DL, Agbese E, Mandell D, Stein BD, Dick AW, Yu H, Leslie DL. Medicaid 1915(c) Homeand Community-Based Services waivers for children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2016 May;20(4):473-82. Epub 2015 Jun 18. [PMID: 26088059]
- **361.** Eskow KG, Chasson GS, Summers JA. The Role of Choice and Control in the Impact of Autism Waiver Services on Family Quality of Life and Child Progress. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 May;49(5):2035-2048. [**PMID: 30689081**]
- 362. Friedman C. A National Analysis of Medicaid Home and Community Based Services Waivers for People With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities: FY 2015. Intellect Dev Disabil. 2017 Oct;55(5):281-302. [PMID: 28972867]
- 363. Hewitt AS, Stancliffe RJ, Sirek AJ, Hall-Lande J, Taub S, Engler J, Bershadsky J, Fortune J, Moseley, CR. Characteristics of adults with autism spectrum disorder who use adult developmental disability services: Results from 25 US states. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders. 2012; 6(2):741-751, doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.10.007

- 364. Miller NA, Merryman MB, Eskow K, & Chasson GS (2016). State design and use of Medicaid 1915(c) waivers and related benefits to provide services to children and youth with autism spectrum disorder. American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. 10.1352/1944-7558-121.4.295
- **365.** Choi KR, Knight EA, Stein BD, Coleman KJ. Autism Insurance Mandates in the US: Comparison of Mandated Commercial Insurance Benefits Across States. Matern Child Health J. 2020 Jul;24(7):894-900. [**PMID: 32356129**]
- 366. Mandell DS, Barry CL, Marcus SC, Xie M, Shea K, Mullan K, Epstein AJ. Effects of Autism Spectrum Disorder Insurance Mandates on the Treated Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder. JAMA Pediatr. 2016 Sep 1;170(9):887-93. [PMID: 27399053]
- 367. Xu G, Strathearn L, Liu B, O'Brien M, Kopelman TG, Zhu J, Snetselaar LG, Bao W. Prevalence and Treatment Patterns of Autism Spectrum Disorder in the United States, 2016. JAMA Pediatr. 2019 Feb 1;173(2):153-159. [PMID: 30508021]
- 368. Candon MK, Barry CL, Marcus SC, Epstein AJ, Kennedy-Hendricks A, Xie M, Mandell DS. Insurance Mandates and Out-of-Pocket Spending for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatrics. 2019 Jan;143(1):e20180654. Epub 2018 Dec 12. [PMID: 30541827]
- 369. Miller NA, Merryman MB, Eskow KG, Chasson GS. State Design and Use of Medicaid 1915(c) Waivers and Related Benefits to Provide Services to Children and Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Am J Intellect Dev Disabil. 2016 Jul;121(4):295-311. [PMID: 27351698]
- 370. Thomas KC, Parish SL, Williams CS. Healthcare expenditures for autism during times of school transition: some vulnerable families fall behind. Matern Child Health J. 2014 Oct;18(8):1936-44. [PMID: 24553795]

- 371. Roth BM, Kralovic S, Roizen NJ, Spannagel SC, Minich N, Knapp J. Impact of Autism Navigator on Access to Services. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2016 Apr;37(3):188-95. [PMID: 26890560]
- 372. Pizur-Barnekow K, Lang AC, Barger B. Development and utility of the Family-Centered Autism Navigation interview. Autism. 2021 May;25(4):1154-1160. Epub 2020 Nov 25. [PMID: 33238720]
- 373. Schurer Coldiron J, Bruns EJ, Quick HA. Comprehensive Review of Wraparound Care Coordination Research, 1986–2014. J Child Fam Stud. 2017;26, 1245-1265. doi: 10.1007/ s10826-016-0639-7
- 374. Suter JC, Bruns EJ. Effectiveness of the Wraparound Process for Children with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders: A Meta-Analysis. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev. 2009; 12, 336. doi: 10.1007/ s10567-009-0059-y
- 375. Zhang W, Thompson KL, Watson LR, LaForett DR. Health Care Utilization for Privately and Publicly Insured Children During Autism Insurance Reform. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Nov 23. doi: 10.1007/s10803-021-05370-5. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 34816340]
- 376. Wang L, Mandell DS, Lawer L, Cidav Z, Leslie DL. Healthcare service use and costs for autism spectrum disorder: a comparison between medicaid and private insurance. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013 May;43(5):1057-64. doi: 10.1007/ s10803-012-1649-y. [PMID: 22965299]
- 377. McLean KJ, Hoekstra AM, Bishop L. United States Medicaid home and community-based services for people with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A scoping review. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2021 May;34(3):684-694. Epub 2020 Nov 28. [PMID: 33247520]

- 378. Houser L, McCarthy M, Lawer L, Mandell D. A Challenging Fit: Employment, Childcare, and Therapeutic Support in Families of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders. Journal of Social Service Research. 2014;40: 681-698. doi :10.1080/01488376.2014.930944
- 379. Gordon-Lipkin E, Foster J, Peacock G. Whittling Down the Wait Time: Exploring Models to Minimize the Delay from Initial Concern to Diagnosis and Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2016 Oct;63(5):851-9. [PMID: 27565363]
- **380.** Ames JL, Massolo ML, Davignon MN, Qian Y, Cerros HJ, Croen LA. Transitioning youth with autism spectrum disorders and other special health care needs into adult primary care: A provider survey. Autism. 2021 Apr;25(3):731-743. Epub 2020 Jun 18. [**PMID: 32551940**]
- 381. Lipinski S, Boegl K, Blanke ES, Suenkel U, Dziobek I. A blind spot in mental healthcare? Psychotherapists lack education and expertise for the support of adults on the autism spectrum. Autism. 2022 Aug;26(6):1509-1521. Epub 2021 Nov 26. [PMID: 34825580]
- 382. Scales K. It Is Time to Resolve the Direct Care Workforce Crisis in Long-Term Care. Gerontologist. 2021 Jun 2;61(4):497-504. doi: 10.1093/geront/ gnaa116. [PMID: 32853357]
- 383. Almeida B, Cohen MA, Stone RI, Weller CE. The Demographics and Economics of Direct Care Staff Highlight Their Vulnerabilities Amidst the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Aging Soc Policy. 2020 Jul-Oct;32(4-5):403-409. doi: 10.1080/08959420.2020.1759757. Epub 2020 Jun 8. [PMID: 32510289]
- 384. Vohra R, Madhavan S, Sambamoorthi U. Emergency Department Use Among Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD).
 J Autism Dev Disord. 2016 Apr;46(4):1441-54.
 [PMID: 26762115]

- 385. Deavenport-Saman A, Lu Y, Smith K, Yin L. Do Children with Autism Overutilize the Emergency Department? Examining Visit Urgency and Subsequent Hospital Admissions. Matern Child Health J. 2016 Feb;20(2):306-14. [PMID: 26520161]
- 386. Gordon-Lipkin E, Foster J, Peacock G. Whittling Down the Wait Time: Exploring Models to Minimize the Delay from Initial Concern to Diagnosis and Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2016 Oct;63(5):851-9.
 [PMID: 27565363]
- 387. Lewis LF. Realizing a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder as an adult. Int J Ment Health Nurs. 2016 Aug;25(4):346-54.
 [PMID: 26940281]
- **388.** Lewis LF. Exploring the Experience of Self-Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Adults. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2016 Oct;30 (5):575-80. [**PMID: 27654240**]
- 389. Lewis LF. A Mixed Methods Study of Barriers to Formal Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Adults. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017 Aug;47(8):2410-2424. [PMID: 28516422]
- 390. Gordon-Lipkin E, Foster J, Peacock G. Whittling Down the Wait Time: Exploring Models to Minimize the Delay from Initial Concern to Diagnosis and Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2016 Oct;63(5):851-9. [PMID: 27565363]
- 391. Hine JF, Herrington CG, Rothman AM, Mace RL, Patterson BL, Carlson KL, Warren ZE. Embedding Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis Within the Medical Home: Decreasing Wait Times Through Streamlined Assessment. J Autism Dev Disord. 2018 Aug;48(8):2846-2853. [PMID: 29589272]

- **392.** McNally Keehn R, Ciccarelli M, Szczepaniak D, Tomlin A, Lock T, Swigonski N. A Statewide Tiered System for Screening and Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatrics. 2020 Aug;146(2):e20193876. [**PMID: 32632023**]
- 393. Choueiri R, Lindenbaum A, Ravi M, Robsky W, Flahive J, Garrison W. Improving Early Identification and Access to Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Toddlers in a Culturally Diverse Community with the Rapid Interactive screening Test for Autism in Toddlers. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Nov;51(11):3937-3945. [PMID: 33423215]
- 394. Holingue C, Jang Y, Azad G, Landa R. Key stakeholder perspectives on obstacles to an autism-specific Medicaid waiver service delivery model. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2022 Jan;35(1):205-216. doi: 10.1111/jar.12940. Epub 2021 Sep 23. [PMID: 34558157]
- 395. Schott W, Nonnemacher S, Shea L. Service Use and Unmet Needs Among Adults with Autism Awaiting Home- and Community-Based Medicaid Services. J Autism Dev Disord. 2021 Apr;51(4):1188-1200. [PMID: 32671666]
- 396. Hirvikoski T, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Boman M, Larsson H, Lichtenstein P, Bölte S. Premature mortality in autism spectrum disorder. Br J Psychiatry. 2016 Mar;208(3):232-8. Epub 2015 Nov 5. [PMID: 26541693].
- **397.** Howlin P, Magiati I. Autism spectrum disorder: outcomes in adulthood. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2017 Mar;30(2):69-76. [**PMID: 28067726**]
- 398. Mason D, Ingham B, Urbanowicz A, Michael C, Birtles H, Woodbury-Smith M, Brown T, James I, Scarlett C, Nicolaidis C, Parr JR. A Systematic Review of What Barriers and Facilitators Prevent and Enable Physical Healthcare Services Access for Autistic Adults. J Autism Dev Disord. 2019 Aug;49(8):3387-3400. doi: 10.1007/s10803-019-04049-2. [PMID: 31124030]

- 399. Roestorf A, Bowler DM, Deserno MK, Howlin P, Klinger L, McConachie H, Parr JR, Powell P, Van Heijst BFC, Geurts HM. "Older Adults with ASD: The Consequences of Aging." Insights from a series of special interest group meetings held at the International Society for Autism Research 2016-2017. Res Autism Spectr Disord. 2019 Jul;63:3-12. [PMID: 31275429]
- 400. Wright SD, Wright CA, D'Astous V, Wadsworth AM. Autism aging. Gerontol Geriatr Educ. 2019 Jul-Sep;40(3):322-338. Epub 2016 Nov 21. [PMID: 27749163]
- 401. Mason, D., Ronald, A., Ambler, A., Caspi, A., Houts, R., Poulton, R., Ramrakha, S., Wertz, J., Moffitt, T. E., & Happé, F. (2021). Autistic traits are associated with faster pace of aging: Evidence from the Dunedin study at age 45. Autism Research, 14(8), 1684–1694. doi:10.1002/aur.2534
- **402.** Wallis KE. The Roadmap to Early and Equitable Autism Identification. Pediatrics. 2021 Jul;148 (Suppl 1):s21-s24. [**PMID: 34210843**]
- **403.** Anderson KA, Roux AM, Steinberg H, Garfield T, Rast JE, Shattuck PT, Shea LL. National Autism Indicators Report: The Intersection of Autism, Health, Poverty and Racial Inequity. Philadelphia: Policy and Analytics Center and Life Course Outcomes Research Program, A.J. Drexel Autism Institute, Drexel University, April 2022.
- 404. Pickard KE, Ingersoll BR. Quality versus quantity: The role of socioeconomic status on parentreported service knowledge, service use, unmet service needs, and barriers to service use. Autism. 2016;20(1):106-115. doi:10.1177/ 1362361315569745

- 405. Murphy MA, Ruble LA. A Comparative Study of Rurality and Urbanicity on Access to and Satisfaction with Services for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. Rural Special Education Quarterly. 2012;31(3):3-11. doi:10.1177/875687051203100302
- **406.** Mandell DS, Listerud J, Levy SE, Pinto-Martin JA. Race differences in the age at diagnosis among medicaid-eligible children with autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2002 Dec;41(12):1447-53. [**PMID: 12447031**]
- **407.** Mandell DS, Ittenbach RF, Levy SE, Pinto-Martin JA. Disparities in diagnoses received prior to a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2007 Oct;37(9):1795-802. Epub 2006 Dec 8. [**PMID: 17160456**]
- **408.** Zuckerman KE, Lindly OJ, Reyes NM, Chavez AE, Macias K, Smith KN, Reynolds A. Disparities in Diagnosis and Treatment of Autism in Latino and Non-Latino White Families. Pediatrics. 2017 May;139(5):e20163010. [**PMID: 28557734**]
- 409. Imm P, White T, Durkin MS. Assessment of racial and ethnic bias in autism spectrum disorder prevalence estimates from a US surveillance system. Autism. 2019 Nov;23(8):1927-1935. doi: 10.1177/1362361319827510. Epub 2019 Mar 20. [PMID: 30892923]
- **410.** Broder-Fingert S, Mateo CM, Zuckerman KE. Structural Racism and Autism. Pediatrics. 2020 Sep;146(3):e2020015420. [**PMID: 32839244**]
- **411.** St Amant HG, Schrager SM, Peña-Ricardo C, Williams ME, Vanderbilt DL. Language Barriers Impact Access to Services for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2018 Feb;48(2):333-340 [**PMID: 28988384**]
- 412. Bilaver LA, Havlicek J. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Autism-Related Health and Educational Services. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2019 Sep;40(7):501-510. [PMID: 31318777]

- 413. Kaiser K, Villalobos ME, Locke J, Iruka IU, Proctor C, Boyd B. A culturally grounded autism parent training program with Black parents. Autism. 2022 Apr;26(3):716-726. Epub 2022 Mar 2. [PMID: 35232271]
- **414.** Fong VC, Lee BS, Iarocci G. A community-engaged approach to examining barriers and facilitators to accessing autism services in Korean immigrant families. Autism. 2022 Feb;26(2):525-537. Epub 2021 Jul 21. [**PMID: 34286622**]
- 415. Social Security Administration: Remote Service Delivery Increased during COVID-19, but More Could Be Done to Assist Vulnerable Populations. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/products/ gao-23-104650
- 416. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice; Committee on Community-Based Solutions to Promote Health Equity in the United States; Baciu A, Negussie Y, Geller A, et al., editors. Communities in Action: Pathways to Health Equity. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2017 Jan 11. 2, The State of Health Disparities in the United States. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK425844/
- **417.** Chafe R, Audas R. The unseen high-cost users: children and youth with mental illness. Healthc Pap. 2014;14(2):52-6; discussion 58-60. [**PMID: 25880865**]
- **418.** Smith-Young J, Chafe R, Audas R. "Managing the Wait": Parents' Experiences in Accessing Diagnostic and Treatment Services for Children and Adolescents Diagnosed With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Health Serv Insights. 2020 Jan 27;13: 1178632920902141. [**PMID: 32063709**]



6001 Executive Boulevard, Bethesda, MD 20892 National Institute of Mental Health National Institutes of Health **Email:** IACCPublicInquiries@mail.nih.gov **Website:** http://iacc.hhs.gov

OFFICE OF NATIONAL AUTISM COORDINATION STAFF

Susan A. Daniels, Ph.D.

National Autism Coordinator, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Director, Office of National Autism Coordination, National Institute of Mental Health Executive Secretary, IACC

Oni Celestin, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst

Katrina Ferrara, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst

Steven Isaacson, L.M.S.W. Autism Policy Analyst

Tianlu Ma, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst **Rebecca Martin, M.P.H.*** Public Health Analyst

Angelice Mitrakas, B.A.* Management Analyst

Luis valdez-Lopez, M.P.H. Health Science Policy Analyst

Jeffrey Wiegand, B.S.* Web Development and Digital Outreach Manager

*Also a staff member of the Office of Autism Research Coordination (OARC), within the Office of National Autism Coordination (ONAC)





U.S. Department of Health and Human Services www.hhs.gov